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AACI REIT’s existing portfolio 
consists of 26 industrial properties, 
25 of which are located throughout 
Singapore with a total appraised 
value of S$1.16 billion as at  
31 March 2014. On 7 February 
2014, AACI REIT completed 
the acquisition of a 49.0 per 
cent interest in Optus Centre, 
New South Wales, Australia at 
a purchase consideration of 
A$184.425 million. The Australian 
property, Optus Centre, is 
located in Macquarie Park, one of 
Australia’s largest and newest high 
tech business park office precincts 
in metropolitan Sydney, which 
boasts excellent connectivity to 
Sydney central business district, 
North Sydney and Sydney’s 
international airport. As at 31 
March 2014, the Trust’s total asset 
under management is S$1.4 billion 
and is rated investment grade 
BBB- by Standard & Poor’s. 

The Trust is managed by 
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial 

REIT Management Limited  
(the “Manager”), a joint venture 
REIT management company 
owned 50.0 per cent each by AIMS 
Financial Group and AMP Capital.  
The Manager’s key investment 
objectives are to deliver secure 
and stable distributions and 
provide long-term capital growth 
to Unitholders.  

During the financial year  ended  
31 March 2014 (“FY2014”), 
the Trust made significant 
progress growing the portfolio 
and strengthening net property 
income, which rose 20.0 per cent 
year-on-year. The Trust reached a 
number of significant milestones 
during FY2014, which have lifted 
it to the next stage of growth. The 
Manager continued to work on its 
asset enhancement programme to 
rejuvenate the portfolio, embarked 
on two developments namely  
103 Defu Lane 10 and  
20 Gul Way Phases Two extension 
and Three, acquired the Trust’s 

www.aimsampcapital.com

first property in Australia, 
while continuing to maintain a 
disciplined approach towards 
capital management.

The Trust is backed by strong 
Sponsors in AIMS Financial 
Group and AMP Capital. AIMS 
Financial Group is a privately 
owned Australian, non-bank 
financial services and investment 
group, which has a solid track 
record in the Australian mortgage 
and securitisation markets. AMP 
Capital is one of Australia’s leading 
institutional property investors 
and part of the AMP Group which 
is one of Australia’s largest retail 
and corporate pension providers.  
AMP Capital is also one of 
the region’s most significant 
investment managers. The 
Manager is able to tap into 
the Sponsors’ capabilities and 
expertise in the areas of real estate 
funds management, corporate 
governance, debt structuring and 
development. 

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (“AACI REIT” or “Trust”) is a real estate 
investment trust which is listed on the mainboard of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited since April 2007. The principal 
investment objective of AACI REIT is to invest in a diversified portfolio of 
income-producing real estate located throughout the Asia-Pacific that is 
used for industrial purposes, including, but not limited to warehousing and 
distribution activities, business park activities and manufacturing activities. 
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Our Sponsors

About  
AIMS Financial Group

Established in 1991, AIMS Financial Group (“AIMS”) is a diversified financial services and 
investment group with a solid track record and enviable reputation in the mortgage lending, 
fund management and securitisation markets in Australia, active in the areas of lending, 
securitisation, investment banking, funds management, property investment and stock 
broking. AIMS also owns 100.0 per cent of Asia Pacific Stock Exchange which went live with 
its first listings on 6 March 2014.

Since 1999, AIMS has raised approximately A$4.0 billion in funds from the capital markets. 
Of this, AIMS has issued approximately A$3.0 billion residential mortgage-backed 
securities, with most of them rated AAA by both Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings,  
and has originated over A$5.0 billion of high quality prime home loans since 1997. 

AIMS has actively introduced a number of international investors into the Australian 
markets and to date has also attracted over A$1.0 billion of investments into Australia  
from overseas investors. 

AIMS also manages funds domestically and abroad as a part of its funds management 
business, which amount to over A$1.5 billion as at March 2014. 

AIMS' head office is in Sydney, Australia, and it has businesses across Australia,  
China, Hong Kong and Singapore. Its highly qualified, professional and experienced  
cross-cultural teams enable AIMS to bridge the gap between Australia and China across 
various sectors.

www.aims.com.au

27 Penjuru Lane
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About  
AMP Capital

AMP Capital is a leading investment house with over A$142.0 billion as at 31 March 2014 
in funds under management. Ranked as the largest real estate investment manager in Asia 
according to Towers Watson Global Alternatives Survey 2013 and INREV/ANREV Manager 
Survey 2013, AMP Capital has over A$17.4 billion as at 31 March 2014 in global direct and 
listed real estate funds under management, and over 50 years’ of investment experience. 

AMP Capital’s team of specialists operate across direct and listed real estate and 
infrastructure, fixed income, equities and diversified funds. AMP Capital is proud to support 
the AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT with specialist expertise across industrial development, 
industrial asset management and debt management. The team also has access to AMP 
Capital’s structuring and operating professionals with legal, tax, fund accounting and investor  
relations capabilities.

AMP Capital has established operations in Australia, Bahrain, China, Hong Kong, 
India, Japan, Luxembourg, New Zealand, the United Kingdom and the United States.  
AMP Capital’s ongoing commitment to the Asian region is exemplified through their strategic 
partnerships in the region.  In 2012, AMP Capital entered a strategic business and capital 
alliance with Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation, a leading Japanese trust bank 
which provides services to institutions and retail clients, across retail and corporate banking, 
trust assets, real estate and global markets. In November 2013, AMP Capital formed a 
joint venture with China Life Insurance (Group) Company to create China Life AMP Asset 
Management Company Limited, which will offer retail and institutional investors in China 
access to investment solutions. 

AMP Capital’s on-the-ground resources and extensive network of carefully selected regional 
investment partners means AMP Capital can source competitive investment opportunities 
catering to the varied needs of its clients.

www.ampcapital.com

Our Sponsors

1A International Business Park
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Financial Highlights
(S$’million unless otherwise stated)

For the Financial Year ended 31 March    2014 2013 2012

Gross revenue     108.2 92.1 84.0
Net property income    71.9 59.9 59.1
Distribution to Unitholders    57.2 48.1 46.3
Distribution per Unit (“DPU”) (cents)1,2     10.53 10.72 10.45

1   DPU for FY2014 was lower compared to FY2013 mainly due to the increase in Units arising from the private placement of 68,750,000 Units in May 
2013 and the recent issuance of 92,512,712 Units pursuant to a rights issue in March 2014.  Excluding the effects from the recent rights issue,  
DPU for FY2014 would be approximately 10.97 cents. DPU for FY2013 included a distribution amount of 0.30 cents from the capital gain arising 
from the divestment of 31 Admiralty Road.

2  For FY2012, the number of Units used to compute DPU was adjusted for the effect of the Unit Consolidation which took place on 3 October 2011, 
for every five existing Units into one consolidated Unit.

3  For FY2013, the total Units in issue included 671,102 Units issued to the Manager on 27 May 2013 for the payment of performance fees for FY2013 
and 820,125 Units to be issued to the Manager for the payment of the base fee element of the management fees incurred for the period from  
1 January 2013 and 31 March 2013. For FY2012, the total Units in issue included 1,685,917 Units issued to the Manager on 25 May 2012 for the 
payment of the performance fees.

4   EPU have been restated for the effect of the underwritten and renounceable 7-for-40 rights issue that was completed on 20 March 2014 with 
92,512,712 Units issued.

5   Aggregate leverage ratio is computed as total borrowings as a percentage of total assets.
6   Bank covenant: minimum of 2.5 times.
7  Expenses to weighted average net asset value (excludes performance-related fee): The expenses refers to the expenses of the Group excluding 

property-related expenses, borrowing costs, change in fair value of financial derivatives and investment properties and foreign exchange  
gains/(losses). There was no performance fee in FY2014. 

Balance Sheet as at 31 March    2014 2013 2012

Total assets      1,405.2 1,056.2 939.0
Total liabilities      493.3 390.9 312.8
Total borrowings     445.7 359.3 281.8
Unitholders’ funds     911.9 665.3 626.2
Total Units in issue (million)3    621.2 450.9 445.5

Key financial ratios as at 31 March     2014 2013 2012

Earnings per Unit (“EPU”)(cents) (adjusted for rights issue)4  15.60 17.17 16.53
Net Asset Value per Unit (“NAV”) (S$)    1.468 1.476 1.406
Aggregate leverage ratio (%)5    31.7 34.0 30.0
Interest cover ratio (times)6    5.2 4.9 6.2
Expense ratio (%)7     0.97 0.95 0.98
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Notes:   
1   Based on closing price of S$1.34 on 31 March 2014 and DPU of 10.53 cents for FY2014.  
2   Source: Bloomberg data as at March 2014.  
3   Prevailing CPF Ordinary Account interest rate.  

Net property income 
(S$’million)

Gross revenue 
(S$'million)

Total assets 
(S$’million)

Distribution to Unitholders 
(S$’million)

Financial Highlights

AACI REIT  
FY2014 Yield1

S’pore Government  
10-year bond2

CPF Ordinary 
Account3

Bank 12 months 
fixed deposits2

Yield per annum  
(%)

7.86

2.47 2.50

0.56

28.8%

21.7%

23.5%
49.6%

FY2013 FY2014FY2012 FY2013 FY2014FY2012

59.9

71.9

59.1
84.0

92.1

108.2

FY2013 FY2014FY2012 FY2013 FY2014FY2012

46.3
48.1

57.2

1,056.2
1,405.2

939.0
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Nurturing  
Organic Growth
Our strategy of enhancing our existing 
properties complements our prudent 
capital management approach, aimed at 
optimising our portfolio’s potential to drive 
solid returns and create Unitholder value.

20 Gul Way
20 Gul Way Phase Two extension has obtained temporary occupation 
permit on 14 June 2014 while the development of Phase Three is 
progressing well. Upon completion, the property will be transformed  
to the largest ramp up warehouse in the Trust, valued at S$306.4 million. 
The total gross floor area will be approximately 1.7 million sq ft, 
100.0 per cent leased to CWT Limited.

“Organic 
portfolio growth 
delivers strong 
returns”



Trading Performance

         31 March 31 March 31 March
Trading performance    2014 2013 2012

Closing price (S$)     1.340  1.575  1.125
Highest price during financial year (S$)    1.870  1.595  1.130
Lowest price during financial year (S$)    1.310  1.100  0.930
Total volume traded (‘million Units)     206.1   132.2  109.2
Average daily volume traded (Units)     814,617   530,996  436,893
Market capitalisation (S$’million)1     832.4   707.8  499.3

Source: Bloomberg

AACI REIT’s total returns      %

Since listing on 19 April 2007 to 31 March 2014     3.46
From 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 (one-year)     (5.53)
From 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2014 (three-year)     19.55

 
The total returns are calculated on the following assumptions:
(a) The investor has fully subscribed for his rights entitlements.
(b) The distributions are assumed gross, before deducting any withholding tax which may be applicable.
(c) The distributions are assumed to be reinvested into the Trust 

i. At the closing price on the ex-distribution date;
ii. On the day the distributions were paid out.

1  Based on closing price per Unit of S$1.340 on 31 March 2014, S$1.575 on 31 March 2013 and S$1.125 on 31 March 2012.

AIM
S AM

P C
APITAL IN

DU
STRIAL REIT

Annual Report 2014
7



Significant Events during Financial Year 2014

4Q FY2013 & FY2013  
Financial Results
Announced financial results for 
the financial year ended 31 March 
2013 achieving 16.3 per cent 
year-on-year (“y-o-y”) rise in 4Q 
Distribution Per Unit (“DPU”) to 
3.14 cents per Unit. The 4Q DPU 
brought the total FY2013 DPU  
to 10.72 cents, representing  
a 2.6 per cent y-o-y increase.

Approval in-principle to  
rezone the plot ratio at  
20 Gul Way, Singapore
Announced that the Urban 
Redevelopment Authority  
of Singapore had approved  
in-principle the Manager’s 
application to rezone the plot  
ratio at 20 Gul Way, Singapore 
from the existing 1.4 to 2.0.

16 April 
2013

17 April 
2013

Private placement of 
new Units
Launched a private 
placement on 17 April 
2013 and raised gross 
proceeds of S$110.0 
million. The issue size 
was increased to S$110.0 
million from S$100.0 
million as it was 3.5 times 
subscribed. The new 
Units were fixed at an 
issue price of S$1.60 per 
new Unit and 68,750,000 
new Units were issued on 
2 May 2013.

7 MAy 
2013

Temporary occupation 
permit for Phase Two  
of 20 Gul Way
Announced that Phase Two 
of development at 20 Gul 
Way, Singapore had achieved 
temporary occupation permit 
on 7 May 2013.

14 MAy 
2013

Investment Grade 
Rating BBB- by 
Standard & Poor’s
Standard & Poor’s 
reaffirmed AACI 
REIT’s investment 
grade credit rating 
of BBB-.

16.3% y-o-y
4Q FY2014 DPU
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AACI REIT ranked in top percentile by APREA 
Corporate Governance Index
In recognition of the Trust’s high corporate 
governance standards, AACI REIT had been 
ranked in the top quartile of APREA’s corporate 
governance index for the second year.

6 June 
2013

1Q FY2014 Financial Results
Announced financial results for 
the first quarter ended 30 June 
2013 achieving a 12.0 per cent 
y-o-y increase in distribution to 
Unitholders to S$12.5 million. 
The Manager declared a DPU 
for the quarter of 2.50 cents.

25 July 
2013

Commenced development of 
Phase 2E and Phase Three of  
20 Gul Way, Singapore
Announced the commencement 
of development of Phase 2E 
and Phase Three of 20 Gul 
Way, Singapore, following the 
satisfaction of all conditions 
precedent under the development 
agreement with CWT Limited 
dated 6 June 2013. 

Appointment of new  
Chief Executive Officer
Announced the appointment  
of Mr Koh Wee Lih as Chief 
Executive Officer, effective  
1 January 2014 and cessation  
of Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath  
as Chief Executive Officer, 
effective 31 December 2013.   
Mr McGrath remains on the  
Board as a Non-Executive 
Director.

5 Sept 
2013

12.0% y-o-y
Distribution to 
Unitholders in  

1Q FY2014

20 June 
2013

Further development 
at 20 Gul Way, 
Singapore
Announced that the 
Manager had entered 
into a conditional 
development 
agreement with 
CWT Limited, which 
would see further 
development at 20 Gul 
Way, Singapore of an 
additional 496,944  
sq ft via a Phase Two 
extension (“2E”) and  
Phase Three.

Significant Events during Financial Year 2014
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Significant Events during Financial Year 2014

Proposed acquisition of a 49.0% interest  
in Optus Centre, New South Wales, Australia
Announced the proposed acquisition of 49.0 
per cent indirect interest in Optus Centre, 
New South Wales (“NSW”), Australia for 
the aggregate purchase consideration of 
A$184,425,000 from Stockland Capital Partners 
Limited, in its capacity as responsible entity of 
Stockland Direct Office Trust No. 2.  

25 nOv 
2013 

Poll results of the Extraordinary  
General Meeting 
Announced that the resolution 
for the proposed acquisition of 
Optus Centre, NSW, Australia put 
to Unitholders at the extraordinary 
general meeting held on 16 January 
2014 was duly passed.     
  
Appointment of  
Chairman of the Board
Announced the cessation  
of Mr Andrew Bird as  
Non-Executive, Non-Independent 
Chairman and the appointment of 
Mr George Wang as Non-Executive, 
Non-Independent Chairman.

16 JAn 
2014 

Recognised as one 
of Singapore’s most 
transparent companies
AACI REIT was named 
runner-up in the SIAS 
Most Transparent 
Company Award 2013, 
REITs and Business 
Trusts Category at the 
SIAS 14th Investors’ 
Choice Award.

11 nOv 
2013 

2Q FY2014 Financial Results 
Announced financial results for the 
second quarter ended 30 September 
2013 achieving a significant 29.2 per 
cent y-o-y increase in distribution 
to Unitholders of S$14.5 million for 
the quarter. The Manager delivered a 
DPU of 2.75 cents, up 10.0 per cent 
from the previous quarter. 

23 Oct 
2013
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Completion of 
acquisition of Optus 
Centre, NSW, Australia
This acquisition is the 
Trust’s first acquisition 
in Australia which is 
accretive to the Trust.

7 Feb 
2014 

Proposed rights issue 
to raise gross proceeds 
of approximately 
S$100.0 million
Announced a 7-for-
40 underwritten and 
renounceable rights 
issuance which was 
opened to all eligible 
Unitholders of the 
Trust. The rights issue 
was aimed to raise 
gross proceeds of 
approximately  
S$100.0 million.

14 Feb 
2014 

Final results of  
the rights issue
Announced that 
there were a total of 
260,224,984 valid and 
excess rights Units 
applications received as 
at the close of business 
on 13 March 2014. 
These applications 
represented 281.3 
per cent of the total 
number of 92,512,712 
new units available 
under the underwritten 
renounceable rights 
issue. The rights Units 
were listed and quoted 
on the Main Board  
of the SGX-ST on  
21 March 2014.

17 MAr 
2014

3Q FY2014 Financial Results 
Announced financial results for the third quarter ended 
31 December 2013 achieving a 26.3 per cent y-o-y 
increase in distribution to Unitholders of S$14.6 million. 
The Manager declared a DPU of 2.77 cents per Unit, an 
increase of 7.4 per cent compared to the same period 
last year.  

29 JAn 
2014
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Redeveloping 103 Defu Lane 10
The redevelopment of 103 Defu Lane 10 involves converting a two-storey 
warehouse with three-storey office building into a six-storey light industrial 
facility with sheltered carpark. The redevelopment doubles the gross floor 
area from 97,367 sq ft to 202,901 sq ft, with the increase in built plot ratio 
from 1.2 to 2.5.

“unlocking 
asset value 
to strengthen 
the portfolio”

S$12.0 
million

Asset value  
pre-redevelopment

S$43.1 
million

Asset value after completion  
of redevelopment

Fortifying  
Our Assets

Congruent to our investment 
mandate, the Trust focuses 
on asset enhancement 
initiatives to strengthen our 
portfolio and optimise our 
assets’ yield potential.

Before development

After development



Chairman’s Message

George Wang  Chairman

“the trust enjoyed extensive support and insight from 
sponsors as it made its first foray into the Australian real 
estate market acquiring 49.0% of Optus centre”
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Letter to Unitholders from Chairman and CEO

“Our strategy of unlocking 
value within the trust’s 
portfolio delivered solid 
results in Fy2014, with net 
property income up 20.0% 
year-on-year.”

George Wang  Chairman Koh Wee Lih  CEO
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Dear Unitholders,

Our strategy of unlocking value 
within the Trust’s portfolio delivered 
solid results in the financial year 
ended 31 March 2014 (“FY2014”), 
with net property income (“NPI”) 
up 20.0 per cent year-on-year.  
During the year, the Trust made 
significant progress in successfully 
delivering its redevelopment 
projects, growing assets under 
management, increasing its 
distributions to Unitholders 
and expanding its footprint into 
Australia.  

In FY2014, the Trust made its 
maiden landmark acquisition 
of a premium business park, 
Optus Centre, in New South 
Wales, Australia.  Optus Centre 
is 100.0 per cent leased to Optus 
Administration Pty Limited (a wholly 
owned subsidiary of SingTel) for a 
weighted average lease term of  
8.11 years, with fixed annual 
escalation of three per cent. This 
accretive acquisition provides 
long-term cash flow certainty, 
strengthens the asset base and 
diversifies the Trust’s portfolio with 
the addition of a premium business 
park office campus leased to a 
blue-chip tenant.  To make this 
complex off-shore acquisition a 
reality, we leveraged on the on-

the-ground real estate expertise of 
its two Australian Sponsors, AIMS 
Financial Group and AMP Capital.  

Whilst steadily growing the Trust’s 
portfolio, we continue to maintain a 
prudent and disciplined approach 
in managing the Trust’s operations 
and its capital structure. We 
conducted two equity issuances 
in FY2014 to further strengthen 
the Trust’s balance sheet, and 
position the Trust for its next stage 
of growth.    

The Manager’s pursuit of good 
governance was recognised in 
FY2014 with two awards. Asia 
Pacific Real Estate Association 
(“APREA”) in Singapore ranked 
the Trust in the top quartile for the 
Singapore corporate governance 
index and the Trust was also 
runner-up for the SIAS Investors’ 
Choice Most Transparent 
Company Award.  

Performance highlights

Total assets of the Trust grew 33.0 
per cent, up from S$1.06 billion 
a year ago to S$1.41 billion as at  
31 March 2014.  Over the same 
period, NPI and distributions to 
Unitholders increased 20.0 per 
cent and 19.0 per cent respectively 
as the Trust received additional 

contributions from 20 Gul Way, 
higher portfolio occupancy and 
positive rental reversions on lease 
renewals.  

Comparing FY2014 distribution 
per unit (“DPU”) year-on-year of 
10.53 cents, the DPU of 10.72 
cents from the previous year was 
boosted by a one-off 0.30 cents 
from capital gains on an asset sale. 
In addition, the private placement 
in May 2013 and the rights issue 
in March 2014 enlarged the Trust’s 
Units in issue. As such, excluding 
the effects from the recent rights 
issue, DPU for FY2014 would be 
approximately 10.97 cents.

The Trust’s portfolio value grew 
from S$1.04 billion at 31 March 
2013 to S$1.37 billion2 at 31 March 
2014, following the acquisition 
of Optus Centre on 7 February 
2014 and valuation uplift which 
was largely due to positive rental 
reversions achieved for the 
properties. 

Asset management and asset 
enhancement initiatives 

Our focus on active asset 
management and asset 
enhancement initiatives (“AEIs”, 
each an “AEI”) continued to drive 
strong performance for the Trust. 

1   As at 31 March 2014.
2  Based on valuation by Colliers International Consultancy & Valuation (Singapore) Pte Ltd  and Knight Frank Pte Ltd dated 31 March 2014 and  

49.0 per cent interest in the property, Optus Centre, New South Wales, Australia appraised by Savills Valuations Pty Ltd.
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The redevelopments of 20 Gul 
Way in July 2011 followed by 103 
Defu Lane 10 in January 2013 
have not only helped transform 
the Trust, but also differentiated us 
from our peers. In fact, the 20 Gul 
Way redevelopment project was 
so successful that we decided to 
embark on further developments 
on the same site, which we refer to 
as Phase Two extension (“2E”) and 
Phase Three. Once completed, 
Phases 2E and Three would add 
S$89.4 million3, resulting in a 
total value of S$306.4 million.  
20 Gul Way is currently the largest 
asset in the Trust’s portfolio. 
Net yield on cost of this further 
development is estimated at 
8.3 per cent, delivering superior 
returns to Unitholders.

The Trust’s second redevelopment 
at 103 Defu Lane 10 achieved 
temporary occupation permit 
on 28 May 2014 with income 
contribution expected in the 
September 2014 quarter. The 
S$25.4 million redevelopment 
more than doubles the gross floor 
area from 97,367 sq ft to 202,9014  
sq ft by increasing the built plot 
ratio from 1.2 to 2.5. Through 
this AEI, the Trust successfully 
increased the valuation of the 
asset to S$43.1 million5 from 
S$12.0 million previously.  

In addition to these 
redevelopments, the Trust also 
carried out numerous smaller AEIs 
across the Trust’s older assets 
during the past two years to 
rejuvenate the assets and assist 
in our tenant retention strategy.  
Moving forward, the Manager will 
continue to identify suitable asset 
enhancement opportunities within 
the Trust’s portfolio to create 
organic growth opportunities and 
drive higher returns for Unitholders.  
At the moment, there is more than 
800,000 sq ft of unutilised gross 
floor area across the Trust’s various 
properties. 

Prudent capital and  
risk management

On the capital management 
front, we continued to adopt a 
prudent and disciplined approach 
in managing the Trust’s capital 
structure to ensure a strong 
balance sheet to withstand 
market volatilities and act on 
investment opportunities. The 
Trust has successfully maintained 
its gearing ratio at an average 
of 30.0 per cent for the past 18 
consecutive quarters while more 
than doubling the asset under 
management during the same 
period.  Furthermore, in order to 
mitigate the interest rate risk and 

provide stability in distribution, 
the Trust has entered in hedging 
transaction to swap its interest 
rate exposure into fixed rate. 72.1 
per cent of the Trust’s borrowings 
are on fixed interest rates taking 
into account the interest rate 
swaps entered into and fixed rates 
medium term notes issued.

In April 2014, Standard & Poor’s 
(“S&P”) reaffirmed the Trust’s 
investment grade credit rating 
of BBB-. This credit assessment 
reflects the Manager’s proven 
performance in growing the Trust’s 
portfolio while prudently managing 
its capital structure. In S&P’s rating 
report on the Trust dated 22 April 
2014, it regarded the Trust “as 
one of the strongest trusts among 
Singapore-based industrial REITs” 
that it rates.

The strong interest and demand 
for the Trust’s notes enabled the 
Manager to tap its Medium Term 
Note programme which resulted 
in an issuance of S$50.0 million 
unsecured fixed rate notes in May 
2014. This was the third time the 
Manager has tapped the market 
since 2012. The Trust’s growing 
strength enabled the issuance to 
be attractively priced at 3.80 per 
cent per annum. Net proceeds 
from the issue was used to repay 

3  Based on valuation by Colliers International Consultancy & Valuation (Singapore) Pte Ltd  dated 31 March 2014 on an “as-if-complete” basis.
4  Subject to final survey.
5   Based on valuation by Knight Frank Pte Ltd dated 31 March 2014.
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the S$50.0 million redevelopment 
loan for 20 Gul Way ahead of its 
maturity date in October 2015.  
It also enabled the Trust to extend 
a portion of the debt for a further 
five years. This issuance will further 
improve the Trust’s debt maturity 
profile and extends its debt tenor 
from 3.16  years to 3.57 years giving 
the Trust greater balance sheet 
strength and financial flexibility. 

The active management of our 
debt profile also means the Trust 
has now six different debt maturity 
dates with only S$61.2 million due 
for refinancing in October 2015.

Looking ahead

In 2013, the Singapore economy 
expanded by 4.18 per cent, higher 
than 1.9 per cent growth in 2012. 
However, uncertainties in the  
global macroeconomic environment 
remain. In the United States, there 
are uncertainties over the pace at 
which the Federal Reserve will exit 
from its accommodative monetary 
policy. In China, there are risks 
of a sharper than expected 
slowdown given on-going policy 
adjustments to restructure 
the economy. In Singapore, 
businesses are adjusting to the 
tightening of labour supply which 
may weigh on growth in some 
labour-intensive sectors. Against 
this backdrop, the Singapore 
economy is expected to grow at 
a modest pace of between two to 
four per cent in 2014 according to 
forecast by the Ministry of Trade 
and Industry. With a disciplined 
approach in our investment and 
capital management, we remain 
cautiously optimistic to maintain 
a stable performance for the  
coming year.    

Following our landmark acquisition 
in Australia, we will continue to 
focus on growing our portfolio 
and strengthening the Trust’s 
market position in Singapore 
by implementing the following 
strategies in the financial year 
ending 31 March 2015:

• Successful delivery of Phases 
2E and Three of 20 Gul Way.

• Successful execution of the AEI 
at 26 Tuas Ave 7.

• Identifying and executing AEI 
opportunities in Singapore, 
including redevelopment 
projects for properties located 
in Singapore. 

• Evaluation of accretive 
development projects in 
Singapore.

• Evaluation of yield accretive 
investment opportunities in 
Singapore.

The Manager will also continue 
to prudently manage the lease 
expiry profile and use this as an 
opportunity to achieve positive 
rental reversions while maintaining 
high occupancy. 

Last but not least, the Manager 
intends to continue to manage the 
Trust with a view to maintaining an 
appropriately conservative capital 
structure throughout the property 
cycle to maintain a stable and 
growing DPU.

In appreciation

In December 2013, Nicholas Paul 
McGrath stepped down as Chief 
Executive Officer of the Manager 
as he returned to Australia, 
while continuing to serve as a  
non-executive director of the 
Manager. In the following month 
Andrew Bird stepped down as 

Chairman of the Board which 
rotates between the Trust’s two 
Sponsors, AIMS Financial Group 
and AMP Capital every two years. 
We would therefore like to take  
this opportunity to thank both 
Andrew and Nicholas for their 
invaluable contributions and  
valued leadership to the 
Trust and we are confident 
that Nicholas’ continued 
involvement as a Board member 
would contribute positively to  
the Trust. 

We would also like to extend our 
gratitude to our fellow directors 
and to the management team for 
their support and dedication over 
the past 12 months. We would also 
like to thank our tenants, business 
partners and service providers for 
their continued support and valued 
contribution to the Trust.  

Most importantly, we would like 
to thank you, our Unitholders, for 
your unwavering support and trust 
in our strategy as we continue to 
deliver long term value to you. 
We look forward to your ongoing 
support and another rewarding 
year ahead. 

Yours faithfully,

     
George Wang
Chairman 

Koh Wee Lih
Chief Executive Officer

6 As at 31 March 2014.
7   On a pro forma basis as at 31 March 2014.
8  According to Ministry of Trade and Industry press release on 20 February 2014.
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The Manager remains focused on adding 
value to the Trust’s portfolio through accretive 
developments, active asset management,  
and strategic acquisitions.

Investing for the 
Long Term

8 & 10 Pandan Crescent
The fourth largest asset in the Trust valued at S$148.5 million is a multi-tenanted warehouse facility which is currently 
100.0 per cent occupied. The property enjoys full occupancy as the Manager embarked on several upgrading 
programme as part of tenant retention strategy. The property underwent repainting, upgrading of toilet facilities and 
upgrading of cargo lifts. 

“Growing the trust’s 
portfolio is growing 
investor returns for  
the long term” 

After upgrading

Before upgrading



CEO’s Message

Koh Wee Lih  CEO

“As the new incoming ceO, it was important to ensure 
a seamless leadership transition for all our stakeholders 
– unitholders, Sponsors, and tenants. it was another 
significant year for the Trust, and the management team 
delivered a number of key milestones and built good 
momentum for the Trust in the new financial year.”
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Structure of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT

The Trust

1  AIMS Financial Holding Limited and AMP Capital Investors International Holdings Limited are indirectly owned by the two strategic Sponsors,  
AIMS Financial Group and AMP Capital respectively.

2  AIMS  Capital Management Limited and AMP Capital Investors Limited are indirectly owned by the two strategic Sponsors, AIMS Financial Group 
and AMP Capital respectively.  

AIMS AMP Capital
Industrial REIT

Unitholders

The Manager
AIMS AMP Capital 

Industrial REIT 
Management Limited

Shareholders
AIMS Financial 
Holding Limited 

(50.0%)1 

AMP Capital 
Investors International 

Holdings Limited 
(50.0%)1

The Trustee
HSBC Institutional 

Trust Services 
(Singapore) Limited

Management 
and other fees

Management and 
other services

Holding of Units Distributions

Acts on behalf  
of Unitholders

Trustee’s 
fees

The Investment 
Manager

AIMS AMP 
Capital 

Industrial REIT 
Management
Australia Pty 

Limited

Shareholders
AIMS Capital 
Management 

Limited 
(50.0%)2

AMP Capital 
Investors Limited 

(50.0%)2

The Property 
Manager

AIMS AMP  
Capital 

Property 
Management 

Pte. Ltd.

Shareholders
AIMS Financial 
Holding Limited 

(50.0%)1

AMP Capital 
Investors 

International 
Holdings Limited 

(50.0%)1

Australia
Property

Singapore
Properties

Ownership
of assets

Net property
income

Management 
and other fees

Investment 
services

Ownership
of assets

Property management 
and other services

Property management 
and other fees

 Ownership 
of Units

Distributions

Holding  
Trusts
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Board of Directors of the Manager

Left to right: George Wang, Tan Kai Seng,  
Norman Ip Ka Cheung, Eugene Paul Lai Chin Look,   
Simon Laurence Vinson, Nicholas Paul McGrath, 
Moni XinYe An, Koh Wee Lih.
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Board of Directors of the Manager

George Wang 
Non-Executive,  
Non-Independent Chairman

Mr Wang was appointed as a 
Director on 7 August 2009 and 
was re-appointed as the Chairman 
of the Manager on 16 January 
2014. He was previously the 
Chairman from 7 August 2009 to 
19 April 2012 and returns to the 
role following rotation between the 
Manager’s joint venture partners, 
AIMS Financial Group and  
AMP Capital. 

Mr Wang is the founding Executive 
Chairman of AIMS Financial Group 
and an active participant in both the 
Australian and Chinese financial 
services industries. Established in 
1991, AIMS Financial Group is a 
diversified financial services and 
investment group, active in the 
areas of lending, securitisation, 
investment banking, funds 
management, property investment, 
stock exchange ownership and 
stock broking. Mr Wang is also the 
Deputy Chairman of Asia Pacific  
Stock Exchange.
 
Mr Wang is the President of the 
AustChina Finance & Investment 
Council. As the President of 
AustChina Finance & Investment 
Council, Mr Wang has been laying 
the foundation for the financial 
bridge between Australia and 
China for many years, closely 
following the development of  
the Chinese financial sector,  
at the same time building a 
professional team.

Tan Kai Seng
Lead Independent,  
Non-Executive Director  
and Chairman of the Audit,  
Risk and Compliance Committee

Mr Tan was appointed as a 
Director on 1 December 2006 and 
the Chairman of the Audit, Risk 
and Compliance Committee on  
19 February 2010. 

Mr Tan holds a Bachelor of 
Accountancy from the National 
University of Singapore. He is 
a member of the Institute of 
Singapore Chartered Accountants 
and a Fellow of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants, 
United Kingdom. Mr Tan started 
his career at Price Waterhouse 
Singapore and was Finance 
Director of Parkway Holdings 
Limited from 1988 until his 
retirement in 2005.  

Mr Tan has been an Independent 
Non-Executive Director of IGB 
Corporations Berhad, listed on 
Bursa Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, 
since 2003. In addition, he holds 
several other directorships in 
companies in the fields of building 
construction, investment holdings 
and water management.

Norman Ip Ka Cheung
Independent, Non-Executive 
Director and Member of the 
Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee

Mr Ip was appointed as a Director 
on 31 March 2010.

Mr Ip is a Chartered Accountant 
by training and has over 32 
years of experience in auditing, 
accounting, treasury, investments 
and taxation.  From 2000 to 2009,  
he held the position of the 
President and Group Chief 
Executive Officer of The Straits 
Trading Company Limited (“STC”), 
the main activities of which are in 
real estate, mining and hospitality. 
Prior to joining STC in 1983, he 
was with Ernst & Whinney (now 
known as Ernst & Young LLP).

Mr Ip is currently the Chairman 
of the Great Eastern Holdings 
Group and its principal insurance 
subsidiaries in Singapore. He 
serves as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of United 
Engineers Limited and its 
subsidiary, UE E&C Ltd. He is 
also a member of the Building and 
Construction Authority.

Mr Ip holds a Bachelor of Science 
(Economics) from the London 
School of Economics and Political 
Science. He is a Fellow of both the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales and the 
Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants.
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Eugene Paul Lai Chin Look 
Independent,  
Non-Executive Director

Mr Lai was appointed as a Director 
on 26 February 2010.
 
Mr Lai began his career as an 
attorney in New York and in 
Singapore and has a wealth of 
experience of over 26 years in 
law, investment banking, real 
estate and private equity. He is 
currently a Managing Director and  
Co-Managing Partner of  Southern 
Capital Group and was previously 
a Managing Director and Senior 
Country Officer at JP Morgan, 
Malaysia as well as the Managing 
Director and Chief Executive 
Officer of The Ascott Group 
Limited. He also held the position 
of Managing Director at The Carlyle 
Group Asia and Managing Director 
at Citigroup, Singapore.
 
Mr Lai currently holds directorships 
in several other companies and 
statutory boards, such as the 
National Council Against Drug 
Abuse, Singapore Anti-Narcotics 
Association, Design Singapore 
Council and the Securities Industry 
Council. He holds a LL.B from The 
London School of Economics 
and Political Science, where 
he graduated with First Class 
Honors, and a LL.M from Harvard  
Law School.
 

Simon Laurence Vinson
Non-Executive, Non-Independent 
Director and Member of the
Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee

Mr Vinson was appointed as a 
Director on 24 December 2009. 

As the Head of Asian Property of 
AMP Capital since 2006, Mr Vinson 
is responsible for establishing and 
growing AMP Capital’s property 
investment capability in Asia and 
all aspects of property investment, 
research, acquisitions, disposals 
and portfolio management in the 
region. Mr Vinson sits on AMP 
Capital’s Property Leadership team 
and is also a member of several 
Property Investment Committees.

Mr Vinson started his career in the 
AMP Group by preceding the role of 
Head of Asian Property as the Head 
of AMP Capital Property Group’s 
business development team for a 
substantial period where he was 
involved in the launch of several 
key property funds, including an 
unlisted Shopping Centre Fund, 
an unlisted Office Fund, and the 
Global Direct Property Fund.  
Mr Vinson then held the position 
of Managing Director, AMP 
Capital Singapore from 2006 to 
2009 where he spearheaded the 
establishment of AMP Capital’s 
Asian hub office in Singapore 
before being appointed as the 
Head of New Business Initiatives 
in 2009 where he led a team which 
was responsible for sourcing  
and developing new business 
and product opportunities 

for AMP Capital’s Property 
business. Most recently in 2012,  
Mr Vinson became responsible for  
overseeing AMP Capital Property’s 
opportunity fund business  
which consists of a suite of Select 
Property Funds. 

Mr Vinson has been with the 
AMP Group since 1982 and has 
over 30 years of experience in 
property development on retail 
and commercial projects, as well 
as property acquisitions and 
disposals. Mr Vinson holds a 
Bachelor of Commerce (Finance 
and Systems) from University 
of New South Wales and an 
Associate Diploma in Property 
Valuation from New South Wales 
Institute of Technology.
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Board of Directors of the Manager

Nicholas Paul McGrath
Non-Executive,  
Non-Independent Director

Mr McGrath held the position 
of Chief Executive Officer of the 
Manager on 12 January 2009 until 
31 December 2013. He remains 
on the Board of the Manager in 
the capacity of a Non-Executive 
and Non-Independent Director. 
Mr McGrath is currently the 
fund manager of AMP Capital’s 
Wholesale Office Fund, an  
A$3.1 billion prime commercial 
office fund with assets located in 
Sydney, Melbourne and Perth. 

Prior to joining AMP Capital and 
the Manager, Mr McGrath was the 
Chief Executive Officer of Allco 
Commercial REIT (now known 
as Frasers Commercial Trust) 
and Managing Director of Allco 
(Singapore) Limited. Mr McGrath 
moved to Singapore in 2005 to 
establish Allco’s real estate funds 
management business and was 
responsible for growing assets 
under management in excess 
of S$2.0 billion. Prior to that, he 
spent over five years with Allco 
Finance Group in Australia in a 
range of senior executive roles in 
its property funds management 
and structured finance divisions. 
Mr McGrath has over 14 years 
of experience in real estate 
investment and fund management. 

Mr McGrath was a lawyer at a 
leading Australian law firm, Blake 
Dawson (now known as Ashurst) 
before joining Allco Finance 
Group. He holds a LL.B and a 
Bachelor of Business from the 
University of Technology, Sydney 
and a Graduate Diploma of 
Applied Finance & Investment from 
Securities Institute of Australia. 

Moni XinYe An
Non-Executive,  
Non-Independent Director

Ms An was appointed as a Director 
on 4 July 2013.

Ms An is currently responsible 
for AIMS Financial Group’s 
investor relationships for funds 
management and structured 
program developments in the 
Asia Pacific region as its Treasurer 
and Head of Investor Relations. 
She also oversees the existing 
securitisation programmes, treasury 
functions and fixed income 
investments for AIMS Financial 
Group and is Company Secretary 
of AIMS Financial Group Funds 
Management business (“AIMS 
Funds”). Ms An was instrumental 
in the establishment of the AIMS 
Financial Group’s Securitisation 
program and various debt and 
equity raising activities for  
AIMS Funds.

Ms An has over 13 years of 
experience and extensive 
knowledge in the areas of 
structured products, funds 
management, treasury, mergers 
and acquisitions and stock 
exchange operations in Australia. 
Ms An had also spent over  
four years with Asia Pacific 
Stock Exchange assisting in 
the restructuring of the Asia 
Pacific Stock Exchange as well 
as providing support to the 
compliance department. 

Ms An holds a Master of Applied 
Finance from Macquarie University 
and a Bachelor of Economics from 
the University of New South Wales.

Koh Wee Lih
Executive Director and  
Chief Executive Officer

Mr Koh joined the Manager 
in December 2008 and was 
appointed the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Manager on  
1 January 2014.  Prior to this 
appointment, Mr Koh was the 
Head of Real Estate for the 
Manager since October 2011  
and its Senior Investment Manager 
before that. 

As the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Manager, Mr Koh is responsible for 
the overall planning, management 
and operation of the Trust. He 
works closely with the Board of 
Directors to determine business 
strategies for the strategic 
development of the Trust. 

Mr Koh has over 18 years 
of experience in investment, 
corporate finance and asset 
management, of which more 
than 10 years are in direct real 
estate, covering investments, 
developments, asset management 
and real estate private equity in the 
Asia Pacific region. 

Mr Koh holds a Master of 
Business Administration, a Master  
of Science in Industrial and 
Operations Engineering and a 
Bachelor of Science (Summa Cum 
Laude) in Aerospace Engineering 
from the University of Michigan.
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Senior Management Team

Koh Wee Lih 
Chief Executive Officer 

Mr Koh Wee Lih is also an 
Executive Director of the Manager. 
Please refer to his profile under the 
Board of Directors.

Regina Yap 
Head of Finance and Company 
Secretary of the Manager

Ms Yap joined the Manager as 
Head of Finance and Company 
Secretary in September 2011.  
She is responsible for the financial 
performance of the Trust and 
Manager, financial accounting 
and reporting, treasury and capital 
management, compliance as well 
as corporate secretarial matters.

Ms Yap began her career as 
a Tax consultant with Price 
Waterhouse (now known as 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP) 
in Singapore. Prior to joining 
the Manager, Ms Yap was the 
Vice President, Finance (South 
East Asia & Australia) with The 
Ascott Limited, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of CapitaLand Limited. 
She spent almost 14 years in 
various senior finance roles 
in CapitaLand Limited within 

several business units including  
hospitality, residential, commercial, 
corporate headquarter and 
Australand Property Group 
(formerly a subsidiary of CapitaLand 
Limited listed on the Australian 
Securities Exchange). With more 
than 19 years of experience in 
group financial and management 
reporting, operational management 
and control, tax planning and 
performance analysis, Ms Yap 
also has good regional exposure 
and her portfolios spanned across 
South East Asia, North Asia  
and Australia.  

Ms Yap holds a Master of Applied 
Finance from the Macquarie 
University of Sydney, Australia and 
a Bachelor of Accountancy degree 
from the Nanyang Technological 
University of Singapore. She is also 
a Chartered Accountant with the 
Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants.

Joanne Loh 
Assistant Fund Manager 

Ms Loh joined the Manager as 
Asset Manager in August 2007 and 
was responsible for the asset and 
leasing management of the Trust’s 
initial portfolio of 12 properties. In 

April 2011, she was promoted as 
the Investor Relations Manager 
and subsequently to Assistant 
Fund Manager in October 2011. 
In her role, Ms Loh reports to 
the Chief Executive Officer and 
is responsible for all aspects of 
fund level performance of the 
Trust’s portfolio including investor 
relations. She works closely 
with the Chief Executive Officer 
to formulate strategic plans 
to maximise the returns of the  
Trust’s assets. 

Prior to joining the Manager, Ms 
Loh was with property consultant 
firm, Colliers International as the 
property manager managing a 
portfolio of residential and industrial 
assets. She was also previously 
with real estate developers like 
Far East Organisation and Keppel 
Land. In all, she has over 10 
years of experience in the real 
estate industry handling asset 
management, leasing and property 
management. 

Ms Loh holds a Bachelor of 
Science degree in Building and a 
Master of Science degree in Real 
Estate from the National University 
of Singapore.

Left to right:  
Koh Wee Lih, Regina Yap, Joanne Loh
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Our Team

Sandra Go

Sharon Tay

 Avril Chong

Louis Ng Cindy Tan

Eileen Yap

Joanne Loh

Investor 
Relations 
& Portfolio 
Management

Lynn Wong

Asset
Management

Selena Ang

Office 
Administration
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Charlotte Khoo Patrina Tan

Stella Yeak

Janet Foo

Kester TanDarren Ang

Jackie Thia

Amy Lim

Leasing &
Marketing

Finance,  
Legal & 
Compliance

Regina Yap

Our Team
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Acquisition of Optus Centre, New South Wales, Australia
In February 2014, the Trust acquired a 49.0 per cent indirect interest in the 
Optus Centre, a premium business park located at Macquarie Park north 
of Sydney, Australia. The property was valued at A$377.0 million which 
was derived based on the Capitalisation Approach, Discounted Cash Flow 
Analysis and Direct Comparison Method.

The Trust’s first investment in Australia, the acquisition was made to leverage 
on the network and on-the-ground real estate expertise of the Trust’s two 
Australian Sponsors, AIMS Financial Group and AMP Capital.

“tapping 
market 
opportunities 
by leveraging 
synergies with 
Sponsors”

Leveraging 
On Synergy



Optus Centre is a secure A Grade business 
park office complex comprised of six buildings 
with a total lettable area of 84,194 sq m.  
The property has excellent exposure and 
access to Epping Road and is within 
minutes of the Macquarie Shopping Centre 
and Macquarie University. It is located 
approximately 15 km to the northwest of the 
Sydney central business district and 12 km 
to the northwest of the North Sydney central 
business district.

Optus Centre is 100.0 per cent leased to 
Optus Administration Pty Limited. Optus 
Administration Pty Limited is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Singtel Optus, which is the 
second largest telecommunications company 
in Australia, and is a wholly owned subsidiary 
of the internationally recognised leading 
telecommunications group, SingTel.

“The overseas investment enables the Trust to acquire a premium freehold 
asset which is accretive to the Trust, provides long-term cashflow certainty, 
strengthens our asset base and diversifies our portfolio.”

Location Optus Centre, 1-5 Lyonpark Road, 
Macquarie Park, New South Wales, 
Australia

Description 6 buildings on 7.6 hectare site

Zoning Zoned B7 Business Park

Land area 75,860 sq m (816,557 sq ft)

Net lettable area 84,194 sq m (906,264 sq ft)

Car parking spaces 2,100

About the property



Property Showcase

The property comprises a five-storey ramp-up warehouse and logistics 
facility which incorporates two individual building envelopes providing 
warehouse, logistics and ancillary office accommodation with a substantial 
hardstand marshalling yard. The facility was developed in two stages with 
Phase One achieving temporary occupation permit on 29 October 2012 and 
Phase Two on 7 May 2013. The two buildings are serviced by a central 
vehicular ramp. The property is currently undergoing further development 
involving an extension to the five-storey ramp up warehouse complex at 
Phase Two (“Phase 2E”) which achieved temporary occupation permit on  
14 June 2014 and a new five-storey warehouse with ancillary offices 
connected to the existing ramp (“Phase Three”) totalling additional net 
lettable area of 46,167.70 sq m.

It is located in a well-established industrial estate at the north-western 
junction of Gul Way and Gul Circle, within Jurong Industrial Estate and is 
approximately 25 km from the City Centre. The property is well-served by 
expressways such as the Ayer Rajah Expressway, Pan Island Expressway 
and Kranji Expressway.

20 Gul Way, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation of Phases One  
and Two (S$’million)    217.00
Phases 2E and Three  
“As Is Where Is” Basis (S$’million)   44.50
Phases 2E and Three  
“As If Complete” (S$’million)  89.40
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of 
total portfolio value (%)   19.05
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.50
Acquisition date     19 April 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   39.40
Leasehold title expiry year   15 January 2041
Land area (sq m)    76,946.10
Gross floor area (sq m)    107,724.50  
      (Phases One and Two)
Net lettable area (sq m)    107,724.50  
      (Phases One and Two)
Property type     Warehouse and Logistics
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    2.00
Current plot ratio    1.40  
      (Phases One and Two)

Lease terms 
 
Lease type    Master Leased (CWT Limited)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)    14.36

Optus Centre is a secure Grade A business park office complex which 
was completed in 2007 and comprises six buildings. The buildings are 
a combination of four and five levels, arranged in a chevron shape that 
opens to the main entrance. The buildings are serviced by a total of  
15 passenger lifts and two cargo lifts. Amenities include a secure central 
courtyard featuring extensive landscaping, water features, paved areas 
and a basketball court. The ground level of each building includes various 
cafes, eateries, bars, automated teller machines, convenience stores and 
the property also includes one childcare centre for the exclusive use of 
employees. 

It is located at 1-5 Lyonpark Road, Macquarie Park with access to Epping 
Road and is within minutes to the Macquarie Shopping Centre and 
Macquarie University. It is approximately 15 km to the northwest of the 
Sydney central business district and approximately 12 km to the northwest 
of the North Sydney central business district.

Optus Centre, 1-5 Lyonpark Road, Macquarie Park, New South Wales, Australia

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    214.971 
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage  
of total portfolio value (%)  15.66
Capitalisation rate (%)    7.50
Acquisition date     7 February 2014
Purchase price (S$’million)   205.32 
Leasehold title expiry year   Freehold
Land area (sq m)    75,860.00
Gross floor area (sq m)   84,194.00
Net lettable area (sq m)    84,194.00
Property type     Business Park
Town planning     Business Park

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
      (Optus Administration  
      Pty Limited)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income FY2014 (S$’million) 
(from 7 February 2014 to 31 March 2014) 2.35

1   Based on 49.0 per cent interest in the property. The valuation 
for the property is A$377.0 million. 

2   Based on 49.0 per cent interest in the property. The purchase 
price for the property is A$184.425 million.
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Optus Centre, 1-5 Lyonpark Road, Macquarie Park, New South Wales, Australia

The property incorporates two individual building envelopes providing 
warehouse and logistics and ancillary office usage. Building One comprises 
a five-storey high clearance warehouse and logistics building with mezzanine 
offices and an attached nine-storey ancillary office annex incorporating both 
office accommodation and a canteen. Building Two comprises a five-storey 
high clearance warehouse and logistics building which also incorporates 
mezzanine office levels. The two warehouse and logistics buildings are 
serviced by ramp-up driveways that provide access to all warehouse units 
on every level. 

It is located within a well-established industrial estate along Penjuru Lane, 
off Penjuru Road and Jalan Buroh in the Jurong Industrial Estate and 
approximately 16 km from the City Centre. The property is well-served by 
expressways such as the Pan Island Expressway, Ayer Rajah Expressway 
and the West Coast Highway. 

27 Penjuru Lane, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    182.60
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of 
total portfolio value (%)   13.31
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75 
Acquisition date     15 October 2010
Purchase price (S$’million)   161.00
Leasehold title expiry year   15 October 2049
Land area (sq m)    38,297.00
Gross floor area (sq m)    95,758.40
Net lettable area (sq m)    92,904.60
Property type     Warehouse and Logistics
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    2.50

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   14.59

The property comprises of a five-storey (Block 8) and six-storey (Block 
10) warehouse buildings. The two blocks are serviced by 16 cargo lifts 
and 12 passenger lifts. The property has loading and unloading areas 
accommodating a total of 80 bays with 38 dock-levellers on the first storey.

It is located at the southern junction of Pandan Crescent and West Coast 
Highway and is approximately 13 km away from the City Centre. The 
property is well-served by expressways such as the West Coast Highway 
and the Pan-Island Expressway.  

8 & 10 Pandan Crescent, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    148.50
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   10.82
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.50
Acquisition date     19 April 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   115.00
Leasehold title expiry year   31 May 2068
Land area (sq m)    32,376.50
Gross floor area (sq m)    80,940.00
Net lettable area (sq m)    65,838.30
Property type     Warehouse and Logistics
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    2.50

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   10.43
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Property Showcase

The property comprises a 13-storey high-tech business park building with 
ground level ancillary commercial and showroom areas together with four 
passenger lifts and basement car park. The building is designated for 
business park use and incorporates office and warehouse areas that are 
serviced with two loading and unloading bays located on the first storey. 

It is located on the eastern side within the prestigious precinct of 
International Business Park, off Boon Lay Way and Jurong East Street 
11. International Business Park is a business and technology hub for 
companies involved in high-technology industries that include software 
development, research and ancillary activities. The property is well-
served by a network of roads which include the Ayer Rajah Expressway,  
Pan-Island Expressway and Commonwealth Avenue West and is 
approximately 14 km from the City Centre. 

1A International Business Park, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    86.60
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   6.31
Capitalisation rate (%)   6.25
Acquisition date     30 November 2009
Purchase price (S$’million)   90.20
Leasehold title expiry year   31 May 2059
Land area (sq m)    7,988.40
Gross floor area (sq m)    19,949.60
Net lettable area (sq m)    16,697.00
Property type     Business Park
Town planning     Business Park
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    2.49

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
      (Eurochem Corporation  
      Pte Ltd)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   6.33

The property comprises an L-shaped four-storey high-technology light 
industrial building with basement car park. The building is serviced by nine 
passenger lifts, nine cargo lifts and six lift lobbies with ancillary canteen and 
café located on the first storey and basement respectively. 

It is located in a well-established industrial estate at the junction of 
Admiralty Road West and Woodlands Avenue 8. The property is well-served 
by expressways and major roads such as the Bukit Timah Expressway and 
the Seletar Expressway and is approximately 24 km from the City Centre.

29 Woodlands Industrial Park E1, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    86.50
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   6.30
Capitalisation rate (%)   6.65
Acquisition date     21 February 2011
Purchase price (S$’million)   72.00
Leasehold title expiry year   8 January 2055
Land area (sq m)    17,955.90
Gross floor area (sq m)    45,481.26
Net lettable area (sq m)    36,270.10
Property type     Hi-Tech 
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    2.48

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  96.7
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   6.12
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The property comprises a five-storey light industrial building with basement. 
Basement areas have been created within an area originally designated 
for car parking. The property has three loading and unloading bays with  
dock-levellers and serviced by two passenger and two cargo lifts. 

It is located along the north-eastern end of Tai Seng Drive, a cul-de-sac 
off Airport Road within the Tai Seng Industrial Estate. The property is  
well-served by the Pan-Island Expressway, Tampines Expressway,  
Kallang-Paya Lebar Expressway, Paya Lebar Road, Airport Road and 
Macpherson Road and is approximately 9.5 km away from the City Centre. 

15 Tai Seng Drive, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    31.40
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   2.29
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     17 December 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   28.90
Leasehold title expiry year   31 March 2051
Land area (sq m)    9,077.90
Gross floor area (sq m)    21,350.00
Net lettable area (sq m)    17,886.30
Property type     Light Industrial
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    2.35

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   2.89

The property comprises a part five-storey and part seven-storey warehouse 
with ancillary office space. The property has three cargo lifts and equipped 
with eight loading and unloading bays with dock-levellers together with an 
Automated Storage and Retrieval System provided at the warehouse area 
on the first storey.

It is located within Changi South Industrial Estate. The property is well-
served by expressways and major roads such as the East Coast Parkway, 
Pan-Island Expressway, Tampines Expressway and Upper Changi Road 
East and is approximately 18 km away from the City Centre.

10 Changi South Lane, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    30.60
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   2.23
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.50
Acquisition date     19 April 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   33.80
Leasehold title expiry year   15 June 2056
Land area (sq m)    9,219.10
Gross floor area (sq m)    14,793.00
Net lettable area (sq m)    12,740.80
Property type     Warehouse and Logistics
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    1.60

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
      (Ossia International Limited)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   2.56
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Property Showcase

The property achieved temporary occupation permit on 28 May 2014. The 
new building comprises a six-storey industrial facility with sheltered car 
parking and display area on the first storey. The building has 12 loading 
and unloading bays with dock levellers, two passenger lifts and three  
cargo lifts. 

It is located within a well-established industrial estate on the north-western 
side of Defu Lane 10 within Defu Industrial Estate. The property has close 
proximity to expressways and major roads including the Kallang-Paya 
Lebar Expressway, the Tampines Expressway and Hougang Avenue 3, 
which provides access to the Pan-Island Expressway via Eunos Link and  
is approximately 11.5 km away from the City Centre.

103 Defu Lane 10, Singapore

Property details
   
Market value on  
“As Is Where Is” Basis (S$’million)  27.50
Valuation  
“As If Complete” (S$’million)  43.10
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   2.01
Capitalisation rate (%)    7.05
Acquisition date     21 January 2008
Purchase price (S$’million)   14.50
Leasehold title expiry year   30 June 2043
Land area (sq m)    7,541.00
Proposed Gross floor area (sq m)   18,850.10
Proposed Net lettable area (sq m)  18,850.10
Property type     Light Industrial
Town planning     Business 1
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    Under development

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted 
Occupancy of property (%)  Under development
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   Nil 

The property comprises an eight-storey light industrial building incorporating 
a four-storey factory and eight-storey of ancillary office space. The building 
is served by two passenger and two cargo lifts. There are seven loading and 
unloading bays located on the first storey. 

It is located at the south-eastern junction of Bukit Batok Street 22 
and Bukit Batok Avenue 6 within the Bukit Batok Industrial Park A. The 
property is well-served by expressways and major roads such as the 
Pan-Island Expressway, Ayer Rajah Expressway and Bukit Batok Road and 
is approximately 16 km away from the City Centre.

1 Bukit Batok Street 22, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    24.90
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   1.82
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     19 April 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   18.00
Leasehold title expiry year   30 June 2055
Land area (sq m)    6,399.30
Gross floor area (sq m)    15,978.40
Net lettable area (sq m)    14,036.50
Property type     Light Industrial
Town planning     Business 1
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    2.50

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  94.7
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   2.15
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The property comprises a six-storey light industrial building suitable for light 
manufacturing, warehouse, distribution and ancillary offices. The building is 
served by three cargo lifts and six loading and unloading bays located on 
the first storey.

It is located at the south-eastern side of Yishun Industrial Park A sited 
within the Yishun Industrial Estate. The property is well-served by major 
expressways and major roads such as Central Expressway and including 
Yishun Avenue 2 which links directly to the Seletar Expressway. It is 
approximately 20 km away from the City Centre.

61 Yishun Industrial Park A, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    24.63
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   1.80
Capitalisation rate (%)    7.00
Acquisition date     21 January 2008
Purchase price (S$’million)   24.60
Leasehold title expiry year   31 August 2052
Land area (sq m)    5,921.80
Gross floor area (sq m)    14,601.00
Net lettable area (sq m)    11,887.80
Property type     Light Industrial
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    2.47

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  71.2
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.17

The property comprises a purposed-built factory complex comprising a 
two-storey front office block, a single storey warehouse and a part two and 
part three-storey warehouse block at rear. The property is served by a cargo 
lift at the warehouse building, which has loading and unloading areas.

It is located on the north-western side of Tuas Avenue 2, near its junction 
with Pioneer Road, within the Jurong Industrial Estate. The property is 
well-served by major arterial roads and expressways such as Jalan Ahmad 
Ibrahim, the Ayer Rajah Expressway, Kranji Expressway and the Pan-Island 
Expressway and is approximately 26.5 km away from the City Centre. It is 
also in close proximity to the Second Link to Johor Malaysia.

3 Tuas Avenue 2, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    24.02
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   1.75
Capitalisation rate (%)    7.00
Acquisition date     19 April 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   20.80
Leasehold title expiry year   15 March 2055
Land area (sq m)    17,802.70
Gross floor area (sq m)    16,334.30
Net lettable area (sq m)    14,700.10
Property type     Manufacturing
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    1.40
Current plot ratio    0.92

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
      (Cimelia Resource  
      Recovery Pte Ltd)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.84
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Property Showcase

The property comprises an eight-storey light industrial building with 
sheltered car parks on the first storey and a canteen located on the second 
storey. The property is primarily suitable for light industrial activities with 
retail areas on the second storey. The building is served by two passenger 
lifts, two cargo lifts and four loading and unloading bays located on the first 
storey with a total of 63 covered and surface car park lots provided.

It is located at the north-western junction of Joo Seng Road and Jalan 
Bunga Rampai. The property is well-served by the Upper Paya Lebar 
Road and Upper Aljunied Road, which are both linked to the Pan-Island 
Expressway and the Kallang-Paya Lebar Expressway and is approximately 
9 km away from the City Centre.

135 Joo Seng Road, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    23.90
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   1.74
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     10 March 2008
Purchase price (S$’million)   25.00
Leasehold title expiry year   30 June 2054
Land area (sq m)    5,420.10
Gross floor area (sq m)    12,385.00
Net lettable area (sq m)    9,490.77
Property type     Light Industrial
Town planning     Business 1
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    2.29

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  91.5
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.91

The property comprises a four-storey light industrial building incorporating 
warehouse, office and showroom accommodation with basement car 
parking. A single basement level incorporates car parking for 60 bays and 
ancillary storage areas. The property has two passenger lifts and two cargo 
lifts which serve the basement to the fourth storey and with an ancillary 
cafe. There are three loading and unloading bays with dock-levellers.

It is located in a well-established industrial estate on the southern side 
of Changi South Street 3, north of Xilin Avenue within the Changi South 
Industrial Estate. The property is well-served by Xilin Avenue, the Pan-Island 
Expressway, the East Coast Parkway, the Tampines Expressway and is 
approximately 16.5 km away from the City Centre.

11 Changi South Street 3, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    23.10
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   1.68
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     17 December 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   20.80
Leasehold title expiry year   31 March 2055
Land area (sq m)    8,832.60
Gross floor area (sq m)    14,015.90
Net lettable area (sq m)    11,547.40
Property type     Warehouse and Logistics
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    2.00
Current plot ratio    1.59

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
      (Builders Shop Pte Ltd)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   2.30
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The property comprises a multi-storey office and warehouse building. 
The primary warehouse areas are located at level one and three, with the 
latter featuring a semi-automated narrow aisle storage system. The office 
accommodation is located over five levels. The building is served by seven 
loading and unloading bays and dock-levellers located on the first storey of 
the building.

It is located within a well-established industrial estate to the south-
eastern side of Toh Tuck Link, bounded by Old Toh Tuck Road and  
Toh Tuck Avenue 3. The property is well-served by major roads and 
expressways such as Boon Lay Way, Commonwealth Avenue West, the 
Ayer Rajah Expressway, West Coast highway, the Pan-Island Expressway 
and is approximately 13 km from the City Centre.

3 Toh Tuck Link, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    22.40
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   1.63
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     11 January 2010
Purchase price (S$’million)   19.30
Leasehold title expiry year   15 November 2056
Land area (sq m)    10,724.40
Gross floor area (sq m)    12,492.41
Net lettable area (sq m)    11,956.08
Property type     Warehouse and Logistics
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    1.60
Current plot ratio    1.16

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.94

The property comprises a six-storey light industrial building with a basement 
car park. The building accommodates reception, ancillary office and 
warehouse areas on the first storey and data centre, production areas for 
clean and light industry uses, and ancillary office areas on the upper levels. 
The building is served by two passenger lifts, one cargo lift and two loading 
and unloading bays with raised platform.

It is located at the eastern junction of Tai Seng Drive and Tai Seng Avenue 
which provides easy access to the Airport Road and Hougang Avenue 
3 within the Tai Seng Industrial Estate. The property is well-served by 
major roads and expressways such as the Paya Lebar Road, Eunos Link,  
the Pan-Island Expressway, Tampines Expressway, Kallang-Paya Lebar 
Expressway and is approximately 9.5 km away from the City Centre.

23 Tai Seng Drive, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    20.50
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   1.49
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     11 January 2010
Purchase price (S$’million)   17.20
Leasehold title expiry year   31 July 2050
Land area (sq m)    3,813.60
Gross floor area (sq m)    9,493.10
Net lettable area (sq m)   8,456.40
Property type    Light Industrial 
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio   2.49

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  95.4
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.75
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Property Showcase

The property comprises a seven-storey light industrial building incorporating 
warehouse, production and ancillary office areas. The building is served by 
two cargo lifts, six loading and unloading bays on the first storey.

It is located on the eastern end of Serangoon North Avenue 4, bounded by 
Yio Chu Kang Road to the east within the Serangoon North Industrial Estate. 
The property is well-served by major expressways and roads such as the 
Central Expressway, the Tampines Expressway, the Seletar Expressway, 
Seletar Aerospace Park via Yio Chu Kang Road and Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5. 
It is approximately 12 km from the City Centre.

56 Serangoon North Avenue 4, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    19.30
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   1.41
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     11 January 2010
Purchase price (S$’million)   14.80
Leasehold title expiry year   15 May 2055
Land area (sq m)    4,999.10
Gross floor area (sq m)    11,750.95
Net lettable area (sq m)    9,927.83
Property type     Warehouse and Logistics
Town planning     Business 1
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    2.35

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  89.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.43

The property comprises two adjoining JTC “Type D” two-storey detached 
industrial space currently amalgamated into one building.

It is located on the north-western side of Tuas Avenue 20, near the junction 
with Tuas Avenue 11 within the Jurong Industrial Estate. The property is 
well-served by the Second Link to Johor Malaysia and close proximity to 
major arterial roads and expressways such as Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, the 
Ayer Rajah Expressway, the Kranji Expressway, the Pan-Island Expressway 
and is approximately 28 km away from the City Centre. 

8 & 10 Tuas Avenue 20, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    16.19
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   1.18
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     19 April 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   11.60
Leasehold title expiry year 
8 Tuas Avenue 20    31 December 2050
10 Tuas Avenue 20    30 September 2052
Land area (sq m)    10,560.00
Gross floor area (sq m)    10,918.00
Net lettable area (sq m)    10,915.18
Property type     Warehouse and Logistics
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    1.40
Current plot ratio    1.03

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
      (DNKH Logistics Pte Ltd)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.04
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The property comprises a four-storey factory building primarily incorporating 
production, warehouse and office areas. The building is served by a single 
passenger lift and two cargo lifts with six loading and unloading bays with 
dock-levellers located on the first storey.

It is located at the northern-eastern junction of Yishun Industrial Park 
A which gives easy access to Yishun Avenue 2 or Yishun Avenue 7.  
The property is well-served by major arterial roads and expressways such 
as Gambas Avenue, Sembawang Road, including Yishun Avenue 2 which 
directly links with the Seletar Expressway. It also has close proximity to 
the Central Expressway and is approximately 20.5 km away from the  
City Centre.

541 Yishun Industrial Park A, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    15.80
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   1.15
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     3 October 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   16.80
Leasehold title expiry year   30 June 2054
Land area (sq m)    6,851.40
Gross floor area (sq m)    8,770.90
Net lettable area (sq m)    8,017.50
Property type     Manufacturing
Town planning     Business 1
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    1.28

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
      (King Plastic Pte Ltd)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income 
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.32

The property comprises two three-storey detached industrial buildings 
connected by a covered link at the first storey driveway. No. 30 Tuas West 
Road is a single-user factory with an office building while No. 32 Tuas West 
Road accommodates warehouse, production and offices areas on the first 
storey and production and ancillary office areas on the upper floors. 

It is located on the south-eastern flank of Tuas West Road near its junction 
with Pioneer Road, within the Jurong Industrial Estate. The property is  
well-served by the Second Link to Johor Malaysia and close proximity to the 
Pan Island Expressway, Kranji Expressway and the Ayer Rajah Expressway 
and is approximately 28 km away from the City Centre.

30 & 32 Tuas West Road, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    15.00
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   1.09
Capitalisation rate (%)    7.00
Acquisition date     11 January 2010
Purchase price (S$’million)   17.30
Leasehold title expiry year   31 December 2055
Land area (sq m)    12,894.90
Gross floor area (sq m)    14,838.10
Net lettable area (sq m)    13,163.70
Property type     Warehouse and Logistics
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    1.40
Current plot ratio    1.15

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  41.8 
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.49
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Property Showcase

The property comprises an “L-shaped” three-storey detached factory 
building incorporating production area, showrooms, training room, 
warehouse and office area, which was refurbished in 2006. The building is 
served by a cargo and a passenger lift.

It is located on the north-eastern junction of Ang Mo Kio Street 65 and 
Street 64, which has easy access to the Yio Chu Kang Road. The property 
is well-served by major arterial roads and expressways such as the Central 
Expressway, the Seletar Expressway, the Tampines Expressway and is 
approximately 14 km away from the City Centre.

2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    13.61
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   0.99
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     19 April 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   15.20
Leasehold title expiry year   31 March 2047
Land area (sq m)    5,610.20
Gross floor area (sq m)    7,325.00
Net lettable area (sq m)    6,255.00
Property type     Manufacturing
Town planning     Business 1
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    1.31

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
     (CIT Cosmeceutical Pte. Ltd)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.34

The property comprises a six-storey factory with an ancillary office building 
and a single-storey annex building. The building is served by a passenger 
lift and two cargo lifts, as well as five loading and unloading bays with dock-
levellers on the first storey.

It is located along Senoko South Road, off Woodlands Avenue 8 and Admiralty 
Road West, within the Woodlands East Industrial Estate. The property is 
well-served by expressways such as the Bukit Timah Expressway and the 
Seletar Expressway and is approximately 25 km from the City Centre.

8 Senoko South Road, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    13.30
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   0.97
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     19 April 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   12.80
Leasehold title expiry year   31 October 2054
Land area (sq m)    7,031.30
Gross floor area (sq m)    9,249.00
Net lettable area (sq m)    7,278.90
Property type     Manufacturing
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    1.30

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
      (Sin Hwa Dee Food Stuff  
      Industries Pte Ltd)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.04

AI
M

S 
AM

P 
C

AP
IT

AL
 IN

DU
ST

RI
AL

 R
EI

T
An

nu
al

 R
ep

or
t 2

01
4

40



The property comprises a warehouse and office building consisting of a 
single level high-bay warehouse with a mezzanine level and a three level 
section incorporating an ancillary air-conditioned storage and office 
accommodation. The building is served by a passenger lift servicing the 
office and ancillary storage and eight loading and unloading bays with dock-
levellers on the first storey. 

It is located at the western side of Clementi Avenue 6, within Clementi West 
Distripark. The property is well-served by the Pan-Island Expressway, Ayer 
Rajah Expressway and Commonwealth Avenue West and is approximately 
13 km away from the City Centre.

7 Clementi Loop, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    13.05
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   0.95
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     31 March 2008
Purchase price (S$’million)   18.30
Leasehold title expiry year   15 June 2053
Land area (sq m)    9,998.30
Gross floor area (sq m)    9,081.30
Net lettable area (sq m)    8,099.40
Property type     Warehouse and Logistics
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    1.60
Current plot ratio   0.91

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Multi-tenanted
Occupancy of property (%)  80.9
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.12

The property comprises an eight storey light industrial building incorporating 
production areas, offices and showrooms. The building also features 
recreational areas such as swimming pool, gymnasium, sauna, steam room 
and open seating areas. The building is served by two passenger lifts,  
a cargo lift, a fireman’s lift and two loading and unloading bays.

It is located at the western junction of Kallang Way 2A and Kallang Way.  
The property is well-served by the Pan-Island Expressway, Central 
Expressway, Kallang-Paya Lebar Expressway, MacPherson Road and 
Aljunied Road and is approximately 7.5 km away from the City Centre.

1 Kallang Way 2A, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    12.80
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   0.93
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     30 January 2008
Purchase price (S$’million)   14.00
Leasehold title expiry year   30 June 2055
Land area (sq m)    3,231.40
Gross floor area (sq m)    7,811.10
Net lettable area (sq m)    6,910.60
Property type     Manufacturing
Town planning     Business 1
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    2.42

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
      (Xpress Print Pte Ltd)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   1.05
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Property Showcase

The property comprises a two-storey purpose-built factory with a mezzanine 
office level. The building is served by a loading and unloading bay, a cargo 
lift and substation.

It is located at the eastern junction of Tuas Avenue 7 and Tuas West Road, 
within the Jurong Industrial Estate. The property is well-served by major 
arterial roads and expressways such as Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, Ayer Rajah 
Expressway and the Pan-Island Expressway and is approximately 26.5 km 
away from the City Centre. It is also in close proximity to the Second Link 
to Johor Malaysia.

26 Tuas Avenue 7, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    10.30
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   0.75
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.80
Acquisition date     19 April 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   8.30
Leasehold title expiry year   31 December 2053
Land area (sq m)    5,823.30
Gross floor area (sq m)   6,125.30
Net lettable area (sq m)    5,522.10
Property type     Manufacturing
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    1.40
Current plot ratio    1.05

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
      (Aalst Chocolate Pte Ltd)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   0.87

The property comprises a four-storey factory with an ancillary office building 
and a single-storey factory building. The building is served by a passenger 
lift, a cargo lift, a pallet lift and three loading and unloading areas with  
dock-levellers on the first storey.

It is located on the southern side of Soon Lee Road, off International Road, 
within the Jurong Industrial Estate. The property is well-served by major 
arterial roads and expressways such as Jalan Ahmad Ibrahim, Ayer Rajah 
Expressway, the Pan-Island Expressway, the West Coast Highway and is 
approximately 21 km away from the City Centre.

10 Soon Lee Road, Singapore

Property details
   
Valuation (S$’million)    9.50
Valuation date     31 March 2014
Valuation as percentage of  
total portfolio value (%)   0.69
Capitalisation rate (%)    6.75
Acquisition date     19 April 2007
Purchase price (S$’million)   8.70
Leasehold title expiry year   12 March 2041
Land area (sq m)    9,303.30
Gross floor area (sq m)    8,142.00
Net lettable area (sq m)    7,214.40
Property type     Manufacturing
Town planning     Business 2
Maximum plot ratio    2.50
Current plot ratio    0.88

Lease terms 
 
Lease type     Master Leased  
      (Fullmark Pte Ltd)
Occupancy of property (%)  100.0
Annual rental income  
FY2014 (S$’million)   0.81
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Portfolio Analysis

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT property portfolio key statistics

As at 19 
April 2007 

(IPO)

As at 31 
March 
2008

As at 31 
March 
2009

As at 31 
March 
2010

As at 31 
March 
2011

As at 31 
March 
2012

As at 31 
March 
2013

As at 31 
March 
2014

Number of 
properties

12 21 21 26 26 26 25 26

Portfolio value  
($’million)

316.5 555.4 530.3 635.3 853.2 930.9 1,045.0 1,372.51,2

Net lettable area 
(sq m)

194,980.7 289,022.4 288,969.2 349,987.3 456,615.5 456,607.1 478,986.9 556,607.33 

Number of tenants 12 27 25 49 71 70 141 141

Occupancy (%) 100.0 100.0 98.6 96.0 99.0 99.2 96.1 97.0

Location of 
properties

Singapore Singapore, 
Japan 

Singapore, 
Japan 

Singapore, 
Japan 

Singapore Singapore Singapore Singapore, 
Australia 

Portfolio value

1  Based on valuation as at 31 March 2014 appraised by Knight Frank Pte Ltd and Colliers International Consultancy & Valuation (Singapore) Pte Ltd.
2   Based on 49.0 per cent interest in the property, Optus Centre, New South Wales, Australia appraised by Savills Valuations Pty Ltd.
3   Excludes investment properties under development.
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Strategically located portfolio

The portfolio comprises 26 quality properties, of which 25 properties are strategically located in Singapore’s 
established industrial areas and in service hubs supporting Singapore’s port infrastructure and one premium 
business park in New South Wales, Australia. The Singapore properties are easily accessible by major highways 
and are in close proximity to sea ports, airports, amenities and public transportation. The Australian property, 
Optus Centre, is located in Macquarie Park, one of Australia’s largest and newest high tech business park 
office precincts in metropolitan Sydney, which boasts excellent connectivity to Sydney central business district,  
North Sydney and Sydney’s international airport. 

Singapore property portfolio as at 31 March 2014

Causeway

Port of
Singapore

Changi 
Airport

2024

12
17

6

25

11
14

3
2

8

1

4

13

9

23

167

5
10

Malaysia-
Singapore
Second 

Link

Jurong 
Port

Cargo Lift Warehouse
1  8 & 10 Pandan Cresent
2  10 Changi South Lane
3  11 Changi South Street 3
4  3 Toh Tuck Link
5  30 & 32 Tuas West Road
6  56 Serangoon North Avenue 4
7  8 & 10 Tuas Avenue 20
8  7 Clementi Loop

Ramp Up Warehouse
9  27 Penjuru Lane
10   20 Gul Way, Phases One and Two

Light Industrial
11  15 Tai Seng Drive
12  61 Yishun Industrial Park A
13  1 Bukit Batok Street 22
14  23 Tai Seng Drive
15  135 Joo Seng Road

Manufacturing
16  3 Tuas Avenue 2
17  541 Yishun Industrial Park A
18  1 Kallang Way 2A
19  2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65
20  8 Senoko South Road
21  26 Tuas Avenue 7
22  10 Soon Lee Road 

Business Park
23  1A International Business Park 

Hi-Tech
24  29 Woodlands Industrial Park E1

Under Redevelopment
10  20 Gul Way, Phases 2E and Three
25  103 Defu Lane 10
  (103 Defu Lane 10 and 20 Gul Way, Phase 2E  
  achieved TOP on 28 May 2014 and 14 June  
  2014 respectively)

15

18

19

21 22

Portfolio Analysis

Major Expressways
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Business Park
Optus Centre, 1-5 
Lyonpark Road, 
Macquarie Park, 
New South Wales, 
Australia

Sydney, 
Australia

Australia property portfolio as at 31 March 2014

Stability of income from master leased and multi-tenanted properties
As at 31 March 2014, 13 out of the 26 properties are subject to single tenant master leases. The master leases 
provide for longer lease durations with structured escalations, thus providing a stable income stream for the 
Trust. Multi-tenanted properties, with typically shorter leases of around three years, allow the opportunity for the 
Trust to enjoy potential positive rental reversions, providing potential organic income growth within the portfolio.

Of the 13 properties under master lease arrangements, seven of the properties have additional sublease 
arrangements which provide an additional layer of income protection. The Trust has the right to take over 
existing sub-tenancies upon expiry of the master lease. 

The 13 properties with master leases contributed to approximately 44.2 per cent of the rental income for the 
year whilst the multi-tenanted properties contributed the balance.
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Stability of income from long weighted average lease expiry  
As at 31 March 2014, the weighted average lease expiry by rental income of the portfolio was 3.25 years, having 
increased from 3.16 years a year ago. The Trust benefits from a balanced and diversified weighted average lease 
expiry profile, which reduces the Trust’s exposure to not more than 23.0 per cent in any one year. The Manager 
continues to conduct intensive asset and lease management programmes to ensure that high occupancy is 
maintained and with a view to achieving positive rental reversions on the properties.

Note: The lease expiry profile takes into account (i) the 20 Gul Way redevelopment (Phases 2E & Three) and the master leases to CWT Limited upon 
completion and (ii) the 103 Defu Lane 10 development and lease to Focus Network Agencies (including the remaining space to be leased) upon 
completion.

Organic rental growth
In FY2014, the Trust had the opportunity to renew leases on seven multi-tenanted properties (one master 
leased property reverted to multi-tenanted properties in FY2014). The Trust signed 64 new and renewal leases 
representing 50,261.4 sq m of the total net lettable area of the portfolio in FY2014 and achieved weighted 
average rental increases of 15.8 per cent on these lease renewals. In addition, organic rental growth is supported 
by built-in rental escalations ranging from 2.0 per cent to 7.5 per cent on the master leased properties. 

Portfolio Analysis

Master leased and multi-tenanted properties
(by rental income)

3.0% 15.4% 20.4% 15.8% 22.9% 3.8% 5.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.2% 3.1%

Vacant FY2015 FY2016 FY2017 FY2018 FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

Lease expiry profile 
(by net lettable area)

55.8%
44.2%

Master leased
Multi-tenanted
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High occupancy levels
The Trust’s occupancy rate remains high at 97.0 per cent as at 31 March 2014 (100.0 per cent for the 13 master 
leased properties and weighted average of 94.4 per cent for the 12 multi-tenanted properties). This compares 
favourably with the Singapore industrial average occupancy rate of 91.6 per cent4.

Secured cashflow through security deposits 
The rental obligations of the Trust’s tenants are supported by security deposits in the form of cash or bank guarantees. 
As at 31 March 2014, the deposits ranged from three months rental to 12 months rental, with an average of  
5.8 months per property (average of 8.2 months for the 12 master leased properties (excluding Optus Centre, the 
lease of which is guaranteed by Singtel Optus) and an average of 3.5 months for the 12 multi-tenanted properties). 

Diversification

1)   Geographic diversification

  As at 31 March 2014, the exposure to Australia is 2.85 per cent based on rental income thus providing 
geographical diversification of the Trust portfolio which was 100.0 per cent exposed to the Singapore 
industrial market since 2011.

4   Based on Jurong Town Corporation’s first quarter 2014 statistics.
5   Based on rental income contribution of Optus Centre from 7 February to 31 March 2014.

Portfolio Analysis

Breakdown by geography 
(by rental income)

2.8%
Australia

97.2%
Singapore

High occupancy levels

Overall Business/ 
Office Park

Warehouse High Tech/Light Industrial  
& Manufacturing

97.0% 91.6% 100.0% 83.4% 97.0% 91.1% 95.7% 88.4%
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2)   Diversified property sector

  The Trust’s properties are well-diversified across a spread of industrial property sectors. Warehouse and 
logistics continued to be the largest sector with a bias towards high quality ramp up warehouse. 

3)   Diversified and quality income base

  The Manager has successfully increased the diversity of the portfolio’s tenant base, with no single 
tenant contributing to more than 17.0 per cent of rental income currently. This compares to 33.6 per 
cent contribution from the largest tenant at the time of listing in 2007. The top ten tenants accounted for  
47.7 per cent of the Trust’s rental income, compared to 94.3 per cent in the initial portfolio at the time of listing. 

  The Trust’s portfolio maintains a high quality tenant base which includes a mixture of large multinational 
companies, publicly listed companies and private companies. Nine of the top ten tenants are publicly 
listed companies, reflecting the quality of the tenant base.

Portfolio Analysis

11.7%
Light Industrial

26.5%

Cargo Lift 
Warehouse

34.4%

Ramp up  
Warehouse

9.8%
Manufacturing

7.3%
Hi-Tech

10.3%
Business Park

Breakdown by property sector 
(by rental income)

Top ten tenants
(By rental income)

17.0% 7.5% 4.7% 3.0% 2.9% 2.8% 2.7% 2.7% 2.2% 2.2%

CWT  
Limited

Eurochem 
Corporation 

Pte Ltd

Schenker
Singapore  
(Pte) Ltd

Ossla 
International 

Limited

LTH Logistics 
(Singapore)  

Pte Ltd  
(Vibrant Group 

Limited)

Optus 
Administration 

Pty Limited 
(SingTel  
Group)

Broadcom 
Singapore  

Pte Ltd

Builder 
Shop Pte 

Ltd (Lorenzo 
International 

Limited)

Illumina
Singapore

Pte Ltd

Cimelia 
Resource 

Recovery Pte 
Ltd (Enviro-Hub 

Group)

Private CompanyListed Groups
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The tenant concentration risk has improved from 12 tenants at listing to 141 tenants as at 31 March 2014.

4)   Diversified tenant mix

  The Trust seeks to achieve portfolio diversification and stability by maintaining a good tenant mix.  
Tenants in the warehouse and logistics sector were the largest sector contributing 42.5 per cent of the 
total rental income.

Portfolio Analysis

Tenant base by trade sector
(by rental income)

42.5%

Logistics & 
Warehousing 

7.8%

Pharmaceutical/ 
Healthcare/ Cosmetics

7.7%
IT & Electronics

7.5%
Energy

6.3%
Telecommunication

6.0%

Construction and 
Engineering 

5.4%
Fashion and Apparels

4.1%
Food and Beverage

2.6%

Plastic Products and 
Distribution

2.5%
Printing

2.2%
Self-storage 1.8%

Data Centre

1.0%
Furniture

2.6%
Metal Recycling 
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Long leasehold for expiry of underlying land lease
As at 31 March 2014, the weighted average unexpired lease term for the underlying leasehold land is  
42.66 years.

6  For the calculation of the weighted average land lease of AACI REIT, AACI REIT’s interest in the freehold property, Optus Centre has been 
assumed as a 99-year leasehold interest.

Portfolio Analysis

Land lease expiry profile
(by net lettable area)

21-30 years

21.8%

31-40 years

28.7%

41-50 years

30.6%

51-60 years

11.7%

> 60 years

7.2%
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Overview of the Singapore Economy and  
Industrial Real Estate Market

The following report was prepared by Knight Frank Pte Ltd as at 22 May 2014 for the purpose of its inclusion in this 
Annual Report.

1  Singapore Economic Overview

1.1 Singapore economic growth

Singapore’s Gross Development Product (“GDP”) increased by 4.9 per cent year-on-year (“y-o-y”) in  
1Q 2014, according to announcement by the Ministry of Trade and Industry (“MTI”). The reading was 
similar to the growth in 4Q 2013 but higher than the 2013 full year growth at 3.9 per cent. 

The 3.9 per cent GDP growth in 2013 was a marked improvement from the growth of 1.9 per cent in 2012. 
The strong performance was mainly boosted by the manufacturing, finance services and wholesale trade 
sectors, which grew by 1.7 per cent, 10.8 per cent and 6.1 per cent y-o-y in 2013, respectively.

Exhibit 1-1: Singapore GDP growth

Source: MTI, Singstat, Knight Frank Research.

Buoyed by sharp rebound in the biomedical manufacturing output and expansion in chemical output,  
the manufacturing sector continued to propel Singapore’s economy with a stellar growth of 9.8 per cent 
y-o-y in 1Q 2014, higher than the 7.0 per cent y-o-y  increase in 4Q 2013. 

1.2 Manufacturing Sector 

On a monthly basis, Singapore’s manufacturing output recorded strong performance by expanding  
12.1 per cent y-o-y in March 2014. Transport engineering cluster saw the highest increase in output 
among all the clusters with 29.4 per cent y-o-y growth.  Other clusters which also experienced robust 
growth included biomedical manufacturing and electronic clusters which expanded by 16.4 per cent and  
8.7 per cent y-o-y respectively.

Singapore’s Purchasing Managers’ Index (“PMI”) edged down slightly from 50.9 in February 2014 to  
50.8 in March 2014. Boosted by the increase in new orders and higher outputs, this marked the third 
consecutive month where manufacturing activities stay at expansion level.
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With the strong performance of the production industry in various trades, it bodes well for the industrial 
property market as there will be more potential new demand for industrial space. 

Exhibit 1-2: PMI from January 2013 to March 2014

Source: Singapore Institute of Purchasing & Materials Management, Knight Frank Research.

1.3 Economic outlook for 2014

The US and Eurozone economies continued its recovery path, albeit at a slow pace. Although China 
is experiencing a slowdown in economic growth, Asia is expected to remain as the forefront of 
the global growth engine. With the recovery in global demand and increase in trading activities,  
trade-oriented countries such as Singapore will see its manufacturing and trade-related industries being 
the larger beneficiaries. As such, the Singapore’s economy is expected to expand moderately by two to  
four per cent in 2014.

Although economic activities are expected to pick up, uncertainties due to the US quantitative easing 
exit strategy and heightened geopolitical tensions could continue to weigh on business sentiments. 
Domestically, Singapore companies could face challenges arising from the tighter labour conditions, 
higher business costs as well as rising competition from neighbouring countries.

Going forward, Singapore’s manufacturing industry will continue to spearhead economic growth. Outputs 
for all sectors, except for the chemical clusters, are expected to see more growth in tandem with the 
improved business sentiments during this period. In particular, the outlook for the biomedical and precision 
engineering clusters is currently positive and they will most likely lead the growth in the manufacturing 
industry for this year. 

Overview of the Singapore Economy and  
Industrial Real Estate Market
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87.5%

12.5%

76.9%

19.2%

3.9%

Factory Business 
park

WarehousePrivate Public

2  Review of Singapore industrial property market

2.1 Overview of industrial property stock 

As at 4Q FY20141, the total stock of industrial space in Singapore stood at 445 million sq ft (41 million sq 
m) net lettable floor area (“NLA”). Public industrial space accounts for approximately 12.5 per cent while 
the remaining 87.5 per cent constitutes private industrial space. In terms of industrial property type, factory 
space accounts for 76.9 per cent of total stock, followed by warehouse with 19.2 per cent share, and the 
remaining 3.9 per cent is business park space. 

Exhibit 2-1: Total industrial stock in Singapore (as at 4Q FY2014)

    
Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.

2.2 Private single-user and multiple-user warehouse

2.2.1 Existing stock

Total private warehouse stock increased by 6.5 per cent from 79.2 million sq ft (7.4 million sq m)  
NLA in FY20132 to 84.4 million sq ft (7.8 million sq m) in FY2014. While total occupied stock increased by  
4.5 per cent y-o-y over the same period, the total vacant stock increased to 7.6 million sq ft  
(702,000 sq m) (Exhibit 2-2).
 

Exhibit 2-2: Occupied and vacant stock of private single-user and multiple-user warehouse, last 5 years

  
Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

1 4Q FY2014 refers to the 4th quarter Financial Year period from January 2014 to March 2014.
2 FY2013 refers to the period from April 2012 to March 2013.
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Overview of the Singapore Economy and  
Industrial Real Estate Market

2.2.2 New supply, new demand and vacancy

Total new supply of private warehouses doubled from 2.6 million sq ft (238,000 sq m) in FY2013 to  
5.2 million sq ft (480,000 sq m) in FY2014 (Exhibit 2-3). Single-user warehouses contributed to a significant 
portion of the total new supply. As warehouses are mainly developments with specific uses under the 
build-to-lease schemes by the REITs or built-to-purpose warehouses designed for the end-users’ needs, 
the warehouse spaces are mostly utilised. Some examples of such developments completed in FY2014 
include Fairprice Hub, CWT Jurong East Logistic Centre and Pan Asia Logistics Park Tuas. 

Meanwhile, total new demand for private warehouses also increased by more than three-fold from  
970,000 sq ft (90,000 sq m) in FY2013 to 3.3 million sq ft (306,000 sq m) in FY2014 (Exhibit 2-3). Vacancy 
rate rose to 9.0 per cent in FY2014 from 7.2 per cent in FY2013, with the lowest vacancy observed in the 
North-East and West Regions (Exhibit 2-4). 

Exhibit 2-3: New supply, new demand and vacancy rate of private single-user and multiple-user   
   warehouses, last 5 years

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

Exhibit 2-4: Vacancy rate of warehouse by planning region as at end of FY2014

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
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2.2.3 Price of multiple-user warehouse

Following price appreciation for three consecutive years, price index of multiple-user warehouse slipped 
by 4.1 per cent y-o-y in 4Q FY2014. Median price of multiple-user warehouse declined by 4.2 per cent 
from S$930 per sq ft in 4Q FY2013 to S$891 per sq ft in 4Q FY2014.

Exhibit 2-5: Price index and median price of multiple-user warehouse, last 5 years

    

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

2.2.4 Rent of private multiple-user warehouse

Warehouse rents continued to show resilience by climbing for the fourth consecutive year, albeit at a 
slower pace. Rental index of multiple-user warehouse shows a marginal increase of 0.8 per cent y-o-y in 
4Q FY2014, lower than the increase of 8.1 per cent y-o-y in the previous year. In contrast, median rent fell 
by 2.5 per cent y-o-y in 4Q FY2014 to S$1.95 per sq ft per month (Exhibit 2-6).  

Exhibit 2-6: Rental index and median rents of private multiple-user warehouse, last 5 years

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.
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2.3 Private multiple-user factory

2.3.1 Existing Stock

Total stock of multiple-user factory increased by 4.4 per cent y-o-y to 86.4 million sq ft (8.0 million 
sq m) in FY2014. Although total occupied space improved by 1.8 per cent to 75.1 million sq ft  
(7.0 million sq m), total vacant stock rose significantly by 25.9 per cent to 11.3 million sq ft (1.1 million  
sq m) in FY2014. 

Exhibit 2-7: Occupied and vacant stock of private multiple-user factory, last 5 years

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

2.3.2 New supply, new demand and vacancy

Total new supply of private multiple-user factory saw a decline of 4.0 per cent y-o-y from 3.8 million  
sq ft (353,000 sq m) in FY2013 to 3.6 million sq ft (339,000 sq m) in FY2014. New demand for multiple-
user factory continued to fall for the second consecutive year by 47.2 per cent y-o-y to 1.3 million sq ft  
(123,000 sq m) in FY2014. This led to a higher vacancy rate of 13.1 per cent in FY2014 (Exhibit 2-8). 

Comparing vacancy rates island-wide, multiple-user factory in the West Region experienced the lowest 
average vacancy rate at 9.6 per cent as at 4Q FY2014. On the other hand, vacancy rate of multiple-user 
factory in the North Region stayed the highest at 20.2 per cent in the same period (Exhibit 2-9).

Exhibit 2-8: New supply, new demand and vacancy rate of private multiple-user factory, last 5 years

 

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.
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Exhibit 2-9: Vacancy rate of multiple-user factory by planning region

 

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.

2.3.3 Prices

Prices of private multiple-user factory climbed for the fourth consecutive year, albeit at a slower pace.  
In 4Q FY2014, median price of multiple-user factory increased 3.9 per cent to S$632 per sq ft  
(S$6,807 per sq m). This was much lower compared to 4Q FY 2012 and 4Q FY2013 when price registered 
a surge of 25.4 per cent and 19.7 per cent y-o-y respectively. The slower pace of price increase was mainly 
attributed to the implementation of the Seller’s Stamp Duty for industrial properties in January 2013 and 
the TDSR ruling in June 2013.

Exhibit 2-10: Price index and median price of private multiple-user factory, last 5 years

   

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.
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2.3.4 Rent

The pace of rental increase for private multiple-user factory slowed down to 4.5 per cent in 4Q FY2014, 
compared to 8.7 per cent y-o-y increase in 4Q FY2013. Median rent of multiple-user factory remained flat 
at S$2.00 per sq ft per month (S$21.53 per sq m per month) in 4Q FY2014.

Exhibit 2-11: Rental index of multiple-user factory and median rent, last 5 years

  
Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

2.4 Private single-user factory

2.4.1 Existing stock

Total stock of private single-user factory in FY2014 amounted to 204.2 million sq ft (19.0 million sq m) 
NLA, 4.4 per cent higher than the available space in FY2013 with 195.5 million sq ft (18.2 million sq m) 
NLA. Total vacant space surged by 26.3 per cent y-o-y to 13.7 million sq ft (1.3 million sq m) in FY2014,  
while total occupied space saw 3.1 per cent y-o-y increase to 190.5 million sq ft (17.7 million sq m) in the 
same period.  

Exhibit 2-12: Occupied and vacant stock of private single-user factory, last 5 years

 

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.
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2.4.2 New supply, new demand and vacancy

New supply of private single-user factory jumped by more than three-fold to 8.6 million sq ft  
(800,000 sq m) NLA island-wide in FY2014, compared to 2.7 million sq ft (255,000 sq m) additional space 
in FY2013. This was single-handedly lifted by the new additional 5.3 million sq ft (497,000 sq m) of private 
single-user factory in the West Region. Total new demand also jumped by 87.5 per cent to 5.8 million sq ft 
(536,000 sq m) in FY2014 (Exhibit 2-13).

Island-wide vacancy rate reached a six-year high of 6.7 per cent in FY2014. Meanwhile, vacancy rate 
of private single-user factory in the West Region only increased slightly to 6.6 per cent as at 4Q FY2014 
despite the surge in new supply. Meanwhile, vacancy rate for the Central Region remained the highest at 
9.2 per cent. The lowest vacancy rate was observed in the East Region at 5.1 per cent (Exhibit 2-14).

Exhibit 2-13: New supply, new demand and vacancy rate of single-user factory, last 5 years

 

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

Exhibit 2-14: Vacancy rate of single-user factory by planning region

 

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
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2.5 Private and public business park

2.5.1 Existing stock

Island-wide existing stock of business parks increased by 4.0 per cent to 17.2 million sq ft (1.6 million 
sq m) in FY2014. Total occupied stock amounted to 14.4 million sq ft (1.3 million sq m) in FY2014, or an 
increase of 4.6 per cent on a y-o-y basis. Meanwhile, total vacant stock rose by a marginal 0.8 per cent 
y-o-y to 2.9 million sq ft (266,000 sq m) over the same period. 

Exhibit 2-15: Occupied and vacant stock of business park, last 5 years

 

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research. 
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

2.5.2 New supply, new demand and vacancy

New supply of business park space dropped by 43.0 per cent y-o-y from 1.2 million sq ft (107,000 sq m) 
in FY2013 to 657,000 sq ft (61,000 sq m) in FY2014. New demand for business park space similarly fell by 
34.4 per cent from 969,000 sq ft (90,000 sq m) in FY2013 to 635,000 sq ft (59,000 sq m) in FY2014. 

Vacancy rate dipped from 17.2 per cent in FY2013 to 16.6 per cent in FY2014. 

Exhibit 2-16: New supply, new demand and vacancy rate of business park, last 5 years

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.
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2.5.3 Rent

Rent of business park space remained resilient, posting a fourth consecutive increase in FY2014. Median 
rent increased by 4.4 per cent y-o-y, reaching S$4.23 per sq ft per month (S$45.33 per sq m per month) 
in 4Q FY2014.
 

Exhibit 2-17: Median rent of business park, last 5 years

 

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
Note: Data analysis is based on AACI REIT’s Financial Year (“FY”). For example, FY2014 is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

2.6 Upcoming supply

Over the next five years, the total upcoming supply of private factory space, inclusive of multiple-user, 
single-user factories and business parks is expected to be 52.4 million sq ft (4.9 million sq m). 33.3 per 
cent of upcoming supply is expected to enter the market in 2014, while 36.5 per cent will be completed in 
2015 (Exhibit 2-18).

Exhibit 2-18: Upcoming supply of private factory, by expected year of completion (as at 1Q 2014)

 

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.
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Total upcoming supply of private warehouse (as at 1Q 2014) is 17.6 million sq ft (1.6 million sq m).  
52.9 per cent of the potential supply will be completed in 2014 and another 37.4 per cent will be completed 
by 2015 (Exhibit 2-19).

Exhibit 2-19:  Upcoming Supply of Private and Public Warehouses, by Expected Year of Completion  
   (as at 1Q 2014)

Source: REALIS, Knight Frank Research.

2.7 Government policies on industrial property market 

In 2013, several property measures were rolled out by the government in a bid to rein in rising industrial 
property prices as well as provide support for the end-user industrialists. 

Performance of the industrial property market, especially the strata-titled industrial market, was adversely 
affected by the implementation of the Seller’s Stamp Duty (“SSD”) and the Total Debt Servicing Ratio  
framework (“TDSR”). The measures have effectively kept speculative activities at bay and at the same 
time, decelerated activities in the once heated strata-titled industrial market that was seen in second half 
of 2012. 

With effect from 15 November 2013, the Assignment Prohibition Period for JTC lessees and Minimum 
Occupation Period for anchor tenants have been extended from three years previously to five years or 
10 years depending on the remaining lease. The new rules aim to facilitate usage of land for productive 
economic activities by genuine industrial users while discourage speculation on production land. 
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2.8 Industrial property market outlook

Positive outlook on manufacturing sector: The EDB’s business expectations of the 
Manufacturing sector survey showed positive business sentiments till September 2014. Specifically,  
a weighted 12 per cent of the manufacturers cited optimism in the outlook of general business conditions, 
while only a weighted five per cent foresees deterioration.

Logistics and warehouse industries to remain resilient: The logistics and warehouse industries have 
been benefitting from the strategic location and well-developed infrastructure provided in Singapore. 
With the upcoming Tuas Mega Port, it will further enhance the efficiency of port operations and cement 
Singapore’s positioning as the global logistics hub. Coupled with greater intra-Asian trade and stronger 
economic growth across Asia, the logistics industry will continue to show resilience and remain integral to  
Singapore’s economy. 

Sustained demand for factory with good specifications: Despite the tight labour market conditions 
and increased business cost, demand for factory spaces with good specifications catering to genuine 
industrial end-users is expected to remain stable arising from sustained activities of Small-Medium 
Enterprises (“SMEs”). With more government support to increase productivity, SMEs strive to grow and 
stay competitive and relevant to the market.

Expect ‘tenants’ market to prevail in 2014: With higher competition for tenants amid the growing 
completed supply of industrial space, landlords of older and less well-located industrial developments 
could be more hard-pressed to lease out their available space, putting downward pressure on rents to 
attract new tenants. However, rental revisions are expected to remain stable for existing occupied space 
where tenants are looking at lease renewals, especially for better-located and well-managed industrial 
properties.

Limiting Condition of this report

This Report is subject to the following limiting conditions:

a) Knight Frank’s responsibility in connection with this Report is limited to AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited to whom  
 the Report is addressed.

b) It disclaims all responsibility and will accept no liability to any other party.

c) The Report was prepared strictly in accordance with the terms and for the purpose expressed therein and is to be utilised for such 
purpose only.

d) Reproduction of this Report in any manner whatsoever in whole or in part or any reference to it in any published document, circular or 
statement without the Knight Frank’s prior written approval of the form and context in which it may appear is prohibited.

e) References to any authority requirements and incentive schemes are made according to publicly available sources as at the submission 
date of this Report. Technical and legal advice ought to be sought to obtain a fuller understanding of the requirements involved. 

f) Projections or forecasts in the course of the study are made to the best of the Knight Frank’s judgement. However, Knight Frank’s 
disclaims any liability for these projections or forecasts as they pertain to future market conditions, which may change due to unforeseen 
circumstances.

g) Knight Frank is not obliged to give testimony or to appear in Court with regard to this Report, unless specific arrangement has been made 
there for.

h) The statements, information and opinions expressed or provided are intended only as a guide to some of the important considerations 
that relate to the property prices. Neither Knight Frank nor any person involved in the preparation of this Report give any warranties as 
to the contents nor accept any contractual, tortuous or other form of liability for any consequences, loss or damage which may arise as 
a result of any person acting upon or using the statements, information or opinions in the Report.
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Financial Review

        FY2014 FY2013 +/(-)
        S$’000 S$’000 %
   

Gross revenue         108,240 92,082  17.5 
Property operating expenses     (36,345) (32,186) 12.9
Net property income   71,895 59,896 20.0
   
Share of joint venture’s results               (476)             − NM 
Foreign exchange gain              2             − NM 
Interest income    81 11 >100.0 
Borrowing costs    (13,810) (14,137) (2.3)
Manager’s management fees   
- Base fees     (5,803) (4,961) 17.0
- Performance fees   − (1,056) (100.0)
Other trust expenses             (1,941) (1,238) 56.8
Non-property expenses   (21,554) (21,392) 0.8
Net income     49,948 38,515 29.7
Distribution to Unitholders   57,203 48,062 19.0
Distribution per Unit (“DPU”)1    10.53 10.72 (1.8)

NM:  not meaningful

Revenue

The gross revenue achieved for FY2014 of S$106.4 million (excluding additional property tax of S$1.8 million2) 
was S$18.5 million higher than FY2013 of S$87.9 million3 mainly due to:

(i)  increase in rental contribution from 20 Gul Way as Phase One and Phase Two of the development became 
income-producing from 29 December 2012 and 7 July 2013 respectively; 

(ii)  higher rental rates and recoveries achieved from 27 Penjuru Lane and 8 & 10 Pandan Crescent as the 
properties reverted to multi-tenancy leases on 12 December 2012 and 19 April 2012 respectively; and

(iii) higher rental rates and recoveries achieved for new and renewal leases at 29 Woodlands Industrial  
Park E1.  

This was partly offset by the loss in revenue due to the redevelopment of 103 Defu Lane 10. 

Net property income

Property operating expenses for FY2014 were S$6.5 million higher than in FY2013 (excluding additional property 
tax recoveries of S$1.8 million2 in FY2014 and S$4.1 million3 in FY2013), which was consistent with the increase 
in revenue and the reversion of certain master leased properties to multi-tenanted properties. 

Taking into consideration the increase in gross revenue as well as higher property expenses, the net property 
income for FY2014 stood at S$71.9 million which was S$12.0 million higher compared to FY2013. 

1  DPU for FY2014 was lower compared to FY2013 mainly due to the increase in Units arising from the private placement of 68,750,000 Units in  
May 2013 and the recent issuance of 92,512,712 Units pursuant to a rights issue in March 2014.  Excluding the effects from the recent rights issue, 
DPU for FY2014 would be approximately 10.97 cents.

2    For FY2014, the gross revenue of S$108.2 million included an additional property tax of S$1.8 million at 20 Gul Way for the period from 29 October 
2012 to 31 December 2013.  The additional property tax was due to the change in annual value of property assessed by Inland Revenue Authority of 
Singapore (“IRAS”) which was fully recovered from the master tenant, CWT Limited. Excluding this additional recovery, gross revenue and property 
operating expenses for FY2014 would have been S$106.4 million and S$34.5 million respectively. 

3   For FY2013, the gross revenue of S$92.1 million included a one-off additional property tax assessment of S$4.1 million at 27 Penjuru Lane for the 
period from 10 April 2007 to 11 December 2012. The additional property tax was due to the change in the prior years’ annual value assessed by IRAS 
which was fully recovered from the head tenant, C&P Holdings Pte Ltd. Excluding the one-off additional property tax, gross revenue and property 
operating expenses for FY2013 would have been S$87.9 million and S$28.0 million respectively.

AI
M

S 
AM

P 
C

AP
IT

AL
 IN

DU
ST

RI
AL

 R
EI

T
An

nu
al

 R
ep

or
t 2

01
4

64



Net income

Borrowing costs of S$13.8 million were S$0.3 million lower than in FY2013 largely due to the accelerated 
recognition of unamortised loan transaction costs and prepayment fee of S$1.8 million in FY2013 as a result of 
early refinancing of the secured borrowings due in October 2013 and February 2014 with the proceeds from the 
issuance of the medium term notes on 8 August 2012 and 5 December 2012 respectively. This was partly offset 
by additional interest expense of S$1.4 million incurred on the AUD borrowings to fund the acquisition of the 
Group’s 49.0 per cent interest in Optus Centre. 

Manager’s base fee element of the management fees of S$5.8 million was S$0.8 million higher in FY2014  
vis-à-vis FY2013 as a result of the increase in size of the Group’s property portfolio. No performance fee is 
payable to the Manager for FY2014.  

Other trust expenses in FY2014 of S$1.9 million was S$0.7 million higher than in FY2013. This was largely 
due to the increase in operating costs in line with the increase in the Group’s size and investor base, legal and 
professional fees in relation to the renewal of the property management agreement with the Property Manager 
as well as the Australian trust expenses incurred on the Group’s investment in Australia. 

Distribution

AACI REIT achieved Unitholders’ distribution of S$57.2 million for FY2014 which was S$9.1 million or  
19.0 per cent higher as compared to FY2013. Notwithstanding FY2013 distribution included a one-off capital 
gain distribution of S$1.3 million arising from the divestment of 31 Admiralty Road, there was an increase in 
distributions from operations. The increase was mainly in line with the amount available for distribution from 
taxable income of S$10.3 million and the maiden contribution of S$0.1 million received (for the period from  
7 to 28 February 2014) from the Group’s recent acquisition of a 49.0 per cent interest in Optus Centre.

DPU for FY2014 of 10.53 cents was 1.8 per cent lower compared to FY2013 mainly due to the increase in Units 
arising from the private placement of 68,750,000 Units in May 2013 and the recent issuance of 92,512,712 
Units pursuant to a rights issue in March 2014. Excluding the effects from the recent rights issue, DPU 
for FY2014 would be approximately 10.97 cents which was a 2.3 per cent increase compared to FY2013.  
AACI REIT continued to pay out 100.0 per cent of the taxable income available for distribution, demonstrating 
a firm commitment to deliver stable distributions to Unitholders. 

Total assets

As at 31 March 2014, the total assets of the Group were S$1,405.2 million compared with S$1,056.2 million as 
at 31 March 2013. The increase of S$349.0 million was mainly due to:

(a)  the Group’s acquisition of a 49.0 per cent interest in Optus Centre at A$184.4 million;

(b)  capitalisation of development cost of S$77.7 million for the redevelopment of 103 Defu Lane 10 and the  
redevelopment and further development of 20 Gul Way into a five-storey ramp up warehouse facility; 

(c)  revaluation surplus of S$31.4 million recognised during FY2014; 

(d)  increase in cash at banks and in hand balances of S$18.8 million arising from the net proceeds from the 
rights issue and private placement after repayment of term loan facilities; and

(e)  capital expenditure capitalised on asset enhancement work of S$3.5 million. 
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Financial Review

Funding and borrowings 

On 2 May 2013, AACI REIT issued 68,750,000 Units at an issue price of S$1.60 per Unit by way of private 
placement, raising gross proceeds of S$110.0 million (“2013 Placement”). On 20 March 2014, AACI REIT 
issued 92,512,712 Units at an issue price of S$1.08 per Unit in an underwritten and renounceable rights 
issue on the basis of seven rights Units for every 40 existing Units, raising gross proceeds of S$99.9 million  
(“2014 Rights Issue”).  

Status report on the specific use of proceeds is as follows:

         2013 2014
          Placement Rights Issue
         S$’million S$’million
   

Gross proceeds                 110.0            99.9

Use of proceeds   
Development costs at 103 Defu Lane 10 and 20 Gul Way   38.2 -
Repay outstanding borrowings    0.3 17.2
Issue expenses in relation to the 2013 Placement and 2014 Rights Issue  2.7 2.5
Asset enhancement initiatives    3.3 -

         44.5 19.7

As at 31 March 2014, the balance proceeds of the 2013 Placement was approximately S$65.5 million, of which 
S$61.8 million had been used to repay outstanding borrowings pending the deployment of such funds for 
their intended use.   As at 31 March 2014, the balance proceeds of the 2014 Rights Issue was approximately  
S$80.2 million, of which S$59.4 million of the proceeds from the 2014 Rights Issue had been used to repay 
outstanding borrowings pending the deployment of such funds for their intended use. 

The use of proceeds from the 2013 Placement and 2014 Rights Issue was in accordance with the stated use of 
proceeds and there is no material deviation from the percentage allocated as previously disclosed. 
 

Corporate liquidity and capital resources 
(in S$’000 unless otherwise indicated)    FY2014 FY2013

Banking facilities and available funds   
Outstanding interest-bearing borrowings1    445,732 359,257
  
Available undrawn bank facilities    106,991 100,743
Cash at banks and in hand    21,809 2,975
Total available undrawn facilities and bank balances   128,800 103,718
Weighted average term to maturity (years)    3.1 3.1
  
Aggregate leverage  
Total borrowings      445,732 359,257
Total assets       1,405,241 1,056,248
Aggregate leverage (%)    31.7 34.0
  
Interest cover ratio  
EBITDA        66,003 56,366
Interest expenses      12,816 11,470
Interest cover (times)    5.2 4.9
  
Derivative financial instruments  
Net negative fair value of derivative financial instruments    1,149 3,636
Total assets      1,405,241 1,056,248
Percentage of fair value of derivative financial instruments to total assets (%)  0.1 0.3

1  Outstanding interest-bearing borrowings excluding unamortised loan transaction costs.
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Total borrowings as at 31 March 2014 of S$445.7 million was S$86.5 million higher than the total borrowings 
as at 31 March 2013. This was mainly due to the borrowings of A$175.8 million (approximately S$204.5 million)  
to fund the acquisition of a 49.0 per cent interest in Optus Centre as well as the drawdown of S$58.0 million 
for the development costs incurred on the Trust’s development of 20 Gul Way and 103 Defu Lane 10. This was 
partially offset by the repayment of a S$176.0 million term loan facility using the net proceeds received from the 
2014 Rights Issue and the 2013 Placement.  
 
The debt maturity profile of AACI REIT as at 31 March 2014 is set out below:

Maturity date     S$’000 % of Debt

Due in October 2015    111,161 24.9
Due in August 2016    100,000 22.4
Due in October 2016    75,800 17.0
Due in February 2019    128,771 28.9
Due in December 2019    30,000 6.8

         445,732 100.0

During the year, AACI REIT extended the maturity of its revolving credit facility from October 2013 to October 
2016. The limit of the facility was increased from S$80.0 million to S$120.0 million. The Trust is able to draw 
down either in SGD or AUD for this facility. 

Out of the total borrowings as of 31 March 2014, 24.9 per cent falls due in October 2015, 22.4 per cent falls 
due in August 2016, 17.0 per cent falls due in October 2016, 28.9 per cent falls due in February 2019 and the 
remaining balance falls due in December 2019.

As at 31 March 2014, 72.1 per cent of AACI REIT’s borrowings are on fixed interest rates, taking into account 
the interest rate swaps entered into by AACI REIT to hedge its exposure from floating rate borrowings and the 
fixed rate Notes issued under the medium term note Programme.  

AACI REIT has approximately S$107.0 million of undrawn debt facilities including revolving credit facility as at  
31 March 2014. This provides AACI REIT with the financial ability to complete the redevelopment of the property 
at 103 Defu Lane 10, further development of 20 Gul Way as well as greater financial flexibility to capitalise on 
other development, asset enhancement initiatives or acquisition opportunities.

The aggregate leverage as at 31 March 2014 was 31.7 per cent, well within the 60.0 per cent gearing limit 
allowed by the Monetary Authority of Singapore for property trusts in Singapore with a credit rating. AACI REIT 
has an investment grade credit rating of BBB- assigned by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services. 

Cash flows

The Group’s cash balance increased by S$18.8 million from S$3.0 million as at 31 March 2013 to S$21.8 million 
as at 31 March 2014. The increase was mainly due to net cash generated from operating activities and financing 
activities of S$72.2 million and S$220.7 million respectively, offset by S$274.1 million of net cash outflow used 
in investing activities. 

The net cash flows from operating activities for FY2014 were mainly in line with the net property income achieved 
for the year. The cash inflows from financing activities were mainly due to the gross proceeds of S$110.0 million 
from the private placement of 68,750,000 new Units in May 2013 and gross proceeds of S$99.9 million from the 
issuance of 92,512,712 new Units pursuant to a rights issue in March 2014. The proceeds were substantially 
used to repay an outstanding term loan facility of S$176.0 million. 

The net cash outflows used in investing activities of S$274.1 million comprised mainly due to the acquisition 
of a 49.0 per cent interest in Optus Centre and the development costs of the properties at 20 Gul Way and  
103 Defu Lane 10.
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Corporate Governance Statement

Our role

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (“AACI REIT”) is a real estate investment trust listed on the Main Board of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). AACI REIT is externally managed by AIMS AMP 
Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited (the “Manager”). 

The primary role of the Manager is to set the strategic direction in AACI REIT and carry on and conduct the 
business in AACI REIT in a proper and efficient manner on behalf of HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) 
Limited in its capacity as trustee of AACI REIT (the “Trustee”), particularly, in relation to the acquisition, divestment 
and enhancement of the assets of AACI REIT in accordance with its stated investment strategy.

The Manager has general powers of management over the assets of AACI REIT and our main responsibility is to 
manage the assets and liabilities of AACI REIT in the best interests of the Unitholders. We do this with a focus 
on generating rental income and, where appropriate, increasing the value of AACI REIT’s assets over time so as 
to enhance the returns from the investments and ultimately distributions and the total return to the Unitholders.

The Manager has covenanted in the Trust Deed to use its best endeavours to ensure that the business of  
AACI REIT is carried out and conducted in a proper and efficient manner and to conduct all transactions with or 
for AACI REIT at arm’s length and on normal commercial terms.

Other main functions and responsibilities of the Manager include:

(a)  ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations, including the applicable provisions of the 
Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289 of Singapore), the Listing Manual of SGX-ST (the “Listing 
Manual”), the Code on Collective Investment Schemes (including Appendix 6 on the property funds thereto 
(“Property Funds Appendix”)) issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”), the Trust Deed and 
the tax rulings issued by the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore on the taxation of AACI REIT and  
its Unitholders;

(b)  preparing property plans on an annual basis for review by the Board of Directors of the Manager (“Board”), 
including proposals and forecasts on net property income, capital expenditure, sales and valuations, 
explanation of major variances to previous plan, commentary on key issues and relevant assumptions. 
These plans explain the performance of AACI REIT’s assets;

(c)  managing the finances of AACI REIT, including accounts preparation, capital management, coordination of 
the budget process, forecast modeling and corporate treasury functions;

(d)  attending to all regular communications with the Unitholders; and 

(e)  supervising the property manager, AIMS AMP Capital Property Management Pte Ltd (the “Property 
Manager”) which performs the day-to-day property management functions (including lease management, 
property management, maintenance and administration) pursuant to a Property Management Agreement.

The Manager appoints experienced and qualified personnel to run its day-to-day operations. The Manager holds 
a capital markets services licence issued by MAS to conduct real estate investment management activities.  
All Directors and employees of the Manager are remunerated by the Manager and not by AACI REIT.  

The Trust Deed outlines certain circumstances under which the Manager can be removed by notice in writing 
given by the Trustee, in favour of a corporation appointed by the Trustee upon the occurrence of certain events, 
including by a resolution passed by a simple majority of the Unitholders present and voting at a meeting of the 
Unitholders duly convened and held in accordance with the provision of the Trust Deed.
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Our corporate governance culture

We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance in our management of AACI REIT and 
operate in keeping with the spirit of the Code of Corporate Governance when discharging our responsibilities 
as the Manager in our dealings with Unitholders and other stakeholders. We believe that strong and effective 
corporate governance is imperative for the long-term success of AACI REIT.

This report describes the corporate governance practices and structures that were in place during the financial 
year ended 31 March 2014 (“FY2014”) with specific reference to the principles and guidelines of the Code of 
Corporate Governance issued by MAS on 2 May 2012 (“2012 Code”), and where applicable, the Listing Manual 
and the Companies Act (Chapter 50 of Singapore) (“Companies Act”). 

The following paragraphs describe our corporate governance policies and practices in FY2014 as the Manager 
with specific references to the 2012 Code to the extent the 2012 Code is relevant and applicable to real estate 
investment trusts. Any deviations from the 2012 Code are also explained.

Board matters

The Board’s conduct of affairs

Principle 1:  Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company.  
The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the company. The Board 
works with Management to achieve this objective and the Management remains accountable 
to the Board.

The Board is responsible for the overall management and corporate governance of the Manager and AACI 
REIT. It provides entrepreneurial leadership to the Manager, sets strategic directions and ensures that the 
necessary financial and human resources are in place for AACI REIT to meet its objectives. The Board oversees 
the competent management of AACI REIT by setting standards and goals for the Management, monitors the 
achievement of the targets set and Management’s performance. It also establishes a framework of prudent and 
effective controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed, including safeguarding of Unitholders’ 
interests and the assets of AACI REIT. 

The Board is also responsible in identifying key stakeholder groups and recognises that their perceptions affect 
AACI REIT’s reputation.

The Board comprises members with a breadth of expertise in real estate, accounting or finance, legal, business 
and management. The Board members are:

Mr George Wang Chairman, Non-Executive Non-Independent

Mr Tan Kai Seng Non-Executive Lead Independent

Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung Non-Executive Independent

Mr Eugene Paul Lai Chin Look Non-Executive Independent

Mr Simon Laurence Vinson Non-Executive Non-Independent

Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath Non-Executive Non-Independent

Ms Moni XinYe An Non-Executive Non-Independent

Mr Koh Wee Lih Executive Director and  
Chief Executive Officer

Non-Independent
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Corporate Governance Statement

The profiles of the Directors and other relevant information are set out on pages 21 to 24 of this Annual Report.

Each Director must act honestly, with due care and diligence and in the best interests of AACI REIT.  
This obligation ties in with the Manager’s prime responsibility in managing the assets and liabilities of AACI REIT 
for the benefit of the Unitholders. Decisions are taken objectively in the interests of AACI REIT. The Manager has 
adopted guidelines for dealings with conflict of interests and interested party transactions details of which are 
set out on pages 82 to 83 of this Annual Report. 

The Board meets regularly, at least once every quarter and as warranted by particular circumstances, to discuss 
and review the strategies and policies of AACI REIT, including any significant acquisitions and disposals,  
the annual budget, the financial performance of AACI REIT against a previously approved budget and to approve 
the release of the quarter, half-year and full-year results. The Board also reviews the risks to the assets of  
AACI REIT and acts upon recommendations from both the internal and external auditors of AACI REIT.  

In the discharge of its functions, the Board is supported by special Board Committees which also serve to ensure 
that there are appropriate checks and balances. These Board Committees are the Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee (“ARCC”) and Property Investment Committee (“PIC”). 

Each of these Board Committees operates under delegated authority from the Board. However, the Board 
retains overall responsibility for any decisions made by the Board Committees. Other Board Committees may 
be formed as dictated by business imperatives and/or to promote operational efficiency. 

Information on the ARCC can be found in the section “Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee” on pages  
77 to 79 of this Annual Report.

The PIC has adopted terms of reference to define its scope of authority and responsibilities in relation to  
AACI REIT which include: 

•  consider the appropriateness of potential purchase and sales of the following assets:

- direct property assets; and

- other Permissible Investments within Property Funds Appendix;

  and then recommend to the Board for approval;

•  consider the appropriateness of potential asset enhancement and/or development projects to be 
undertaken by AACI REIT;

•  oversee the asset management strategy of the investment property portfolio of AACI REIT; and

•  oversee the valuation process of the assets within AACI REIT.

Decisions taken and minutes of meetings of the PIC are circulated to the Board for information so that Directors 
are aware of and kept updated as to the proceedings and matters discussed during such meetings.

The Manager has adopted a set of internal guidelines which sets out the financial authority limits for acquisition 
and/or divestment of investment properties, operating/capital expenditure, leasing, disposal and write-off of 
assets, bank borrowings as well as arrangements in relation to cheque signatories that require the approval of 
the Board. Appropriate delegations of authority and approval sub-limits are also provided at Management level 
to facilitate operational efficiency. 
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The number of Board and ARCC meetings held during the year, as well as the attendance of each Board 
member at these meetings are set out in the table below:

Board meetings ARCC meetings

Number of meetings held in FY2014 4 4

Board members

Mr George Wang1 4 n/a

Mr Andrew Bird2 2 of 3 n/a

Mr Tan Kai Seng 4 4

Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung 4 4

Mr Eugene Paul Lai Chin Look 3 n/a

Mr Simon Laurence Vinson 3 3

Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath3,6 4 3 of 3

Ms Moni XinYe An4 4 n/a

Mr Andrew Lam5 – n/a

Mr Koh Wee Lih6 1 of 1 1 of 1

Notes:
n/a  not applicable as Director is not a member of the ARCC.
1  Mr George Wang was re-appointed as Chairman of the Board on 16 January 2014, following rotation between the Manager’s joint venture partners, 

AIMS Financial Group and AMP Capital.
2  Mr Andrew Bird resigned as Director on 29 January 2014.
3  Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath stepped down as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Manager on 31 December 2013 to assume the 

appointment as the Fund Manager of the AMP Capital’s Wholesale Office Fund in Sydney. Mr McGrath remains on the Board of the Manager as a 
Non-Executive, Non-Independent Director.

4  Ms Moni XinYe An was appointed as Director on 4 July 2013 to replace Mr Andrew Lam who resigned as Director on the same day. 
5  Mr Andrew Lam resigned as Director on 4 July 2013 before the first Board meeting for FY2014.
6  Mr Koh Wee Lih was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 1 January 2014 to replace Mr McGrath who is transferred to AMP Capital. He was 

subsequently appointed as Executive Director on 29 January 2014. Mr Koh Wee Lih (or Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath, as the case may be), being the 
Chief Executive Officer, attends all ARCC meetings although he is not a member of the ARCC.

The Manager’s Articles of Association permit Board meetings to be held by way of telephone conference 
or any other electronic means of communication by which all persons participating in the meeting are able 
contemporaneously, to hear and be heard by all other participants. 

The Manager issues formal letters to new Directors upon appointment. Newly appointed directors are briefed 
on their roles and responsibilities as directors of the Manager, business activities of AACI REIT and its strategic 
directions and the contribution they would be expected to make, including the time commitment and any 
participation in Board Committees. For a Director who has no prior experience as a director of a listed company, 
he or she will be encouraged to also attend the Listed Company Director (“LCD”) Programme conducted by the 
Singapore Institute of Directors in order to acquire relevant knowledge of what is expected of a listed company 
director. The LCD Programme focuses on comprehensive training of directors on compliance, regulatory and 
corporate governance matters which should allow the first time Director to have a broad understanding of the 
roles and responsibilities of a director of a listed company under the requirements of the Companies Act, the 
Listing Manual and the 2012 Code. 

The Board is regularly updated either during Board Meetings or at specially convened meetings involving the 
relevant professional advisors, auditors and Management in areas that may affect AACI REIT’s business such 
as relevant legislations and regulations, corporate governance practices, changes in risk management, financial 
reporting standards and other industry-related matters. Management also provides the Board with information 
in a timely manner through regular updates on financial results, market trends and business developments. 
Directors are also encouraged to participate in industry conferences, seminars and training programmes in 
connection with their duties.
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Corporate Governance Statement

Board composition and guidance

Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise 
objective judgement on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management and  
10 per cent shareholders. No individual or small group of individuals should be allowed to 
dominate the Board’s decision making.

Currently, the Board consists of eight members, of whom three are Independent Non-Executive Directors.  
The majority of the Board members are Non-Executive with more than one-third of the Board being independent. 
The Chief Executive Officer is the only Executive Director.  

Non-Executive Directors actively participate in setting and developing strategies and goals for Management 
as well as reviewing and assessing Management’s performance. This enables Management to benefit from the 
external, diverse and objective perspectives of Independent and Non-Executive Directors on issues that are 
brought before the Board. It also enables the Board to interact and work with Management through a robust 
exchange of ideas and views to help shape the strategic process.  

A Director is considered independent if he has no relationship with the Manager, its related companies,  
its 10.0 per cent unitholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the 
exercise of the Director’s independent business judgement with a view to the best interests of AACI REIT.

The Board is of the view that its Independent Directors are independent in character and judgement and there are 
no relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect or could appear to affect the Directors’ independent 
business judgement.

Guideline 2.2 of the 2012 Code recommends independent directors to make up at least half of the Board 
in certain specified circumstances, including where the Chairman is not an independent director. Mr George 
Wang, Chairman of the Board, is the founder and Chief Executive Officer of AIMS Financial Group and is 
not an Independent Director. Guideline 2.2 of the 2012 Code takes effect following the end of the financial 
year commencing on or after 1 May 2016. The Board will review the composition of its members during this 
transitional period in view of Guideline 2.2 of the 2012 Code. 

The Board is of the view that its current composition is adequate and comprises persons who as a group 
provide the necessary core competencies, balance and diversity of skills, experience and knowledge of  
AACI REIT. The Board is also of the view that the current Board size is appropriate taking into consideration the 
nature and scope of AACI REIT’s operations.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and 
the executives responsible for managing the company’s business. No one individual should 
represent a considerable concentration of power.

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and the positions are held by two separate persons 
in order to maintain effective segregation of duties, appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and 
greater capacity of the Board for independent decision making.
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The Chairman is responsible for the overall leadership and management of the Board to ensure its effectiveness 
on all aspects of its role. The Chairman leads the Board meeting to ensure that adequate time is available for 
open discussion and robust debate of all agenda items, in particular strategic issues as well as ensures that 
the Directors receive adequate, clear and timely information. The Chairman facilitates the contribution of Non-
Executive Directors, encourages constructive relations among the Executive Director, Non-Executive Directors 
and Management, ensures effective communication with Unitholders and promotes a high standard of corporate 
governance. The Chairman also ensures that the Board works together with integrity and competency and that 
the Board engages the Management in constructive debate on strategy, business operations, enterprise risk 
and other plans.  

The Chief Executive Officer has full executive responsibilities over the business directions and operational 
decisions in the day-to-day management of the Manager and AACI REIT.

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer facilitates effective 
oversight and a clear segregation of duties. The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are not related to 
each other.

Guideline 3.3 of the 2012 Code recommends every company to appoint an independent director to be the lead 
independent director in certain specified circumstances including where the Chairman is not an independent 
director. Mr Tan Kai Seng is the Lead Independent Director in accordance with Guideline 3.3 of the 2012 Code. 
He is also the Chairman of the ARCC. 

Board membership

Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of 
Directors to the Board.

As the Manager is not itself a listed entity, the Manager does not consider it necessary for the Board to establish 
a nominating committee. It believes that the performance of the Manager, and hence its Board, is reflected in 
the long-term success of AACI REIT. Thus, the Board performs the functions that may have been delegated to 
such a committee, namely, it administers nominations to the Board, reviews the structure, size and composition 
of the Board and reviews the independence of the Directors.  

In addition, as part of regulatory requirements, MAS also provides prior approval for any change of the Chief 
Executive Officer or of any appointment of Director. Directors of the Manager are not subjected to periodic 
retirement by rotation.  

The composition of the Board, including the selection of candidates for new appointments to the Board as part 
of the Board’s renewal process is determined using the following principles:

(a)  the Board should comprise directors with a broad range of commercial experience, including expertise in 
funds management, the property industry, legal and financial management.

(b)  at least one-third of the Board should comprise Independent Directors.

The selection of candidates is evaluated taking into account various factors including the current and mid-term 
needs and goals of AACI REIT and hence, the Manager, as well as the relevant expertise of the candidates and 
their potential contributions. Candidates may be put forward or sought through contacts and recommendations.  

It is recommended under the 2012 Code that the Board consider providing guidance on the maximum number 
of listed company representations which each Director of the company may hold in order to address competing 
time commitments faced by Directors serving on multiple boards. Although some of the Directors have other listed 
company board representations and commitments, the Board has determined through informal assessment of 
the Board’s performance that the individual Directors have devoted sufficient time and attention to his role as 
a Director and to the affairs of the Manager. The Board is of the view that such appointments do not hinder 
the Directors from carrying out their duties as Directors of the Manager and therefore believes that it would not 
be necessary to prescribe a maximum number of listed company board representations a Director may hold.  
The Board does not wish to exclude from consideration suitable individuals who, despite the demands on their 
time, have the capacity to participate and contribute as members of the Board. 
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Corporate Governance Statement

Board performance

Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board 
committees and the contribution by each Director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Directors assesses the performance of the Board as a whole, the Board Committees and the contribution of 
the Chairman and of each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board taking into consideration factors 
such as Directors’ attendance, commitments and contributions during Board meetings.  

Contributions by an individual Director may also take other forms, including providing objective perspectives on 
issues, facilitating business opportunities and strategic relationships with external parties and being accessible 
to Management outside of formal Board and/or Board Committee meetings.

The Manager believes that the Board’s performance and that of each individual Director is reflected in and 
evidenced by its or his/her proper guidance, diligent oversight and able leadership and the level of support it or 
he/she has provided to Management in steering AACI REIT in the appropriate direction as well as the long-term 
performance of AACI REIT through both favourable and challenging market conditions.   

Review of Board members’ performance is currently on an informal basis, where renewal or replacement of a 
member does not necessarily reflect his/her contributions to-date but may be driven by the need to position and 
shape the Board in line with the needs of AACI REIT and its business going forward. As at 31 March 2014, the 
Board is of the view that the contributions made by each Director and performance of the Board as a whole was 
satisfactory. The Board does not see a need to have separate evaluation of its Board Committees in FY2014. 

Access to information

Principle 6: In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Directors should be provided with complete, adequate and 
timely information prior to Board meetings and on an on-going basis so as to enable them to 
make informed decisions to discharge their duties and responsibilities.

Management provides the Board with complete, timely and adequate information on Board matters and issues 
requiring the Board’s deliberations. All Directors are also provided with ongoing reports relating to the operational 
and financial performance of the Trust to enable them to exercise effective oversight over AACI REIT. Directors 
are briefed by the Management during Board meetings, at specially convened sessions or via circulation of 
Board papers. Information provided to the Board includes explanatory background relating to the matters to be 
brought before the Board. Additionally, reports by independent external analysts on AACI REIT are forwarded to 
the Board from time to time to keep Directors apprised of analysts’ views on AACI REIT’s performance. 

Proposals to the Board and/or Board Committees for decision or mandate sought by Management are in the 
form of Board papers and/or Board Committee papers that provide facts, analysis, resource needed, conclusions 
and recommendations.

The Company Secretary of the Manager (“Secretary”) works with the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer 
to ensure that Board papers and the agenda are provided to each Director in advance of the Board meetings so 
that they can familiarise themselves with the matters prior to the Board meetings. Senior executives who can 
provide additional insights into matters to be discussed are requested to also attend the Board meetings so as 
to be at hand to answer questions. AACI REIT’s auditors who can provide additional insight into the matters for 
discussion are also invited from time to time to attend such meetings.  

The Board has separate and independent access to the Management team and the Secretary as well as to all 
statutory records of the Manager. The Secretary or its designated representative attends all Board meetings 
and Board Committee meetings to record the minutes of the meeting. The Secretary renders assistance to the 
Board as may be necessary and helps to ensure that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The 
appointment and removal of the Secretary is a Board reserved matter.

The Directors, either as a group or individually, may at the Manager’s expense seek independent professional 
advice where necessary to discharge his or their duties effectively.
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Remuneration matters

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive 
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors. No Director 
should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Principle 8: The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest and 
risk policies of the company, and should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate (a) the 
Directors to provide good stewardship of the company, and (b) key management personnel to 
successfully manage the company.  However, companies should avoid paying more than is 
necessary for this purpose. 

Principle 9: Every company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and mix of 
remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration in the company’s Annual Report. 
It should provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to 
understand the link between remuneration paid to Directors and key management personnel 
and performance.

AACI REIT, constituted as a trust, is externally managed by the Manager and accordingly, it has no personnel 
of its own. The Manager appoints experienced and qualified personnel to manage the day-to-day operations 
of the Manager and AACI REIT. The employees of the Manager, including the Chief Executive Officer and 
key management personnel are remunerated by the Manager and not by AACI REIT. The remuneration policy 
adopted by the Manager enables the Manager to attract, motivate, reward and retain quality employees.  
Employee remuneration comprises a fixed component in the form of basic salary and a variable component 
in the form of short-term and long-term bonuses. The variable component is linked to the performance of the 
individual and the Manager, which in turn is linked to the performance of AACI REIT in the context of the industry 
and the economy. This will allow alignment of employees’ interests with those of AACI REIT’s Unitholders. 
Employee remuneration is reviewed annually to align compensation of employees to market rates. 

Policy in respect of Directors’ Remuneration

The Chief Executive Officer and Non-Executive, Non-Independent Directors are not paid directors’ fees by the 
Manager. Independent Directors are paid basic fees for their Board and Board committee memberships by the 
Manager. In determining the quantum of the fees, factors such as time spent and responsibilities of the Directors 
are taken into account.  Directors’ fees are reviewed periodically to benchmark such fees against the amounts 
paid by other listed real estate investment trusts. No director decides on his own fees. 

Directors’ fees FY2014 FY2013

Board Members

Mr George Wang – –

Mr Andrew Bird1 – –

Mr Tan Kai Seng S$60,500 S$57,750

Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung S$55,000 S$52,500

Mr Eugene Paul Lai Chin Look S$55,000 S$52,500

Mr Simon Laurence Vinson – –

Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath – –

Ms Moni XinYe An – –

Mr Andrew Lam1 – –

Mr Koh Wee Lih – –

Note:
1  Mr Andrew Bird and Mr Andrew Lam resigned as Director on 29 January 2014 and 4 July 2013 respectively.
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Directors’ fees are paid by the Manager. As at 31 March 2014, there are no unit-based incentives or awards in 
place to reward employees as part of the remuneration package. 

Accountability and audit

Accountability

Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s 
performance, position and prospects.

Management provides the Board with periodic financial reports which present a balanced and understandable 
assessment of AACI REIT’s performance, position and prospects.  

The Board is responsible for providing a balanced and understandable assessment of AACI REIT’s performance, 
position and prospects through quarterly and annual financial reports as well as timely announcements through 
announcements and media release.  

Risk management, internal controls and audit

Principle 11: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that Management 
maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard the 
shareholders’ interests and the company’s assets and should determine the nature and extent 
of the significant risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives.

Principle 13: The company should establish an effective internal audit function that is adequately resourced 
and independent of the activities it audits.

The Board recognises the importance of sound internal controls and effective risk management practices to 
good corporate governance.  As such, the Manager has put in place a system of internal controls comprising 
procedures and processes to safeguard AACI REIT’s assets, Unitholders’ interests and also to manage risks. 

BDO LLP (“BDO”) has been appointed by the ARCC to provide internal audit services to review and assess the 
adequacy of the company’s internal control systems, including financial, operational, compliance and information 
technology controls over a three-year internal audit plan period. The internal auditor is independent of the 
Management and reports directly to the ARCC on audit matters and to the Board on administrative matters. 
BDO has unrestricted access to the ARCC. The internal auditor’s activities are guided by the International 
Standards for Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors.

BDO has also been appointed by the ARCC to provide enterprise risk management implementation services to 
AACI REIT. 

The role of the internal auditors is to assist the ARCC to ensure that Management maintains a sound system 
of internal controls by regular monitoring of key controls and procedures and ensuring their effectiveness.  
BDO’s scope of work include risk assessments and compliance audits in order to ensure internal controls are 
aligned to business objectives and in place to address related risks. 

During the year, BDO adopted a risk-based auditing approach covering financial, operational, compliance and 
information technology controls. The internal auditor conducts audit reviews on the internal audit plan approved 
by ARCC. Upon completion of each audit assignment, BDO reported their audit findings and recommendations 
to the Management who responded on the actions to be taken. The internal auditors submit internal audit 
reports at least twice yearly to the ARCC on the audit findings and follow-up actions taken by the Management 
based on the recommendations.
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In addition, the Management has also established risk identification and management framework development 
with BDO’s assistance and is in the process of implementing new risk management policies and updating 
current processes to ensure that the company maintains a sound system of risk management and internal 
controls to safeguard Unitholders’ interests and company’s assets. The framework strengthens the company’s 
capability to recognise and capitalise on new challenges and opportunities so as to value-add to Management’s 
decision-making, business planning and operational management and as a protection for investors. 

A Chief Risk Officer (“CRO”) has been appointed in the last quarter of FY2014 to provide oversight and  
co-ordination of risk management to the Manager and AACI REIT.

Information on risk management can be found in the section “Risk Management Report” on pages 83 to 84  
of this Annual Report.

The Board has received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and Head of Finance of the Manager that: 
(a) the financial statements are drawn up so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Group and of the Trust as at 31 March 2014, and the total return, distributable income and movements 
in Unitholders’ funds of the Group and of the Trust and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended 
in accordance with the recommendations of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 7 “Reporting 
Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and the provisions of the 
Trust Deed; and (b) based on management oversight and applicable reports submitted by independent auditors 
(for financial and non-financial reviews), the risk management and internal control systems to the extent they 
address the financial, operational, compliance and informational technology risks faced by the Group in its 
current business environment have been effectively designed, are operating effectively in all material aspects 
and were adequate as at 31 March 2014.

Based on the enterprise risk management framework established, work performed by the internal and external 
auditors, and reviews conducted by the Management and various Board Committees, the Board, with the 
concurrence of the ARCC, is of the opinion that the system of risk management and internal controls were 
adequate to address material financial, operational and compliance risks, which the Board considers relevant 
and material to its current business environment as at 31 March 2014.

The Board notes that the system of risk management and internal controls established provides reasonable but 
not absolute assurance that AACI REIT will not be adversely affected by any event that could be reasonably 
foreseen as it strives to achieve its business objectives. In this regard, the Board also notes that no system 
can provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision making, 
human error, fraud or other irregularities.

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 

Principle 12: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly 
set out its authority and duties.

The ARCC is appointed by the Board. The ARCC comprises Non-Executive Directors, the majority of whom, 
including the ARCC Chairman are independent. The members are:

Mr Tan Kai Seng ARCC Chairman

Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung ARCC Member

Mr Simon Laurence Vinson ARCC Member

Members of the ARCC are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities as they possess the requisite 
accounting and related financial management expertise and experience.  
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The ARCC is governed by written terms of reference with explicit authority to investigate any matter within its 
terms of reference, has full access to and cooperation by the Management and the CRO, has full discretion 
to invite any Director or senior executive to attend its meetings and has reasonable resources to enable it to 
discharge its functions properly.

The roles of the ARCC include:

•  reviewing significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial 
statements of AACI REIT and any announcements relating to its financial performance;

•  reviewing and reporting to the Board at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the Manager’s 
internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls as well 
as risk management processes;

•  reviewing the effectiveness of the Manager’s internal audit function;

•  reviewing the scope and results of the internal and external audit work performed and assesses the 
independence and objectivity of the internal and external auditors;

•  making recommendations to the Board on the proposals to the Unitholders on the appointment,  
re-appointment and removal of the external auditors and approving the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditors;

•  meeting with the internal and external auditors without the presence of the Management, at least once  
a year.  

During FY2014, the ARCC’s activities included the following:

•  performed independent reviews of AACI REIT’s quarterly and full year financial results before their 
submission to the Board. In conducting its review of the audited financial statements of AACI REIT for 
FY2014, the ARCC had discussed with Management and the external auditor the accounting principles 
that were applied. Based on the review and discussions with Management and the external auditors,  
the ARCC is of the view that the financial statements are fairly presented and conform to generally  
accepted accounting principles in all material aspects.

In performing its duties, the ARCC had met the external auditors without the presence of Management 
once during the year and confirmed that they had full access to and received full co-operation and support 
of the Management.

•  the ARCC reviewed and approved the audit plan and scope of external auditors on the audit of the full year 
financial statements.  
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•  the ARCC also reviewed the nature and extent of the non-audit services provided to AACI REIT by the 
external auditors for the financial year and was satisfied that the nature and extent of such services would 
not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors.  

The aggregate amount of audit fees paid and payable by the Group to the external auditor for FY2014 was 
approximately S$609,000, of which audit fees amounted to approximately S$191,000 and non-audit fees 
amounted to approximately S$418,000.

The non-audit fees paid/payable to the external auditors included (i) one-off costs incurred for the tax 
advisory and financial due diligence services in relation to the Group’s acquisition of a 49.0 per cent 
interest in Optus Centre, New South Wales, Australia; (ii) audit-related service on agreed upon procedures 
on Unitholders’ circular and Offer Information Memorandum issued; and (iii) general tax compliance and 
advisory services. 

The ARCC is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended 
to the Board the nomination of the external auditors for re-appointment of KPMG LLP as the external 
auditors of AACI REIT at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Board, on behalf of AACI REIT has complied with the requirements of Rules 712 and 715 of the Listing 
Manual in respect of the suitability of the auditing firm for AACI REIT.

•  the ARCC reviewed and approved the internal audit plan and scope of the internal auditor’s work and 
its audit programme. It reviewed the findings during the year and Management’s responses thereto and 
it satisfied itself as to the adequacy of the internal audit function. The ARCC had also met the internal 
auditors without the presence of Management once during the year and confirmed that they had full 
access to and received full co-operation and support of the Management.

•  the ARCC reviewed the enterprise risk management framework established by BDO and the policies and 
procedures put in place by Management to ensure that the company’s risk management and internal 
control systems are adequate and effective. 

•  the ARCC reviewed interested person transactions to ensure compliance with the Listing Manual and the 
Property Funds Appendix.

A Whistle Blowing Policy has been put in place to provide a channel through which employees may report in 
good faith and in confidence any concerns in financial and other matters and arrangements are in place for 
independent investigation with appropriate follow-up action. Under the Whistle Blowing Policy, all employees 
can notify in writing of any reportable conduct to the Whistleblower Protection Officer or the Chairman of the 
ARCC. The email address of  the Whistleblower Protection Officer is compliance@aimsampcapital.com.
 
The ARCC ensures that independent investigations and any appropriate follow-up actions are carried out. 

The number of ARCC meetings held and corresponding attendance for the financial year are set out on  
page 71 of this Annual Report.
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Unitholders’ rights and responsibilities

Communication with Unitholders

Principle 15: Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor relations 
policy to promote regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders

The listing rules in the Listing Manual requires that a listed entity discloses to the market matters that could 
or might reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the price of the entity’s securities.  The Manager 
upholds a strong culture of continuous disclosure and transparent communication with Unitholders and 
the investing community. The Manager’s disclosure policy requires timely and full disclosure of all material 
information relating to AACI REIT by way of public releases or announcements through the SGX-ST via SGXNET.

In order to provide regular updates to Unitholders, the Manager also conducts regular briefings and conference 
calls for analysts and media representatives which generally coincide with the release of AACI REIT’s results.  
During these briefings, the Manager reviews AACI REIT’s most recent performance, discusses the business 
outlook and solicits to understand views of Unitholders and to address Unitholders’ concerns.  In line with the 
Manager’s objective of transparent communication, briefing materials are released to the SGX-ST via SGXNET 
and posted on AACI REIT’s website at www.aimsampcapital.com.

As part of the Manager’s efforts to diversify the investor base of AACI REIT, the Manager participated 
in conferences and road-shows in Singapore, Malaysia, Hong Kong, Australia and Japan. For FY2014,  
the Chief Executive Officer, together with the Assistant Fund Manager had attended and participated in 
several real estate focused conferences and had met with many institutional and retail investors. The Manager 
also organised several property tours for the media, analysts and investors to provide greater insights into  
AACI REIT’s quality portfolio and operations. 

AACI REIT currently has four research houses/investment banks which issue research on the Trust for the 
benefit of Unitholders.

Research house / Investment bank Analyst

Standard Chartered Bank Kai Yip / Regina Lim

Macquarie Capital Securities (Singapore) Pte. Limited Brandon Lee / Tuck Yin Soong

Religare Capital Markets Limited Sumeet Singh / Tata Geoyardi 

OSK/DMG & Partners Research George Koh

Guideline 15.5 of the 2012 Code encourages companies to have policy on payment of dividends. The Manager’s 
policy is to distribute at least 90.0 per cent of AACI REIT’s taxable income comprising substantially its income 
from the letting of its properties after deduction of allowable expenses. The actual level of distribution will be 
determined at the Manager’s discretion taking into account the needs of the Trust for capital expenditure, 
working capital requirement and the liquidity position of the AACI REIT. Since the listing in 2007, the Trust has 
distributed 100.0 per cent of its taxable income to the Unitholders. 
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Unitholders’ rights and conduct of Unitholders’ meetings

Principle 14: Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably and should recognise, protect 
and facilitate the exercise of shareholders’ rights and continually review and update such  
governance arrangements.

Principle 16: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings of 
shareholders, and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various 
matters affecting the company.

An Annual General Meeting of Unitholders (“AGM”) is held after the close of each financial year.  The Notice of 
AGM setting out all items of business to be transacted at the AGM is published on SGXNET and AACI REIT’s 
website.  A copy of AACI REIT’s Annual Report is sent to all Unitholders. As and when an EGM is convened, a 
circular will be sent to each Unitholder. The circular will contain details of the matters proposed for Unitholders’ 
consideration and approval.  

Board members, senior management of the Manager and the external auditors of AACI REIT are in attendance 
at the AGM and Unitholders are given the opportunity to raise questions and clarify any issues they may have 
relating to the resolutions to be passed. Any Unitholder who is unable to attend the AGM is allowed to appoint 
up to two proxies to attend and vote on the Unitholder’s behalf.

Additional information

Dealings in AACI REIT Units

In line with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual on Dealings in Securities, a quarterly memorandum is issued 
to the Directors, officers and employees of the Manager on restrictions on dealings in the Units in AACI REIT:

(a)  during the period one month before the public announcement of the Group’s annual results and two weeks 
before the public announcement of the Group’s quarterly results, and ending on the date of announcement 
of the relevant results; and

(b)  at any time while in possession of unpublished material or price sensitive information.

The Directors and employees of the Manager are also advised not to deal in the Units on short-term  
considerations.

Each Director is required to give notice to the Manager of his acquisition of Units or changes in the number 
of Units which he holds or in which he has an interest within two business days after such acquisition or 
the occurrence of the event giving rise to changes in the number of Units which he holds or in which he has  
an interest.  

In addition, the Manager is required to announce to the SGX-ST the particulars of its holdings in the Units and 
any changes thereto within one business day after the date on which it acquires or disposes of any Units, as 
the case may be. The Manager has also undertaken that it will not deal in the Units one month before the public 
announcement of the Group’s annual results and two weeks before the public announcement of the Group’s 
quarterly results and ending on the date of announcement of the relevant results.
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Dealings with conflict of interests

The following main procedures have been established to address potential conflict of interests which may arise 
in managing AACI REIT:

(a)  the Manager is dedicated to managing AACI REIT and will not directly or indirectly manage other real 
estate investment trusts.

(b)  all executive officers of the Manager are employed by the Manager.

(c)  all resolutions in writing of the Directors of the Manager in relation to matters concerning  AACI REIT must 
be approved by a majority of the Directors.

(d)  Independent Directors constitute at least one third of the Board. The ARCC comprises Non-Executive 
Directors, the majority of whom, including the ARCC Chairman, are independent. 

(e)  in respect of matters in which the Sponsors and/or their subsidiaries have an interest, direct or indirect, any 
Directors appointed by the Sponsors and representing their interests  shall abstain from voting. In such 
matters, the quorum must comprise a majority of the  Independent Directors of the Manager and shall 
exclude such Directors of the Sponsors and/or their subsidiaries.

(f)  in respect of matters in which a Director or his associate have interest, direct or indirect,  such interested 
Director is required to disclose his interest in any proposed transaction  with AACI REIT and is required to 
abstain from voting on resolutions approving the  transaction.

Interested party transactions

The Manager has established an internal control system to ensure that all transactions involving the Trustee 
and a related party of the Manager (“Interested Party Transactions”) are undertaken on an arm’s length basis 
and on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of AACI REIT and the Unitholders. 
As a general rule, the Manager must demonstrate to the ARCC that such transactions satisfy the foregoing 
criteria which may include obtaining (where practicable) quotations from parties unrelated to the Manager,  
or obtaining one or more valuations from independent professional valuers (in accordance with the Property 
Funds Appendix).  

The Manager maintains a register to record all Interested Party Transactions which are entered into by AACI 
REIT and the bases, including any quotations from unrelated parties and independent valuations obtained to 
support such bases, on which they are entered into. Further, the following procedures will be adhered to:

(a)  transactions (either individually or as part of a series or if aggregated with other transactions involving the 
same interested party during the same financial year) equal to or exceeding S$100,000 in value but below 
three per cent of the Group’s net tangible assets will be subject to review by the ARCC at regular intervals;

(b)  transactions (either individually or as part of a series or if aggregated with other transactions involving the 
same interested party during the same financial year) equal to or exceeding three per cent but below five 
per cent of the Group’s net tangible assets will be subject to the review and prior approval of the ARCC; 

(c)  transactions (either individually or as part of a series or if aggregated with other transactions involving the 
same interested party during the same financial year) equal to or exceeding five per cent of the Group’s 
net tangible assets will be reviewed and approved prior to such transactions being entered into, on the 
basis described in the preceding paragraph by the ARCC which may, as it deems fit, request advice on the 
transaction from independent sources or advisors, including the obtaining of valuations from independent 
professional valuers.  Furthermore, under the Listing Manual and the Property Funds Appendix, such 
transactions would have to be approved by the Unitholders at a meeting of Unitholders; and

(d)  ARCC’s approval shall only be given if the transactions are on arm’s length and on normal commercial terms 
and consistent with similar types of transactions with third parties which are unrelated to the Manager.

AI
M

S 
AM

P 
C

AP
IT

AL
 IN

DU
ST

RI
AL

 R
EI

T
An

nu
al

 R
ep

or
t 2

01
4

82



Where matters concerning AACI REIT relate to transactions entered into or to be entered into by the Trustee 
for and on behalf of AACI REIT with a related party of the Manager (which would include relevant associates 
thereof), the Trustee is required to ensure that such transactions are conducted on normal commercial terms 
are not prejudicial to the interests of AACI REIT and the Unitholders and are in accordance with all applicable 
requirements of the Property Funds Appendix and/or the Listing Manual relating to the transaction in question. 
Furthermore, the Trustee has the ultimate discretion under the Trust Deed to decide whether or not to enter into 
a transaction involving an interested party of the Manager. If the Trustee is to sign any contract with a related 
party of the Manager, the Trustee will review the contract to ensure that it complies with the requirements 
relating to Interested Party Transactions in the Property Funds Appendix (as may be amended from time to time) 
and the provisions of the Listing Manual relating to Interested Person Transactions (as may be amended from 
time to time) as well as other guidelines as may from time to time be prescribed by the MAS and the SGX-ST to 
apply to real estate investment trusts.

AACI REIT will, in compliance with Rule 905 of the Listing Manual, announce any interested person transactions 
if such transaction, by itself or when aggregated with other interested person transactions entered into with the 
same interested person during the same financial year, is three per cent or more of the Group’s latest audited 
net tangible assets.

Details of all Interested Party Transactions (equal to or exceeding S$100,000 each in value) entered into by  
AACI REIT during the financial year are disclosed on page 141 of this Annual Report.
 
Risk management report

Enterprise Risk Management framework

Risk management is a fundamental part of AACI REIT’s business strategy to ensure Unitholders’ interests  
are protected. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the governance of risk. It is assisted by the ARCC to provide 
an overview of risk management at the Board level. The ARCC meets on a quarterly basis or more 
frequently, if required and these meetings are attended by the Chief Executive Officer as well as other key 
management staff. The ARCC is assisted by the CRO and a team of risk leaders on risk management issues.  
In addition, BDO was commissioned by the ARCC to provide enterprise risk management (“ERM”)  
implementation services to AACI REIT.

The Management has adopted the ERM framework to create a robust and rigorous corporate governance 
structure. This approach systematically identifies major risks that confront AACI REIT, estimates the significance 
of those risks in business processes and addresses the risks in a consistent and structured manner. Key 
risks, mitigating measures and management actions are continually identified, reviewed and monitored by 
Management as part of the ERM framework.

A robust internal control system and an effective independent audit review process make up the ERM framework, 
which addresses financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks to safeguard Unitholders’ 
interests and the AACI REIT’s assets and also to manage risks. The function head of Manager is responsible for 
the design and implementation of effective internal controls. The internal audit function carries out independent 
reviews to test the design and implementation to provide reasonable assurance to the ARCC on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the internal control system. 
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Key risks in FY2014

AACI REIT reviews and updates risk management systems and methodology yearly so as to manage risks in 
accordance with its current business conditions, preserve capital and enhance Unitholders’ value. The key risks 
that were identified in FY2014 include the following but are not limited to:

Project management risk
The construction and redevelopment of industrial properties usually takes two to three years to complete, 
depending on project size and complexity of the development. There is potential risk that such redevelopment 
and construction projects may not be completed within the anticipated time frame and budget. Project Control 
Group at project level and Development Control Group at AACI REIT / Sponsor level are formed for each 
construction or redevelopment project and meet regularly to monitor and ensure that the project is progressing 
within the timeline and budget. 

Operational risk
The Manager has established operating and reporting policies and procedures to manage day-to-day 
operational activities, which are reviewed and updated periodically to ensure relevance and effectiveness as 
well as compliance with latest legislations and regulations. For example, AACI REIT’s code of conduct states 
that it does not tolerate any malpractice, impropriety, statutory non-compliance or wrongdoing by staff in the 
course of their work. The outsourcing policy in place sets out procedures such as selection basis, conflict of 
interest check and performance assessment. A delegation of authority has also been established to provide 
guidelines on approval requirements for the different types of transactions that are managed by the outsourced 
service providers. 

In addition, regular staff training and bi-annual reviews by the Internal Auditor are conducted.

Credit risk
Tenant credit evaluations are performed by the Manager at the investment stage prior to the acquisition of an 
asset. For new leases, credit risk assessments are performed by the Property Manager prior to signing lease 
agreements. The Finance and Asset Management teams monitor the amounts owed by tenants on an ongoing 
basis. Credit risk is further mitigated by security deposits either in the form of cash or bankers’ guarantees 
issued by financial institutions with sound credit rating.

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with financial institutions which are regulated by MAS. Transactions involving 
derivative financial instruments are allowed only with counterparties who have sound credit ratings. 

Liquidity risk
The Manager maintains an efficient use of cash and debt facilities in order to balance the cost of borrowing and 
to ensure sufficient availability of credit facilities to meet its financial obligations, working capital and committed 
capital expenditure requirements. In addition, the Manager also monitors AACI REIT’s cash flow position and 
requirements to meet any operational needs and short-term financing obligation as well as compliance with the 
Property Funds Appendix in relation to limits on total borrowings. Our ability to raise funds from both banks and 
capital markets has enabled us to diversify our sources of funding to avoid over-reliance on any single source 
of funding. 

Interest rate risk
The Manager adopts a proactive interest rate management to manage the risk associated with adverse 
movement in interest rates on interest bearing borrowings which carry floating interest rates. The Manager 
also monitors regularly interest rate risk to limit AACI REIT’s net interest exposure to adverse movements in 
interest rate. As part of risk management, the Manager enters into hedging transactions to partially mitigate the 
risk of such interest rate fluctuations through the use of interest rate swaps and/or fixed rate borrowings. As at  
31 March 2014, 72.1 per cent of its total debt was on fixed rates taking into account interest rate swaps entered 
into and fixed rates medium term notes issued. 
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HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited (the “Trustee”) is under a duty to take into custody 
and hold the assets of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (the “Trust”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) in 
trust for the Unitholders.  In accordance with the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore, its 
subsidiary legislation and the Code on Collective Investment Schemes, the Trustee shall monitor the activities of  
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited (the “Manager”) for compliance with the limitations 
imposed on the investment and borrowing powers as set out in the amending and restating trust deed dated 
8 March 2007 between the Trustee and the Manager (the “Trust Deed”) in each annual accounting period and 
report thereon to Unitholders in an annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Trustee, the Manager has, in all material respects, managed the Group during 
the year covered by these financial statements, set out on pages 89 to 138, in accordance with the limitations 
imposed on the investment and borrowing powers set out in the Trust Deed.

For and on behalf of the Trustee
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited

────────────────────
Antony Wade Lewis
Director

Singapore
12 May 2014
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In the opinion of the Directors of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited, the accompanying 
financial statements set out on pages 89 to 138, comprising the balance sheets, statements of total return, 
distribution statements, statements of movements in Unitholders’ funds and portfolio statements of the Group 
and the Trust, the consolidated cash flow statement of the Group and notes to the financial statements are 
drawn up so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group and of the Trust as 
at 31 March 2014, and the total return, distributable income and movements in Unitholders’ funds of the Group 
and of the Trust and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended in accordance with the recommendations 
of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice 7 “Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by 
the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and the provisions of the Trust Deed.  At the date of this 
statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group and the Trust will be able to meet their 
financial obligations as and when they materialise.

For and on behalf of the Manager 
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited 

────────────────────
Koh Wee Lih
Director

Singapore
12 May 2014
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Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (the “Trust”) 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheets and portfolio statements of the Group 
and of the Trust as at 31 March 2014, the statements of total return, distribution statements and statements 
of movements in Unitholders’ funds of the Group and the Trust and the consolidated cash flow statement of 
the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, as set out on pages 89 to 138.

Manager’s responsibility for the financial statements

The Manager of the Trust is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with the recommendations of Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice (“RAP”) 7 
“Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants, and for 
such internal control as the Manager of the Trust determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the Manager of the Trust, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet, portfolio statement, 
statement of total return, distribution statement and statement of movements in Unitholders’ funds of the Trust 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group and of the Trust as at 31 March 2014, 
and the total return, distributable income and movements in Unitholders’ funds of the Group and of the Trust 
and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, in accordance with recommendations of RAP 7 “Reporting 
Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants

Singapore
12 May 2014

Independent Auditors’ Report
Unitholders of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT
(Constituted in the Republic of Singapore pursuant to a Trust Deed)
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       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
       Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     
Non-current assets     
Investment properties  4 1,085,500 971,040 1,085,500 971,040
Investment properties under development  5 72,000 73,945 72,000 73,945
Subsidiaries    6 – – 87,185 –*
Joint venture    7 215,186 – – –
Trade and other receivables  8 3,365 – 3,365 –
Derivative financial instruments  9 177 – 177 –
Plant and equipment   10 26 71 26 71
        1,376,254 1,045,056 1,248,253 1,045,056
     
Current assets     
Trade and other receivables  8 7,178 8,217 6,585 8,210
Cash at banks and in hand   21,809 2,975 21,414 2,974
        28,987 11,192 27,999 11,184
     
Total assets     1,405,241 1,056,248 1,276,252 1,056,240
     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables  11 39,099 19,659 37,579 19,652
Derivative financial instruments  9 49 534 49 534
        39,148 20,193 37,628 20,186
     
Non-current liabilities     
Rental deposits     5,221 7,276 5,221 7,276
Trade and other payables  11 5,587 3,481 5,587 3,481
Interest-bearing borrowings   12 442,120 356,860 314,336 356,860
Derivative financial instruments  9 1,277 3,102 737 3,102
        454,205 370,719 325,881 370,719
     
Total liabilities     493,353 390,912 363,509 390,905
     
Net assets     911,888 665,336 912,743 665,335
     
Represented by:     
Unitholders’ funds    911,888 665,336 912,743 665,335
     
* less than $1,000

Balance Sheets
As at 31 March 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
       Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     
Gross revenue    17 108,240 92,082 108,240 92,082
Property operating expenses  18 (36,345) (32,186) (36,345) (32,186)
Net property income   71,895 59,896 71,895 59,896
     
     
Share of joint venture’s results  19 (476) – – –
Foreign exchange gain/(loss)   2 – (2,513) –
Interest income     81 11 578 11
Distribution income from a subsidiary   – – 746 –
     
Borrowing costs   20 (13,810) (14,137) (12,850) (14,137)
Manager’s management fees     
-  Base fees    21 (5,803) (4,961) (5,803) (4,961)
-  Performance fees   21 – (1,056) – (1,056)
Other trust expenses   22 (1,941) (1,238) (1,858) (1,239)
Non-property expenses   (21,554) (21,392) (20,511) (21,393)
Net income     49,948 38,515 50,195 38,514
     
Net change in fair value of investment properties and
 investment properties under development   31,401 40,794 31,401 40,794
Net change in fair value of financial derivatives   2,686 (1,571) 2,686 (1,571)
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary   – 1,411 – –
Total return before income tax   84,035 79,149 84,282 77,737
Income tax expense   23 (88) –* (88) –
Total return after income tax   83,947 79,149 84,194 77,737

Earnings per Unit (cents)     

Basic and diluted    24 15.60 17.171  

1 The figure has been restated for the effect of the underwritten non-renounceable 7-for-40 rights issue that was completed on 20 March 2014 with 
92,512,712 Units issued (the “Rights Issue”). 

* less than $1,000

Statements of Total Return
Year ended 31 March 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
       Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     
Amount available for distribution to 
 Unitholders at beginning of the year   14,114 11,987 14,114 11,987
     
Total return after income tax   83,947 79,149 84,194 77,737
Net effect of tax adjustments  A (27,947) (32,434) (27,221) (31,023)
Other adjustments   B 1,060 (1) 87 –
        57,060 46,714 57,060 46,714
Amount available for distribution to 
 Unitholders from taxable income   71,174 58,701 71,174 58,701
Distribution from exempt income   148 – 148 –
Distribution from capital gain1   – 1,348 – 1,348
Amount available for distribution to 
 Unitholders     71,322 60,049 71,322 60,049
     
Distributions to Unitholders during the year:     
2.70 cents per Unit for the period from 
 1 January 2012 – 31 March 2012   – (11,984) – (11,984)
2.50 cents per Unit for the period from 
 1 April 2012 – 30 June 2012   – (11,149) – (11,149)
2.50 cents per Unit for the period from 
 1 July 2012 – 30 September 2012   – (11,208) – (11,208)
2.58 cents per Unit for the period from 
 1 October 2012 – 31 December 2012   – (11,594) – (11,594)
3.14 cents per Unit for the period from 
 1 January 2013 – 31 March 2013   (14,111) – (14,111) –
0.85 cents per Unit for the period from 
 1 April 2013 – 1 May 2013   (3,820) – (3,820) –
1.65 cents per Unit for the period from 
 2 May 2013 – 30 June 2013   (8,668) – (8,668) –
2.75 cents per Unit for the period from 
 1 July 2013 – 30 September 2013   (14,481) – (14,481) –
2.77 cents per Unit for the period from 
 1 October 2013 – 31 December 2013   (14,643)  (14,643) 
        (55,723) (45,935) (55,723) (45,935)
Amount available for distribution to 
 Unitholders at end of the year   15,599 14,114 15,599 14,114
     
Number of units entitled to 
 distributions at end of the year (’000)  24 621,156 463,2812 621,156 463,2812

Distribution per Unit (cents)  24 10.53 10.402 10.53 10.402

     
Please refer to note 3.11 for the Trust’s distribution policy.

1 This relates to a partial distribution of the capital gain arising from the divestment of 31 Admiralty Road.
2 The figures have been restated to include the effect of the Rights Issue.

Distribution Statements
Year ended 31 March 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note A - Net effect of tax adjustments

       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     
Amortisation and write-off of borrowing transaction costs  1,090 3,551 1,090 3,551
Share of joint venture’s results   476 – – –
Foreign exchange loss   – – 2,515 –
Manager’s management fees in Units     
- Base fees     2,188 2,569 2,188 2,569
- Performance fees    – 1,056 – 1,056
Net change in fair value of investment properties and
 investment properties under development   (31,401) (40,794) (31,401) (40,794)
Net change in fair value of financial derivatives   (2,686) 1,571 (2,686) 1,571
Prepayment fee on borrowings   – 147 – 147
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary   – (1,411) – –
Industrial building allowance   – 112 – 112
Temporary differences and other tax adjustments  2,386 765 1,073 765
Net effect of tax adjustments   (27,947) (32,434) (27,221) (31,023)
     
     
Note B – Other adjustments

Other adjustments for the Group comprised primarily the accounting results of the Trust’s subsidiaries.

Distribution Statements
Year ended 31 March 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
       Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     
Balance at beginning of the year   665,336 626,237 665,335 626,237
     
Operations     
Total return after income tax   83,947 79,149 84,194 77,737
     
Foreign currency translation reserve  15    
Translation differences relating to financial
 statements of foreign subsidiaries and net
 investment in foreign operations   (69) – – –
Exchange difference realised on
 liquidation of a subsidiary   – (1,411) – –
     
Hedging reserve     
Effective portion of changes in fair 
 value of cash flow hedges  16 (540) – – –
     
Unitholders’ transactions     
Issuance of Units (including units to be issued):     
-  Manager’s base fees in Units   2,188 2,569 2,188 2,569
-  Manager’s performance fees in Units   – 1,056 – 1,056
- Placement     110,000 – 110,000 –
- Rights issue     99,914 – 99,914 –
- Distribution Reinvestment Plan   7,075 3,686 7,075 3,686
- Property Manager’s fees in Units   5,035 – 5,035 –
Distributions to Unitholders   (55,723) (45,935) (55,723) (45,935)
Issue expenses    13 (5,275) (15) (5,275) (15)
Change in Unitholders’ funds resulting from
 Unitholders’ transactions   163,214 (38,639) 163,214 (38,639)
Total increase in Unitholders’ funds   246,552 39,099 247,408 39,098
     
Balance at end of the year   911,888 665,336 912,743 665,335
     
Units in issue and to be issued (’000)  14 621,156 450,890 621,156 450,890
     
Net asset value per Unit ($)   1.4680 1.4756 1.4694 1.4756

Statements of Movements in Unitholders’ Funds
Year ended 31 March 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Portfolio Statements
As at 31 March 2014

            Group Trust
             percentage of total percentage of total
         Remaining term  Occupancy rate2 At valuation Unitholders’ funds Unitholders’ funds
       Term  of land lease  2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
   Description of property  Location of land lease1 (years)  Existing use % % $’000 $’000 % % % %
  
  Group and Trust           
  Properties in Singapore – Leasehold           
1A  20 Gul Way – Phase One and  20 Gul Way 35 years 26.8 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 217,000 125,620 23.8 18.9 23.8 18.9
  Phase Two3     
2  27 Penjuru Lane  27 Penjuru Lane 45 years 35.5 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 182,600 180,050 20.0 27.1 20.0 27.1
3  8 & 10 Pandan Crescent 8 & 10 Pandan Crescent 92 years and 8 months 54.1 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 148,500 136,700 16.3 20.5 16.3 20.5
4  1A International Business Park 1A International Business Park 52 years 45.2 Business Park 100 100 86,600 83,000 9.5 12.5 9.5 12.5
5  NorthTech   29 Woodlands Industrial Park E1 60 years 40.8 Hi-Tech 97 100 86,500 82,400 9.5 12.4 9.5 12.4
6  Element 14   15 Tai Seng Drive 60 years 37.0 Light Industrial 100 100 31,400 30,000 3.5 4.5 3.5 4.5
7  Ossia Building  10 Changi South Lane 60 years 42.2 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 30,600 28,600 3.4 4.3 3.4 4.3
8  1 Bukit Batok Street 22 1 Bukit Batok Street 22 60 years 41.2  Light Industrial 95 95 24,900 24,500 2.7 3.7 2.7 3.7
9  61 Yishun Industrial Park A 61 Yishun Industrial Park A 60 years 38.4 Light Industrial 71 45 24,630 24,500 2.7 3.7 2.7 3.7
10  3 Tuas Avenue 2  3 Tuas Avenue 2 73 years 40.9 Manufacturing 100 100 24,020 24,000 2.6 3.6 2.6 3.6
11  135 Joo Seng Road 135 Joo Seng Road 60 years 40.3 Light Industrial 92 88 23,900 25,500 2.6 3.8 2.6 3.8
12  Builders Centre  11 Changi South Street 3 60 years 41.0 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 23,100 24,700 2.5 3.7 2.5 3.7
13  3 Toh Tuck Link  3 Toh Tuck Link 60 years 42.6 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 22,400 22,050 2.5 3.3 2.5 3.3
14  23 Tai Seng Drive 23 Tai Seng Drive 60 years 36.3 Light Industrial 95 95 20,500 19,230 2.2 2.9 2.2 2.9
15  56 Serangoon North Avenue 4 56 Serangoon North Avenue 4 60 years 41.1 Warehouse and Logistics 89 14 19,300 17,200 2.1 2.6 2.1 2.6
16  8 & 10 Tuas Avenue 20 8 Tuas Avenue 20 57 years and 2 months 36.6 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 16,190 16,100 1.8 2.4 1.8 2.4 
      10 Tuas Avenue 20 60 years 38.5         
17  King Plastic  541 Yishun Industrial Park A 60 years 40.2 Manufacturing 100 100 15,800 15,250 1.7 2.3 1.7 2.3
18  30 & 32 Tuas West Road 30 & 32 Tuas West Road 60 years 41.7 Warehouse and Logistics 42 100 15,000 17,400 1.7 2.6 1.6 2.6
19  2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65 2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65 60 years 33.0 Manufacturing 100 100 13,610 13,600 1.5 2.0 1.5 2.0
20  8 Senoko South Road 8 Senoko South Road 60 years 40.6 Manufacturing 100 100 13,300 12,800 1.5 1.9 1.5 1.9
21  7 Clementi Loop  7 Clementi Loop 60 years 39.2 Warehouse and Logistics 81 81 13,050 13,040 1.4 2.0 1.4 2.0
22  Xpress Building  1 Kallang Way 2A 60 years 41.2 Manufacturing 100 100 12,800 14,400 1.4 2.2 1.4 2.2
23  Aalst Chocolate Building 26 Tuas Avenue 7 60 years 39.7 Manufacturing 100 100 10,300 10,100 1.1 1.5 1.1 1.5
24  Fullmark Industrial Building 10 Soon Lee Road 60 years 26.9 Manufacturing 100 100 9,500 10,300 1.0 1.5 1.0 1.5
             
  Investment properties, at valuation      1,085,500 971,040 119.0 145.9 118.9 145.9

  Investment properties under development, at valuation            
1A  20 Gul Way – Phase Two3 20 Gul Way 35 years 26.8 – N.A. N.A. – 61,050 – 9.2 – 9.2
1B  20 Gul Way – Phase 2E and 20 Gul Way 35 years 26.8 – N.A. N.A. 44,500 – 4.9 – 4.9 –
  Phase Three3

25  103 Defu Lane 104 103 Defu Lane 10 60 years 29.2 – N.A. N.A. 27,500 12,895 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0

            72,000 73,945 7.9 11.2 7.9 11.2
  Joint venture (note 7)
26  Optus Centre5  1-5 Lyonpark Road,  Freehold N.A. Business Park 100 N.A. 214,974 – 23.6 – – –
      Macquarie Park, Australia
             
            1,372,474 1,044,985 150.5 157.1 
  Other assets and liabilities (net)       (460,586) (379,649) (50.5) (57.1) 
  Total Unitholders’ funds       911,888 665,336 100.0 100.0 

1 Includes the period covered by the relevant options to renew.
2 The occupancy rates shown are on committed basis.
3 On 22 August 2011, the Group started the redevelopment of 20 Gul Way.  Phase One of 20 Gul Way achieved Temporary Occupation Permit 

(“TOP”) on 29 October 2012 and was transferred from “Investment properties under development” to “Investment properties” during the year ended  
31 March 2013. Phase Two of 20 Gul Way was classified as “Investment properties under development” as at 31 March 2013 and upon achieving 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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            Group Trust
             percentage of total percentage of total
         Remaining term  Occupancy rate2 At valuation Unitholders’ funds Unitholders’ funds
       Term  of land lease  2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
   Description of property  Location of land lease1 (years)  Existing use % % $’000 $’000 % % % %
  
  Group and Trust           
  Properties in Singapore – Leasehold           
1A  20 Gul Way – Phase One and  20 Gul Way 35 years 26.8 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 217,000 125,620 23.8 18.9 23.8 18.9
  Phase Two3     
2  27 Penjuru Lane  27 Penjuru Lane 45 years 35.5 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 182,600 180,050 20.0 27.1 20.0 27.1
3  8 & 10 Pandan Crescent 8 & 10 Pandan Crescent 92 years and 8 months 54.1 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 148,500 136,700 16.3 20.5 16.3 20.5
4  1A International Business Park 1A International Business Park 52 years 45.2 Business Park 100 100 86,600 83,000 9.5 12.5 9.5 12.5
5  NorthTech   29 Woodlands Industrial Park E1 60 years 40.8 Hi-Tech 97 100 86,500 82,400 9.5 12.4 9.5 12.4
6  Element 14   15 Tai Seng Drive 60 years 37.0 Light Industrial 100 100 31,400 30,000 3.5 4.5 3.5 4.5
7  Ossia Building  10 Changi South Lane 60 years 42.2 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 30,600 28,600 3.4 4.3 3.4 4.3
8  1 Bukit Batok Street 22 1 Bukit Batok Street 22 60 years 41.2  Light Industrial 95 95 24,900 24,500 2.7 3.7 2.7 3.7
9  61 Yishun Industrial Park A 61 Yishun Industrial Park A 60 years 38.4 Light Industrial 71 45 24,630 24,500 2.7 3.7 2.7 3.7
10  3 Tuas Avenue 2  3 Tuas Avenue 2 73 years 40.9 Manufacturing 100 100 24,020 24,000 2.6 3.6 2.6 3.6
11  135 Joo Seng Road 135 Joo Seng Road 60 years 40.3 Light Industrial 92 88 23,900 25,500 2.6 3.8 2.6 3.8
12  Builders Centre  11 Changi South Street 3 60 years 41.0 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 23,100 24,700 2.5 3.7 2.5 3.7
13  3 Toh Tuck Link  3 Toh Tuck Link 60 years 42.6 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 22,400 22,050 2.5 3.3 2.5 3.3
14  23 Tai Seng Drive 23 Tai Seng Drive 60 years 36.3 Light Industrial 95 95 20,500 19,230 2.2 2.9 2.2 2.9
15  56 Serangoon North Avenue 4 56 Serangoon North Avenue 4 60 years 41.1 Warehouse and Logistics 89 14 19,300 17,200 2.1 2.6 2.1 2.6
16  8 & 10 Tuas Avenue 20 8 Tuas Avenue 20 57 years and 2 months 36.6 Warehouse and Logistics 100 100 16,190 16,100 1.8 2.4 1.8 2.4 
      10 Tuas Avenue 20 60 years 38.5         
17  King Plastic  541 Yishun Industrial Park A 60 years 40.2 Manufacturing 100 100 15,800 15,250 1.7 2.3 1.7 2.3
18  30 & 32 Tuas West Road 30 & 32 Tuas West Road 60 years 41.7 Warehouse and Logistics 42 100 15,000 17,400 1.7 2.6 1.6 2.6
19  2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65 2 Ang Mo Kio Street 65 60 years 33.0 Manufacturing 100 100 13,610 13,600 1.5 2.0 1.5 2.0
20  8 Senoko South Road 8 Senoko South Road 60 years 40.6 Manufacturing 100 100 13,300 12,800 1.5 1.9 1.5 1.9
21  7 Clementi Loop  7 Clementi Loop 60 years 39.2 Warehouse and Logistics 81 81 13,050 13,040 1.4 2.0 1.4 2.0
22  Xpress Building  1 Kallang Way 2A 60 years 41.2 Manufacturing 100 100 12,800 14,400 1.4 2.2 1.4 2.2
23  Aalst Chocolate Building 26 Tuas Avenue 7 60 years 39.7 Manufacturing 100 100 10,300 10,100 1.1 1.5 1.1 1.5
24  Fullmark Industrial Building 10 Soon Lee Road 60 years 26.9 Manufacturing 100 100 9,500 10,300 1.0 1.5 1.0 1.5
             
  Investment properties, at valuation      1,085,500 971,040 119.0 145.9 118.9 145.9

  Investment properties under development, at valuation            
1A  20 Gul Way – Phase Two3 20 Gul Way 35 years 26.8 – N.A. N.A. – 61,050 – 9.2 – 9.2
1B  20 Gul Way – Phase 2E and 20 Gul Way 35 years 26.8 – N.A. N.A. 44,500 – 4.9 – 4.9 –
  Phase Three3

25  103 Defu Lane 104 103 Defu Lane 10 60 years 29.2 – N.A. N.A. 27,500 12,895 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0

            72,000 73,945 7.9 11.2 7.9 11.2
  Joint venture (note 7)
26  Optus Centre5  1-5 Lyonpark Road,  Freehold N.A. Business Park 100 N.A. 214,974 – 23.6 – – –
      Macquarie Park, Australia
             
            1,372,474 1,044,985 150.5 157.1 
  Other assets and liabilities (net)       (460,586) (379,649) (50.5) (57.1) 
  Total Unitholders’ funds       911,888 665,336 100.0 100.0 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

its TOP on 7 May 2013, it was transferred to “Investment properties” during the year ended 31 March 2014. On 5 September 2013, the Group 
commenced development of Phase 2 Extension (“2E”) and Phase Three of 20 Gul Way. 

4 On 21 January 2013, the Group started the redevelopment of 103 Defu Lane 10 and transferred it to “Investment properties under development”.
5 Relates to a 49.0% (2013: Nil) interest in Optus Centre. As at 31 March 2014, the property was valued at AUD377.0 million ($438.7 million) by Savills 

Valuations Pty Ltd.
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Portfolio Statements
As at 31 March 2014

              Trust
              percentage of total
         Remaining term  Occupancy rate At valuation  Unitholders’ funds
       Term   of land lease  2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
   Description of property Location of land lease (years) Existing use  % % $’000 $’000 % %
  
  Trust          
          
1-24 Investment properties, at valuation – Leasehold (94 – 95)      1,085,500 971,040 118.9 145.9
          
  Investment properties under development, at valuation
1A  20 Gul Way – Phase Two  20 Gul Way 35 years 26.8 – N.A. N.A. – 61,050 – 9.2
1B  20 Gul Way – Phase 2E and 
  Phase Three   20 Gul Way 35 years 26.8 – N.A. N.A. 44,500 – 4.9 –
25  103 Defu Lane 10 103 Defu Lane 10 60 years 29.2 – N.A. N.A. 27,500 12,895 3.0 2.0
            1,157,500 1,044,985 126.9 157.1
  
  Other assets and liabilities (net)       (244,757) (379,650) (26.8) (57.1)
  Total Unitholders’ funds        912,743 665,335 100.0 100.0

Portfolio statement by industry segment is not presented as the Group’s and the Trust’s activities for the years 
ended 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013 related wholly to investing in real estate in the industrial sector.

Year ended 31 March 2014

As at 31 March 2014, the investment properties and investment properties under development were valued 
by Colliers International Consultancy & Valuation (Singapore) Pte Ltd or Knight Frank Pte Ltd. The investment 
property held through a joint venture was valued by Savills Valuations Pty Ltd. The Manager believes that the 
independent valuers have appropriate professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and 
category of the properties being valued.  The valuations of the investment properties were based on capitalisation 
approach, discounted cash flow analysis and direct comparison methods. The investment properties under 
development were valued on an as-it-is basis using the same methods, as well as the residual land method.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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              Trust
              percentage of total
         Remaining term  Occupancy rate At valuation  Unitholders’ funds
       Term   of land lease  2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
   Description of property Location of land lease (years) Existing use  % % $’000 $’000 % %
  
  Trust          
          
1-24 Investment properties, at valuation – Leasehold (94 – 95)      1,085,500 971,040 118.9 145.9
          
  Investment properties under development, at valuation
1A  20 Gul Way – Phase Two  20 Gul Way 35 years 26.8 – N.A. N.A. – 61,050 – 9.2
1B  20 Gul Way – Phase 2E and 
  Phase Three   20 Gul Way 35 years 26.8 – N.A. N.A. 44,500 – 4.9 –
25  103 Defu Lane 10 103 Defu Lane 10 60 years 29.2 – N.A. N.A. 27,500 12,895 3.0 2.0
            1,157,500 1,044,985 126.9 157.1
  
  Other assets and liabilities (net)       (244,757) (379,650) (26.8) (57.1)
  Total Unitholders’ funds        912,743 665,335 100.0 100.0

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Year ended 31 March 2013

As at 31 March 2013, all the investment properties and investment properties under development were valued 
by CBRE Pte. Ltd., except for 103 Defu Lane 10 which was valued by Colliers International Consultancy & 
Valuation (Singapore) Pte Ltd.  The Manager believes that the independent valuers have appropriate professional 
qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of the properties being valued. The valuations 
of the investment properties were based on capitalisation approach, discounted cash flow analysis and direct 
comparison methods. The investment properties under development were valued on an as-it-is basis using the 
same methods, as well as the residual land method.
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        Group
          2014 2013
         Note $’000 $’000
     
Cash flow from operating activities   
Total return after income tax     83,947 79,149
Adjustments for:   
Share of joint venture’s results     476 –
Borrowing costs       13,810 14,137
Depreciation       45 55
Foreign exchange gain     (2) –
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary     – (1,411)
Manager’s base fees in Units     2,188 2,569
Manager’s performance fees in Units     – 1,056
Net change in fair value of financial derivatives     (2,686) 1,571
Net change in fair value of investment properties 
 and investment properties under development    (31,401) (40,794)
Income tax expense      88 –*
Operating income before working capital changes    66,465 56,332
   
Changes in working capital   
Rental and security deposits      2,105 2,647
Trade and other receivables     818 (2,442)
Trade and other payables     2,908 3,877
Income tax paid      (88) –*
Cash from operating activities     72,208 60,414
   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Capital expenditure on investment properties and 
 investment properties under development     (66,706) (99,094)
Investment in a joint venture     (208,387) –
Distributions from a joint venture     995 –
Proceeds from divestment of investment properties   A – 15,938
Purchase of plant and equipment     – (76)
Net cash used in investing activities     (274,098) (83,232)
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Borrowing costs paid      (15,040) (12,963)
Distributions to Unitholders     (48,329) (42,222)
Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings     260,181 251,013
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings     (183,049) (173,600)
Proceeds from placement     110,000 –
Proceeds from Rights Issue     99,914 –
Issue expenses paid      (2,977) (15)
Net cash from financing activities     220,700 22,213
   
Net increase/(decrease) in cash at banks and in hand    18,810 (605)
Cash at banks and in hand at beginning of the year    2,975 3,580
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held    24 –
Cash at banks and in hand at end of the year    21,809 2,975
   
* less than $1,000

Consolidated Cash Flow Statements
Year ended 31 March 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note:

A  Cash inflow from divestment of investment properties

        Group
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000
   

Investment properties     – 16,438
Disposal related costs     – (500)
Cash received      – 15,938

   

B  Significant non-cash transactions

  There were the following significant non-cash transactions:

(i) During the financial year, the Trust issued an aggregate of 671,102 (2013: 1,685,917) new  
Units amounting to $1.1 million (2013: $1.9 million) as payment for the performance component of the 
Manager’s management fees. 

(ii) During the financial year, the Trust issued an aggregate of 2,203,440 (2013: 898,298) new  
Units amounting to $3.5 million (2013: $1.3 million) as partial payment for the base fee element of the 
Manager’s management fees incurred.

(iii) During the financial year, the Trust issued an aggregate of 4,360,350 (2013: 2,963,238) new  
Units amounting to $7.1 million (2013: $3.7 million) as part payment of the distributions, pursuant to 
the Trust’s Distribution Reinvestment Plan.

(iv) During the financial year, the Trust issued an aggregate of 3,259,877 new Units amounting to  
$5.0 million (2013: Nil) to AIMS AMP Capital Property Management Pte. Ltd. (“Property Manager”) as 
payment for marketing services provided by the Property Manager in respect of securing tenants at 
three industrial properties, namely 20 Gul Way Phase One and Phase Two, 27 Penjuru Lane and 103 
Defu Lane 10. 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statements
Year ended 31 March 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Manager and the Trustee on 12 May 2014.

1  GENERAL

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (the “Trust”) is a Singapore-domiciled real estate unit trust constituted 
pursuant to the trust deed dated 5 December 2006, subsequently amended by the amending and 
restating deed dated 8 March 2007 (“Trust Deed”), entered into between AIMS AMP Capital Industrial 
REIT Management Limited (the “Manager”) and HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited (the 
“Trustee”).  The Trust Deed is governed by the laws of the Republic of Singapore.  The Trustee is under a 
duty to take into custody and hold the assets of the Trust in trust for the holders (“Unitholders”) of units in 
the Trust (the “Units”).

The Trust was formally admitted to the Official List of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(“SGX-ST”) on 19 April 2007 (the “Listing Date”) and was included under the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) 
Investment Scheme on 21 February 2007.  On 21 March 2007, the Trust was declared as an authorised unit 
trust scheme under the Trustees Act, Chapter 337.

The principal activity of the Trust is to invest in a diversified portfolio of income-producing real estate 
located throughout the Asia-Pacific region that is used for industrial purposes, including, but not limited to, 
warehousing and distribution activities, business park activities and manufacturing activities.  The principal 
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 6.

The consolidated financial statements relate to the Trust and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

The Trust has entered into several service agreements in relation to the management of the Trust and its 
property operations.  The fee structures of these services are summarised below.

1.1 Trustee’s fees

Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee fee shall not exceed 0.1% per annum of the value of the Deposited 
Property (as defined in the Trust Deed) or such higher percentage as may be fixed by an extraordinary 
resolution at a meeting of Unitholders.

The Trustee’s fee is accrued daily and is payable out of the value of the Deposited Property of the Group 
on a monthly basis, in arrears.  The Trustee is also entitled to reimbursement of expenses incurred in the 
performance of its duties under the Trust Deed.

1.2 Manager’s fees

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager is entitled to receive the base fee and performance fee as follows:

Base fee

The Manager is entitled to a base fee of 0.5% per annum of the value of the Deposited Property or such 
higher percentage as may be fixed by an extraordinary resolution of a meeting of Unitholders.

The base fees are payable in the form of cash and/or Units as the Manager may elect. Where the base fee 
(or any part or component thereof) is payable in the form of cash, such payment shall be made out of the 
Deposited Property within 30 days of the last day of each calendar month in arrears. Where the base fee  
(or any part or component thereof) is payable in the form of Units, such payment shall be made within  
30 days of the last day of each calendar half-year in arrears.

Performance fee

The Manager is also entitled to a performance fee of 0.1% per annum of the value of the Deposited Property, 
provided that growth in distribution per Unit (“DPU”) in a given financial year (calculated before accounting 
for the performance fee in that financial year) relative to the DPU in the previous financial year exceeds 
2.5%.  The performance fee is 0.2% per annum if the growth in DPU in a given financial year relative to the 
DPU in the previous financial year exceeds 5.0%.

Notes to the Financial Statements
AI

M
S 

AM
P 

C
AP

IT
AL

 IN
DU

ST
RI

AL
 R

EI
T

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

4
10

0



1  GENERAL (continued)

1.2 Manager’s fees (continued)

Performance fee (continued)

For a period of 60 months from the Listing Date (save for the period from Listing Date to 31 March 2008 
whereby no performance fee is payable), 100% of the performance fee shall be paid to the Manager in Units 
and thereafter, at the Manager’s discretion.

Acquisition and divestment fee

The Manager is entitled to receive the following fees:

(a) An acquisition fee of 1.0% of the acquisition price of any Authorised Investment (as defined in the 
Trust Deed), acquired directly or indirectly by the Trust or such higher percentage as may be fixed by 
an extraordinary resolution at a meeting of Unitholders; and

(b) A divestment fee of 0.5% of the sale price of any Authorised Investment sold or divested by the Trustee 
or such higher percentage as may be fixed by an extraordinary resolution at a meeting of Unitholders.

The acquisition and divestment fee will be paid in the form of cash and/or Units and is payable as soon as 
practicable after completion of the acquisition or disposal.

1.3 Property Manager’s fees

The Manager and the Trustee have appointed AIMS AMP Capital Property Management Pte Ltd, a company 
related to the Manager, as the property manager (the “Property Manager”) to operate, maintain and market 
all of the properties of the Group.  The following fees are payable to the Property Manager in respect of all 
of the investment properties in Singapore:

(i) A property management fee of 2.0% per annum of the rental income of each of the relevant properties.

(ii) A lease management fee of 1.0% per annum of the rental income of each of the relevant properties.

(iii) A marketing services commission equivalent to:

(a) one month’s gross rent for securing a tenancy of three years or less;
(b) two months’ gross rent for securing a tenancy of more than three years;
(c) half of one month’s gross rent for securing a renewal of tenancy of three years or less;
(d) one month’s gross rent for securing a renewal of tenancy of more than three years.

If a third party agent secures a tenancy, the Property Manager will be responsible for all marketing 
services commissions payable to such third party agent, and the Property Manager shall be entitled to 
a marketing services commission equivalent to:

(a) 1.2 months’ gross rent for securing a tenancy of three years or less; or
(b) 2.4 months’ gross rent for securing a tenancy of more than three years.

The gross rental, where applicable, includes service charge, reimbursements, which are the 
contributions paid by tenants towards covering the operating maintenance expenses of the property, 
and licence fees.

(iv) A project management fee in relation to development or redevelopment, the refurbishment, retrofitting 
and renovation works on a property.

(v) A property tax services fee in respect of property tax objections submitted to the tax authority on any 
proposed annual value of a property if, as a result of such objections, the proposed annual value is 
reduced resulting in property tax savings for the relevant property.

The Property Manager’s fees are payable monthly, in arrears.
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2  BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Accounting 
Practice (“RAP”) 7 “Reporting Framework for Unit Trusts” issued by the Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants (“ISCA”), the applicable requirements of the Code on Collective Investment Schemes (“CIS 
Code”) issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”) and the provisions of the Trust Deed. RAP 7 
requires that accounting policies adopted should generally comply with the principles relating to recognition 
and measurement of the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). 

2.2 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for investment properties, 
investment properties under development, derivative financial instruments and certain financial assets and 
liabilities, which are stated at fair value.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Trust.  
All financial information presented in Singapore dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless 
otherwise stated.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with RAP 7 requires the Manager to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a 
material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following notes:

• Note 8   -     Valuation of trade and other receivables
• Note 27   -   Valuation of financial instruments, investment properties and investment properties 

under development

2.5 Changes in accounting policies

RAP 7 (2012)

From 1 January 2013, the Group and the Trust have adopted the revised RAP 7 issued by ISCA in  
June 2012.
 
The adoption of RAP 7 (2012) has resulted in additional disclosures in the financial statements of the Group 
and the Trust for the current and comparative years. These have been included in the Statement of Total 
Return and notes to the financial statements.
 
The adoption of RAP 7 (2012) affects only the disclosures made in the financial statements. There is no 
financial effect on the financial position, total return or distributable income of the Group and the Trust 
for the current and previous financial years. Accordingly, the adoption of RAP 7 (2012) has no impact on 
earnings and distribution per unit.

Notes to the Financial Statements
AI

M
S 

AM
P 

C
AP

IT
AL

 IN
DU

ST
RI

AL
 R

EI
T

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

4
10

2



2  BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

2.5 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement

FRS 113 Fair value measurement establishes a single framework for measuring fair value and making 
disclosures about fair value measurements, when such measurements are required or permitted by other 
FRSs. In particular, it unifies the definition of fair value as the price at which an orderly transaction to sell an 
asset or to transfer a liability would take place between market participants at the measurement date. It also 
replaces and expands the disclosure requirements about fair value measurements in other FRSs, including 
FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

From 1 April 2013, in accordance with the transitional provisions of FRS 113, the Group has applied the 
new fair value measurement guidance prospectively, and has not provided any comparative information for 
new disclosures. Notwithstanding the above, the change had no significant impact on the measurements 
of the Group’s assets and liabilities. The additional disclosures necessary as a result of the adoption of this 
standard has been included in note 27.

3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these financial 
statements, except as explained in note 2.5, which addresses the changes in accounting policies.

3.1 Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies 
adopted by the Group.  Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to 
the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have deficit balance.

Investments in joint ventures (equity-accounted investees)

Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual 
agreement and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for under the equity method and is recognised initially at cost.  
The cost of the investment includes transaction costs.

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income of equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the 
Group, from the date that joint control commences until the date that joint control ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount 
of the investment, together with any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the 
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation to fund 
the investee’s operations or has made payments on behalf of the investee. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  Unrealised gains arising 
from transactions with the equity-accounted investee are eliminated against the investment to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in the investee.  Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains 
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Accounting for subsidiaries by the Trust

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Trust’s balance sheet at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses.

3.2 Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the entities in the 
Group at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate 
at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost 
in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during 
the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in statement of total return, except 
for the foreign currency differences which are recognised in Unitholders’ funds arising on the retranslation 
of monetary items that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation and a 
financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent that the 
hedge is effective. 

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the 
end of the reporting period. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Singapore 
dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated 
at the closing rate.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. However, if the 
foreign operation is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation 
difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that 
control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the foreign currency translation 
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to the statement of total return as part of the gain or 
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its investment in subsidiary or a joint controlled 
entity, which includes a foreign operation while retaining significant influence or joint control; the relevant 
proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of total return.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned 
nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary 
item that are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised in the foreign 
currency translation reserves in Unitholders’ funds.

Hedge of a net investment in foreign operation

The Group applies hedge accounting to foreign currency differences arising between the functional currency 
of the foreign operation and the Trust’s functional currency (Singapore dollars), regardless of whether the net 
investment is held directly or through an intermediate parent. 

Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of a net 
investment in a foreign operation are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in Unitholders’ 
funds to the extent that the hedge is effective.  To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, such differences 
are recognised in the statement of total return.  When the hedged net investment is disposed of, the relevant 
amount in the foreign currency translation reserve is transferred to the statement of total return as part of 
the gain or loss on disposal. 
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Investment properties

Investment properties and investment properties under development

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or capital appreciation or both.  
Investment properties under development are properties being constructed or developed for future use as 
investment properties.  Investment properties and investment properties under development are accounted 
for as non-current assets and are stated at initial cost on acquisition and at fair value thereafter.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the investment property or investment property 
under development. Transaction costs shall be included in the initial measurement. The cost of  
self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other cost directly 
attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended use and capitalised 
borrowing costs.

Fair value is determined in accordance with the Trust Deed, which requires the investment properties to be 
valued by independent registered valuers in the following events:

(i) in such manner and frequency as required under the CIS code issued by MAS; and

(ii) at least once in each period of 12 months following the acquisition of each investment property.

Any increase or decrease on revaluation is credited or charged directly to the statement of total return as a 
net change in fair value of investment properties and investment properties under development.

Subsequent expenditure relating to investment properties or that has already been recognised is added to 
the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of originally 
assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the Group.  All other subsequent 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

When an investment property or investment property under development is disposed of, the resulting gain 
or loss recognised in the statement of total return is the difference between net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the property.

Investment properties are not depreciated. The properties are subject to continued maintenance and 
regularly revalued on the basis set out above.

3.4 Plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

When parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds 
from disposal with the carrying amount of plant and equipment, and are recognised in the statement of  
total return.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and 
its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of 
the day-to-day servicing of plant and equipment are recognised in the statement of total return as incurred.
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.4 Plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount 
substituted for cost, less its residual value.

Depreciation is recognised in the statement of total return on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of each part of an item of plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.

The estimated useful lives for the current period are as follows:

Plant and machinery            - 3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted, 
if appropriate.

3.5 Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial assets

The Group recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets 
(including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised on the trade date, which is 
the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in 
which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest 
in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset  
or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, and only 
when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group has the following non-derivative financial assets: loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise cash at banks and in hand, and trade and other receivables excluding 
prepayment.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initially recognises financial liabilities on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled  
or expired.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, and only 
when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (continued)

Non-derivative financial liabilities (continued)

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such 
financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise interest-bearing borrowings, rental deposits and trade and other payables.
 
Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to manage its interest rate risk exposure.  

On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the 
relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including the risk management objectives 
and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will 
be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Group makes an assessment, both at 
the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instruments 
are expected to be “highly effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective 
hedged items attributable to the hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a 
range of 80%-125%. For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly 
probable to occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect 
the reported statement of total return.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; any attributable transaction costs are recognised in the 
statement of total return as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair 
value, and changes therein are accounted for as described below.

Cash flow hedges 

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows 
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast 
transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative 
is recognised in the hedging reserve in Unitholders’ funds. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair 
value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the statement of total return. When the hedged item is 
a non-financial asset, the amount accumulated in the hedging reserve is reclassified to the statement of 
total return in the same period or periods during which the non-financial item affects the statement of total 
return. In other cases as well, the amount accumulated in hedging reserve is reclassified to the statement 
of total return in the same period that the hedged item affects the statement of total return. If the hedging 
instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or 
the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the forecast transaction 
is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in hedging reserve is reclassified to the statement of  
total return.

Other non-trading derivatives 

When a derivative financial instrument is not designated in a hedge relationship that qualifies for hedge 
accounting, all changes in its fair value are recognised immediately in the statement of total return.
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.6 Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through the statement of total return is assessed at the end of 
each reporting year to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset 
is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset, and that the loss event has a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can 
be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, 
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, 
indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers 
or issuers in the Group, economic conditions that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active 
market for a security.

Loans and receivables 

The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset and 
collective level. All individually significant loans and receivables are assessed for specific impairment.  
All individually significant receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for 
any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified.  Loans and receivables that are not individually 
significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together loans and receivables with similar 
risk characteristics.
 
In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing 
of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for the Manager’s judgement as to whether current 
economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested 
by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in the statement of total return and reflected 
in an allowance account against loans and receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be 
recognised. When a subsequent event (e.g. repayment by a debtor) causes the amount of impairment loss 
to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through the statement of total return.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than investment properties and investment 
properties under development, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair 
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be 
tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the 
“cash-generating unit”, or “CGU”).

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of total return.

Impairment losses recognised in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the 
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.7 Unitholders’ funds

Unitholders’ funds represent the Unitholders’ residual interest in the Group’s net assets upon termination 
and is classified as equity.  Incremental cost, directly attributable to the issuance, offering and placement of 
Units in the Trust are deducted directly against Unitholders’ funds.

3.8 Revenue recognition

(i) Rental income and service charge from operating leases

Rental income and service charges receivable under operating leases are recognised in the statement 
of total return on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease except where an alternative basis is 
more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets. Contingent rentals 
are recognised as an income in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(ii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.
 

3.9 Expenses

(i) Manager’s fees

Manager’s fees are recognised on an accrual basis based on the applicable formula stipulated in note 1.2.

(ii) Property expenses

Property expenses are recognised on an accrual basis. Included in property expenses is the Property 
Manager’s fee which is based on the applicable formula stipulated in note 1.3.

(iii) Other trust expenses

Other trust expenses are recognised on an accrual basis.

(iv) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs comprise interest expenses on borrowings and amortisation of borrowing related 
transaction costs which are recognised in the statement of total return using the effective interest rate 
method over the period for which the borrowings are granted.

3.10 Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in the 
statements of total return except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in Unitholders’ funds.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  Deferred tax is not 
recognised for:

• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit; 

• differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future; and

• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.10 Income tax expense (continued)

The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which 
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets 
and liabilities. For investment property that is measured at fair value, the presumption that the carrying 
amount of the investment property will be recovered through sale has not been rebutted. Deferred tax is 
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse and 
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 
and assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or 
on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax 
assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
 
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain 
tax positions and whether additional taxes may be due.  The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities 
are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of 
tax law and prior experience with tax authorities. The assessment of these factors relies on estimates and 
assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become 
available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; 
such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.

The Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore (“IRAS”) has issued a tax ruling on the taxation of the Trust 
and its Unitholders.  Subject to meeting the terms and conditions of the tax ruling issued by IRAS, which 
includes a distribution of at least 90.0% of the taxable income of the Trust, the Trustee will not be assessed 
to tax on the taxable income of the Trust that is distributed to the Unitholders. In the event that there are 
subsequent adjustments to the taxable income when the actual taxable income of the Trust is finally agreed 
with IRAS, such adjustments are taken up as an adjustment to the taxable income for the next distribution 
following the agreement with IRAS.

Distributions made by the Trust out of such taxable income to Individuals and Qualifying Unitholders  
(as defined below) are distributed without deducting any income tax. This treatment is known as the “tax 
transparency” treatment.

The Trustee will deduct tax at the reduced rate of 10.0% from distributions made out of the Trust’s taxable 
income (that is not taxed at the Trust level) during the period from the date of constitution to 17 February 2010, 
to beneficial Unitholders who are foreign non-individual Unitholders (as defined below).  It was announced in 
the Singapore Budget 2010 that the existing income tax concession for listed Real Estate Investment Trusts 
on distributions made to foreign non-individual Unitholders will be renewed for the period from 18 February 
2010 to 31 March 2015.  Based on this, the reduced rate of 10.0% in respect of distributions made to foreign 
non-individual Unitholders during the period from 18 February 2010 to 31 March 2015 will continue to apply.

For other types of Unitholders, the Trustee is required to withhold tax at the prevailing corporate tax rate on 
the distributions made by the Trust.  Such Unitholders are subject to tax on the regrossed amounts of the 
distributions received but may claim a credit for the tax deducted at source by the Trustee.

Any portion of the taxable income that is not distributed, known as retained taxable income, tax will be 
assessed on the Trustee in accordance with section 10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134. Where 
such retained taxable income is subsequently distributed, the Trustee need not deduct tax at source.  
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.10 Income tax expense (continued)

A “Qualifying Unitholder” is a Unitholder who is:

• A Singapore-incorporated company which is a tax resident in Singapore;

• A body of persons other than a company or a partnership, registered or constituted in Singapore (e.g. 
a town council, a statutory board, a registered charity, a registered cooperative society, a registered 
trade union, a management corporation, a club and a trade industry association); or

• A Singapore branch of a foreign company which has been presented a letter of approval from IRAS 
granting waiver from tax deducted at source in respect of distributions from the Trust.

A “foreign non-individual Unitholder” is one which is not a resident of Singapore for income tax  
purposes and:

• who does not have a permanent establishment in Singapore; or

• who carries on any operation in Singapore through a permanent establishment in Singapore, where 
the funds used to acquire the Units are not obtained from that operation in Singapore.

The above tax transparency ruling does not apply to gains from sale of real estate properties, if considered 
to be trading gains derived from a trade or business carried on by the Trust. Tax on such gains or profits will 
be assessed, in accordance with section 10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134 and collected from the 
Trustee. Where the gains are capital gains, it will not be assessed to tax and the Trustee and the Manager 
may distribute the capital gains without tax being deducted at source.

The Trust’s foreign-sourced trust distributions and interest income to be received in Singapore by the Trust 
from its Australian subsidiary, where such income originate from property rental income from its investment 
in Optus Centre, Sydney, Australia and income derived from property-related activities or other activities in 
line with the regulatory requirements imposed on the Trust, are exempted from Singapore income tax under 
Section 13(12) of the Singapore Income Tax Act. 

This tax exemption is granted by the IRAS but is subject to certain conditions, including the condition that 
the Trustee is a tax resident of Singapore. 

3.11 Distribution policy

The Manager’s distribution policy is to distribute at least 90.0% of its taxable income, comprising 
substantially its income from the letting of its properties after deduction of allowable expenses. The actual 
level of distribution will be determined at the Manager’s discretion.

The Trust makes distributions to Unitholders on a quarterly basis, with the amount calculated as at 30 June, 
30 September, 31 December and 31 March in each distribution year for the three-month period ending on 
each of those dates.  Under the Trust Deed, the Manager shall pay distributions within 90 days after the end 
of each distribution period. Distributions, when paid, will be in Singapore dollars.

In the event that there are gains arising from sale of real estate properties, and only if such gains are surplus 
to the business requirements and needs of the Group, the Manager may, at its discretion, direct the Trustee 
to distribute such gains. Such gains, if not distributed, will form part of the Deposited Property. The Trustee 
shall not distribute any gain arising from the sale of real estate properties until IRAS agrees on the nature of 
the gain and its taxability.

On 20 April 2012, the Manager announced the implementation of the Distribution Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”), 
which provides eligible Unitholders with the option to elect to receive Units in lieu of the cash amount of any 
distribution (including any interim, final, special or other distribution declared on their holding of Units (after 
the deduction of applicable income tax, if any)). The Manager may, in its absolute discretion, determine that 
the DRP will apply to any particular distribution.
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.12 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenue and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any 
of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the 
Group’s Chief Operating Decision Makers (“CODMs”) which comprise mainly the Board of Directors and 
Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Manager to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire plant and equipment, 
investment properties and investment properties under development.

3.13 New standards, interpretations not yet adopted and revised recommended accounting practice

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 April 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  Those 
which may be relevant to the Group that are expected to be applicable to the financial statements of the 
Group and the Trust in future financial periods, and which the Group does not plan to early adopt, are set 
out below.
 
Applicable for the Group’s financial statements for year ending 31 March 2015

FRS 111 Joint Arrangements establishes the principles for classification and accounting of joint 
arrangements. The adoption of this standard would require the Group to re-assess and classify its joint 
arrangements as either joint operations or joint ventures based on its rights and obligations arising from the 
joint arrangements. Under this standard, interests in joint ventures will be accounted for using the equity 
method whilst interests in joint operations will be accounted for using the applicable FRSs relating to the 
underlying assets, liabilities, revenue and expense items arising from the joint operations. When making this 
assessment, the Group considers the structure of the arrangements, the legal form of any separate vehicles, 
the contractual terms of the arrangements and other facts and circumstances.  Previously, the structure of 
the arrangement was the sole focus of classification.

The Group has re-evaluated its involvement in its joint venture and the investment would continue to be 
recognised by applying the equity method. There will be no impact on the recognised assets, liabilities and 
total returns of the Group when the Group adopts FRS 111 on 1 April 2014.

FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities brings together into a single standard all the disclosure 
requirements about an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated 
structured entities. The Group is currently assessing the disclosure requirements for interests in subsidiaries 
and joint arrangements in comparison with the existing disclosures. FRS 112 requires the disclosure of 
information about the nature, risks and financial effects of these interests. 

4  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

        Group and Trust
          2014 2013
         Note $’000 $’000

   
At 1 April       971,040 846,438
Capital expenditure capitalised     3,450 765
Disposal of investment properties     – (16,438)
Net change in fair value of investment properties     19,630 26,655
Transfer from investment properties under development  5 91,380 125,620
Transfer to investment properties under development   5 – (12,000)
At 31 March      1,085,500 971,040
   
At the reporting date, 17 (2013: 17) investment properties of the Group and the Trust had been pledged as 
security for interest-bearing borrowings (note 12). 
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5  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

        Group and Trust
          2014 2013
         Note $’000 $’000

   
At 1 April       73,945 84,500
Development expenditure capitalised     77,664 88,926
Net change in fair value of investment properties under development  11,771 14,139
Transfer from investment properties    4 – 12,000
Transfer to investment properties    4 (91,380) (125,620)
At 31 March      72,000 73,945

Included in development expenditure capitalised is $857,806 (2013: $1,719,737) of borrowing costs 
capitalised during the year.

The investment properties under development were stated at fair value based on valuations performed by 
independent professional valuers as at 31 March 2014.

 6  SUBSIDIARIES

        Trust
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000

   
Unquoted equity, at cost     55,341 –*
Loan to a subsidiary     31,844 –
        87,185 –*

* less than $1,000

The loan to a subsidiary is non-trade in nature, unsecured and bears an effective interest rate of 8.0% 
per annum. The settlement of the amount is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. 
As the amount is, in substance, a part of the Trust’s net investment in subsidiary, it is stated at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

        Effective equity
         interest held
       Country of   by the Group
        incorporation/  2014 2013
        constitution % %

  
Subsidiaries of the Trust   
AACI REIT MTN Pte. Ltd.1   Singapore 100.0 100.0
   
AACI REIT Opera Pte. Ltd.1   Singapore 100.0 –
   
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (Australia) Trust2  Australia 100.0 –
   
 AA REIT Macquarie Park Investment Trust3  Australia 100.0 –
   
1 Audited by KPMG LLP Singapore. 
2 Not required to be audited by the laws of the country of its constitution. 
3 Audited by a member firm of KPMG International. 
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6  SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

AACI REIT MTN Pte. Ltd.

AACI REIT MTN Pte. Ltd. (“AACI MTN”), a wholly-owned subsidiary, was incorporated on 28 May 2012.  
Its principal activity is to issue notes under an unsecured Multi-currency Medium Term Note Programme for 
and on behalf of the Trust, provide financial and treasury services in connection with such issuance and lend 
the proceeds from the issuance of such notes to the Trust. 

AACI REIT Opera Pte. Ltd. 

AACI REIT Opera Pte. Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary, was incorporated on 23 October 2013. Its principal 
activity is that of an investment holding company.

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (Australia) Trust 

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (Australia) Trust, a wholly-owned trust, was constituted on 15 November 
2013. Its principal activity is to acquire and hold Australian property related investments.

AA REIT Macquarie Park Investment Trust 

AA REIT Macquarie Park Investment Trust, a wholly-owned trust, was constituted on 15 November 2013.  
Its principal activity is to acquire and hold Australian property related investments.

 7  JOINT VENTURE

        Group
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000

   
Joint venture      215,186 –

Details of the joint venture are as follows:
        Effective equity
        interest held
        by the Group
        Country of 2014 2013
        constitution % %

  
Macquarie Park Trust1   Australia 49.0 –

1 Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia.
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 7  JOINT VENTURE (continued)

Summary financial information for the joint venture, adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the 
Group since the acquisition of the joint venture in 2014 is as follows:

           2014
           $’000

 
Assets and liabilities 
Non-current assets      214,974
Current assets       2,615
Total assets       217,589
 
Current liabilities      2,403
Total liabilities       2,403
 
Results 
Revenue        2,593
Expenses        (353)
Total return for the year      2,240
 
The Group’s share of joint venture results included impairment arising from the write-off of acquisition costs 
incurred for the acquisition of the joint venture as the underlying investment property was stated at fair value 
of AUD377.0 million ($438.7 million) as of 31 March 2014. 

8  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    
Trade receivables   4,144 4,802 4,144 4,802
Impairment losses   (507) (1,099) (507) (1,099)
Net trade receivables   3,637 3,703 3,637 3,703
Deposits      61 1 61 1
Distribution receivable from a subsidiary   – – 539 –
Other receivables   1,393 86 269 86
Loans and receivables   5,091 3,790 4,506 3,790
Prepayments    5,452 4,427 5,444 4,420
      10,543 8,217 9,950 8,210

Current     7,178 8,217 6,585 8,210
Non-current      3,365 – 3,365 –
      10,543 8,217 9,950 8,210

The ageing of the loans and receivables at the reporting date was:

      Group Trust Group and Trust
      Gross Gross Impairment loss
      2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
      $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      
Not past due  1,677 565 1,092 565 – –
Past due 1 – 30 days 793 1,115 793 1,115 37 13
Past due 31 – 90 days 725 550 725 550 38 39
Past due more than 90 days 2,403 2,659 2,403 2,659 432 1,047
    5,598 4,889 5,013 4,889 507 1,099
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8  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movement in impairment losses in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

        Group and Trust
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000

  
At 1 April       1,099 380
Impairment loss recognised     298 719
Amounts written off      (890) –
At 31 March      507 1,099

The Manager believes that no additional impairment allowance is necessary in respect of the remaining 
trade receivables as these receivables relate to tenants that have provided sufficient security deposits, 
bankers’ guarantees or other forms of collateral.

9  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    
Non-current assets    
Interest rate swaps   177 – 177 –
    
Current liabilities    
Interest rate swaps   (49) (534) (49) (534)
    
Non-current liabilities    
Interest rate swaps   (1,277) (3,102) (737) (3,102)

The Group and the Trust use interest rate swaps to manage their exposures to interest rate movements 
on the floating rate interest-bearing term loans by swapping the interest expense on a portion of interest-
bearing borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates.

As at 31 March 2014, the Group had interest rate swap contracts with tenors between three and seven 
years with total notional amounts of $126.8 million and AUD55.3 million (2013: $201.8 million).  Under the 
contracts, the Group pays fixed interest rates of 0.748% to 3.825% (2013: 0.748% to 1.86%) and receives 
interest at the three-month Singapore Dollar swap offer rate (“SOR”) or Australia Bank Bill Swap Bid Rate 
(“BBSY”). 

The Group has designated the interest rate swap contracts with notional amounts of AUD55.3 million as 
hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge to hedge against variable interest payment arising from the 
AUD110.7 million five year floating rate loan.
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9  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash inflows/(outflows) of derivative financial 
instruments:

      Contractual cash flows
       Carrying  Less than 1 to 5 After
       amount Total 1 year years 5 years
  Group     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      
2014

Non-current assets      
Interest rate swaps  177 191 (485) 311 365
      
Current liabilities  
Interest rate swaps  (49) (49) (49) – –  
  
Non-current liabilities      
Interest rate swaps  (1,277) (1,382) (1,295) (87) –
     (1,149) (1,240) (1,829) 224 365
      
2013
     
Current liabilities      
Interest rate swaps  (534) (480) (480) – –
      
Non-current liabilities      
Interest rate swaps  (3,102) (2,994) (1,156) (2,113) 275
     (3,636) (3,474) (1,636) (2,113) 275

      Contractual cash flows
       Carrying  Less than 1 to 5 After
       amount Total 1 year years 5 years
  Trust     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      
2014
     
Non-current assets      
Interest rate swaps  177 191 (485) 311 365
      
Current liabilities  
Interest rate swaps  (49) (49) (49) – –
      
Non-current liabilities      
Interest rate swaps  (737) (796) (578) (218) –
     (609) (654) (1,112) 93 365
      
2013
          
Current liabilities      
Interest rate swaps  (534) (480) (480) – –
      
Non-current liabilities      
Interest rate swaps  (3,102) (2,994) (1,156) (2,113) 275
     (3,636) (3,474) (1,636) (2,113) 275
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10  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

          Group and Trust
          Plant and machinery
           $’000

Cost     
At 1 April 2012       91
Additions        76
At 31 March 2013      167
Additions        –
At 31 March 2014      167
   
Accumulated depreciation   
At 1 April 2012       41
Depreciation for the year      55
At 31 March 2013      96
Depreciation for the year      45
At 31 March 2014      141
   
Carrying amounts   
At 1 April 2012       50
    
At 31 March 2013      71
   
At 31 March 2014      26
 

11  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

     
Trade payables and accrued expenses   34,182 16,241 33,571 16,229
Amounts due to related parties (trade)     
- the Manager    1,129 59 1,129 59
- the Property Manager    552 3,730 552 3,730
- the Trustee    40 34 40 34
- subsidiary    – – – 6
Goods and services tax payable   318 155 318 154
Rental received in advance   379 44 379 44
Rental and security deposits   5,355 1,195 5,355 1,195
Interest payable    2,731 1,682 1,822 1,682
      44,686 23,140 43,166 23,133
     
Current     39,099 19,659 37,579 19,652
Non-current    5,587 3,481 5,587 3,481
      44,686 23,140 43,166 23,133
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12  INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

     
Non-current     
Secured     
Term loans    239,932 229,257 111,161 229,257
Revolving credit facility   75,800 – 75,800 –
      315,732 229,257 186,961 229,257
Unsecured     
Medium Term Notes   130,000 130,000 130,000 130,000
      445,732 359,257 316,961 359,257
Less: Unamortised borrowing transaction costs  (3,612) (2,397) (2,625) (2,397)
      442,120 356,860 314,336 356,860

As at 31 March 2014, the Group had the following borrowings:

(a) Secured debt facility and dual currency revolving credit facility

A secured debt facility and dual currency revolving credit facility granted to the Trust by financial 
institutions and secured on the following:

(i) Mortgage over 17 (2013: 17) investment properties and investment properties under development 
of the Trust in Singapore; 

(ii) Assignment of rights, title and interest in leases, insurances and rental deposits of the related 
mortgage properties; and

(iii) A fixed and floating charge over certain assets arising out of or in connection with the mortgaged 
properties.

(b) Secured AUD term loan facility 

On 7 February 2014, AMP Capital AA REIT Investments (Australia) Pty Limited, in its capacity as 
trustee of AA REIT Macquarie Park Investment Trust (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Trust) 
(the “Borrower”), entered into a AUD110,655,000 syndicated facility agreement with two financial 
institutions for a five-year debt facility (“AUD term loan facility”) to partially fund the acquisition of the 
49.0% interest in Optus Centre.  

 
The details of the collateral are as follows:

(i) first ranking general security agreement over the current and future assets and undertakings of 
the Borrower, including the Borrower’s units in Macquarie Park Trust; and

(ii) first ranking specific security agreement from AMP Capital Investors Limited in its capacity as 
trustee for AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (Australia) Trust over the units of the Borrower  and 
all present and future rights and property interests in respect of the units in the Borrower. 

(c) Unsecured medium term notes

On 25 July 2012, the Trust, through AACI MTN (the “Issuer”), established a $500 million Multi-currency 
Medium Term Note Programme (the “MTN Programme”).  Under the MTN Programme, the Issuer may, 
subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, from time to time issue notes 
denominated in Singapore dollars and/or any other currencies. The payment of all amounts payable 
in respect of the notes will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by HSBC Institutional Trust 
Services (Singapore) Limited in its capacity as Trustee of the Trust.
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12  INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

(c) Unsecured medium term notes (continued)

At the reporting date, $130 million medium term notes (the “Notes”) have been issued. These  
comprise of:

(i) $100 million four year Notes with a fixed rate of 4.90% per annum, payable semi-annually in 
arrears, fully repayable on 8 August 2016; and

(ii) $30 million seven year Notes with a fixed rate of 4.35% per annum, payable semi-annually  
in arrears, fully repayable on 5 December 2019.

The Notes shall at all times rank pari passu without any preference or priority among themselves, and 
pari passu with all other present and future unsecured obligations (other than subordinated obligations 
and priorities created by law) of the Issuer.

Terms and debt repayment schedule

Terms and conditions of the interest-bearing borrowings are as follows:

       Group Trust
       Nominal  Face Carrying Face Carrying 
       interest rate  Date of value  amount  value  amount
       % maturity $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

      
2014
     
SGD fixed rate 

medium term notes 4.90 August 2016 100,000 99,366 100,000 99,366
SGD fixed rate 

medium term notes 4.35 December 2019 30,000 29,794 30,000 29,794
SGD floating rate 

term loan   SOR1 + margin October 2015 38,161 37,388 38,161 37,388
SGD floating rate 

term loan   SOR1 + margin October 2015 73,000 73,000 73,000 73,000
Dual currency floating 

rate revolving   SOR1 + margin/ 
credit facility   BBSY2 + margin October 2016 75,800 74,788 75,800 74,788

AUD floating rate 
term loan   BBSY2 + margin February 2019 128,771 127,784 – –

       445,732 442,120 316,961 314,336
      
2013
     
SGD fixed rate medium 

term notes   4.90 August 2016 100,000 99,097 100,000 99,097
SGD fixed rate medium 

term notes   4.35 December 2019 30,000 29,758 30,000 29,758
SGD floating rate 

term loan   SOR1 + margin October 2015 100,000 98,748 100,000 98,748
SGD floating rate 

term loan   SOR1 + margin October 2015 129,257 129,257 129,257 129,257
       359,257 356,860 359,257 356,860
      
1 Swap offer rate
2 Bank Bill Swap Bid Rate
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12  INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash inflows/(outflows) of financial liabilities, 
including interest payments:

       Contractual cash flows
       Carrying  Less than  1 to 5  More than 
       amount  Total 1 year years 5 years
       $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014
    
Group     
Medium term notes  129,160 (148,961) (5,089) (112,567) (31,305)
Term loans   238,172 (278,173) (8,141) (270,032) –
Revolving credit facility  74,788 (85,258) (2,842) (82,416) –
Trade and other payables  44,686 (44,686) (39,099) (5,587) –
Rental deposits (non-current)  5,221 (5,221) – (4,910) (311)
     492,027 (562,299) (55,171) (475,512) (31,616)
     
Trust     
Medium term notes  129,160 (148,961) (5,089) (112,567) (31,305)
Term loans   110,388 (115,323) (2,415) (112,908) –
Revolving credit facility  74,788 (85,258) (2,842) (82,416) –
Trade and other payables  43,166 (43,166) (37,579) (5,587) –
Rental deposits (non-current)  5,221 (5,221) – (4,910) (311)
     362,723 (397,929) (47,925) (318,388) (31,616)
         
2013
        
Group     
Medium term notes  128,855 (156,936) (6,205) (117,467) (33,264)
Term loans   228,005 (244,521) (5,652) (238,869) –
Trade and other payables  23,140 (23,140) (19,659) (3,481)  –
Rental deposits (non-current)  7,276 (7,276) – (6,895) (381)
     387,276 (431,873) (31,516) (366,712) (33,645)
     
Trust     
Medium term notes  128,855 (156,936) (6,205) (117,467) (33,264)
Term loans   228,005 (244,521) (5,652) (238,869) –
Trade and other payables  23,133 (23,133) (19,652) (3,481)  –
Rental deposits (non-current)  7,276 (7,276) – (6,895) (381)
     387,269 (431,866) (31,509) (366,712) (33,645)

13  ISSUE EXPENSES

Issue expenses comprised professional, underwriting, selling commission and other costs relating to 
issuance of Units in the Trust.  These expenses are deducted directly against Unitholders’ funds. 

Included in professional fees are non-audit fees paid to the auditors of the Trust of $90,000 (2013: nil) in 
connection with the rights issue during the financial year. 
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14  UNITS IN ISSUE AND TO BE ISSUED

        Group and Trust
          2014 2013
         Note ’000 ’000

   
Units in issue at beginning of the year     449,399 443,852
Issue of new Units:   

Units issued pursuant to placement    (a) 68,750 –
Units issued as payment of Manager’s performance fees  (b) 671 1,686
Units issued as payment of Manager’s base fees   (c) 2,203 898
Units issued as payment of Property Manager’s fees  (d) 3,260 –
Units issued pursuant to Distribution Reinvestment Plan  (e) 4,360 2,963
Units issued pursuant to Rights issue    (f) 92,513 –

Units in issue at end of the year      621,156 449,399
   
Units to be issued:   

Manager’s base fees     – 820
Manager’s performance fees     – 671

Total Units in issue and to be issued at end of the year   621,156 450,890
   
(a) On 2 May 2013, the Trust issued 68,750,000 new Units at an issue price of $1.60 per Unit by way of 

private placement, raising gross proceeds of $110.0 million. 

(b) On 27 May 2013, the Trust issued 671,102 new Units at an issue price of $1.5739 per Unit as payment 
of the performance component of the Manager’s management fee for the year ended 31 March 2013.  

 
 On 25 May 2012, the Trust issued 1,685,917 Units at an issue price of $1.1139 per Unit as payment of 

the performance component of the Manager’s management fee for the year ended 31 March 2012. 
 
(c) During the financial year ended 31 March 2014, there were the following issuances of Units to the 

Manager: 

(i) 1,428,430 new Units on 30 July 2013 at an average issue price of $1.6186 per Unit as partial 
payment of the base fee element of the management fee incurred for the period from 1 January 
2013 to 30 June 2013; and 

(ii) 775,010 new Units on 30 January 2014 at an average issue price of $1.5097 per Unit as partial 
payment of the base fee element of the management fee incurred for the period from 1 July 2013 
to 31 December 2013.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2013, 898,298 Units were issued on 31 January 2013 at 
an average issue price of $1.4191 per Unit as partial satisfaction of the base fee element of the 
management fee incurred for the period from 1 July 2012 to 31 December 2012.

The issue price for management fees paid/payable in Units was determined based on the volume 
weighted average traded price for a Unit for all trades done on the SGX-ST in the ordinary course of 
trading for the last 10 business days of the relevant period in which the fees accrued.  
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14  UNITS IN ISSUE AND TO BE ISSUED (continued)

(d) During the financial year ended 31 March 2014, there were the following issuances of Units to the 
Property Manager:

 (i) 2,121,777 new Units on 28 June 2013 at an issue price of $1.6276 per Unit as payment of the 
marketing services provided by the Property Manager in respect of securing tenants at two 
properties, namely 20 Gul Way Phase One and 27 Penjuru Lane; and

(ii) 1,138,100 new Units on 13 September 2013 at an issue price of $1.3895 per Unit as payment of 
the marketing services provided by the Property Manager in respect of securing tenants at two 
properties, namely 20 Gul Way Phase Two and 103 Defu Lane 10. 

The issue price for marketing services fee paid/payable in Units was determined based on the volume 
weighted average traded price for a Unit for all trades done on the SGX-ST in the ordinary course of 
trading for the last 10 business days of the relevant period in which the fees accrued.  

(e) During the financial year ended 31 March 2014, there were the following issuances of Units pursuant 
to the Trust’s DRP:

(i) 2,939,794 new Units on 18 June 2013 at an issue price of $1.6727 per Unit. The new Units were 
issued to eligible Unitholders who elected to participate in the Trust’s DRP in respect of the 4Q 
FY2013 distribution;

(ii) 127,298 new Units on 20 September 2013 at an issue price of $1.5598 per Unit. The new Units 
were issued to eligible Unitholders who elected to participate in the Trust’s DRP in respect of the 
1Q FY2014 distribution; and 

(iii) 1,293,258 new Units on 18 December 2013 at an issue price of $1.5134 per Unit. The new Units 
were issued to eligible Unitholders who elected to participate in the Trust’s DRP in respect of the 
2Q FY2014 distribution.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2013, there were the following issuances pursuant to the 
Trust’s DRP:

(i) 420,591 Units on 19 June 2012 at an issue price of $1.1622 per Unit.  The new Units were issued 
to eligible Unitholders who elected to participate in the Trust’s DRP in respect of the 4Q FY2012 
distribution;

(ii) 2,348,604 Units on 18 September 2012 at an issue price of $1.2421 per Unit.  The new Units 
were issued to eligible Unitholders who elected to participate in the Trust’s DRP in respect of the 
1Q FY2013 distribution; and

(iii) 194,043 Units on 20 December 2012 at an issue price of $1.4378 per Unit.  The new Units were 
issued to eligible Unitholders who elected to participate in the Trust’s DRP in respect of the 2Q 
FY2013 distribution.

(f) On 20 March 2014, the Trust issued 92,512,712 new Units at an issue price of $1.08 per Unit in an 
underwritten and renounceable rights issue on the basis of 7 rights Units for every 40 existing Units, 
raising gross proceeds of $99.9 million.  

15  FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of foreign operations, the effective portion of any foreign currency differences 
arising from hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation as well as the foreign exchange gains and 
losses arising from monetary items that are considered to form part of the Group’s net investment in a 
foreign operation.
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16  HEDGING RESERVE

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative change (net of taxes) in the fair value 
of cash flow hedging instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet affected the statement 
of total return. 

17  GROSS REVENUE

        Group and Trust
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000

   
Property rental income     81,852 66,921
Property expenses recoverable from tenants and other property income  26,388 25,161
        108,240 92,082

18  PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES

        Group and Trust
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000

   
Land rent       7,196 6,383
Property and lease management fees     2,475 2,032
Property tax      10,265 10,212
Other operating expenses     16,409 13,559
        36,345 32,186

19  SHARE OF JOINT VENTURE’S RESULTS

The share of joint venture’s results relates to the Group’s share of profits from its 49.0% interest in Macquarie 
Park Trust (the joint venture which holds the legal title to Optus Centre). Included in the share of joint 
venture’s results is an impairment loss arising from the write-off of acquisition costs incurred in relation to 
the acquisition of the joint venture. Included in the acquisition costs are non-audit fees paid to the auditors 
of the Trust of $67,500 (2013: nil) and other auditors of $181,169 (2013: nil). 

20   BORROWING COSTS

       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

     
Interest expense   12,203 10,147 11,314 10,147
Amortisation of borrowing transaction costs  1,161 3,551 1,090 3,551
Others     446 439 446 439
      13,810 14,137 12,850 14,137

21  MANAGER’S MANAGEMENT FEES

        Group and Trust
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000

   
Base fees   
- Paid/payable in cash      3,615 2,392
- Paid/payable in Units     2,188 2,569
        5,803 4,961
   
Performance fees paid/payable in Units     – 1,056
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22  OTHER TRUST EXPENSES

       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

     
Audit fees paid/payable to:      
-   auditors of the Trust   175 174 165 165
-   other auditors   16 – – –
Non-audit fees paid/payable to auditors of the Trust     
- current year   79 98 76 95
- prior year    – 25 – 25
Trustees’ fees    282 204 223 200
Valuation fees    198 139 198 139
Professional fees   286 (76) 269 (76)
Non-deal road show expenses   81 44 81 44
Other expenses    824 630 846 647
      1,941 1,238 1,858 1,239

23  INCOME TAX EXPENSE

       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    
Current tax expense    
Current year    –* –* –* –*
Withholding tax    88 –  88 – 
Total tax expense   88 –* 88 –*

Reconciliation of effective tax rate:
       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

     
Total return before income tax   84,035 79,149 84,282 77,737
     
Tax calculated using Singapore tax rate of 17%   14,286 13,455 14,328 13,215
Withholding tax paid/payable   88 – 88 –
Non-tax chargeable items   (5,795) (7,175) (5,795) (6,935)
Non-tax deductible items   1,209 1,642 1,167 1,642
Utilisation of industrial building allowance   – 19 – 19
Tax transparency   (9,700) (7,941) (9,700) (7,941)
      88 –* 88 –*

* less than $1,000.
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24  EARNINGS AND DISTRIBUTION PER UNIT

Earnings per Unit

The earnings per Unit is computed using total return after tax over the weighted average number of Units 
for the financial year as follows:  

        Group
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000

   
Total return for the year after income tax     83,947 79,149

        Trust
        Number of Units
          2014 2013
          ’000 ’000
           Restated

   
Units in issue at beginning of the year     449,399 443,852
Effect of Units issued/issuable relating to:   
- Placement      62,911 –
- Manager’s performance fees     568 1,438
- Manager’s base fees      1,088 150
- Property Manager’s fees     2,234 –
- Distribution Reinvestment Plan     2,747 1,639
- Rights issue     3,042 –
- Adjustment for effect of Rights Issue     16,030 13,8091

Weighted average number of Units at end of the year    538,019 460,888

1 The figures have been restated for the effect of the underwritten non-renounceable 7-for-40 rights issue that was completed on 20 March 
2014 with 92,512,712 Units issued. 

The diluted earnings per Unit is the same as the basic earnings per Unit as there was no dilutive instrument 
as at the reporting date.

Distribution per Unit

        Group and Trust
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000

   
Amount available for distribution to Unitholders at the end of the year  57,208 48,062

        Trust
        Number of Units
          2014 2013
          ’000 ’000
           Restated

   
Number of Units entitled to distributions at 

the end of the year     621,156 449,399
Adjustment for effect of Rights Issue     – 13,882
Adjusted number of Units entitled to distributions at 

the end of the year     621,156 463,281
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25  COMMITMENTS

(a) Lease commitments

The Group leased out its investment properties. The future minimum lease payments receivable under 
non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the reporting date are as follows:

        Group and Trust
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000

   
Within 1 year     88,209 78,747
After 1 year but within 5 years     156,220 169,184
After 5 years     23,140 27,612

        267,569 275,543
   
(b) Operating lease commitments

The Group is required to pay Jurong Town Corporation (“JTC”), the Housing and Development Board 
(“HDB”) and Ascendas Land (Singapore) Pte Ltd (“Ascendas”) annual land rent (including payable 
for investment properties under development) in respect of certain properties. The annual land rent 
payable is based on the market land rent in the relevant year of the lease term. However, the lease 
agreement limits any increase in the annual land rent from year to year to 5.5% and 7.6% for lease 
with JTC or HDB and Ascendas respectively, of the annual land rent for the immediate preceding year.   
The land rent paid to JTC, HDB and Ascendas amounted to $6,875,000 (2013: $5,782,000), $1,296,000 
(2013: $1,119,000) and $400,000 (2013: $372,000) respectively, in relation to 23 (2013: 23) properties 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2014 (including amounts that have been directly recharged  
to tenants).

(c) Capital commitments

        Group and Trust
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000

Capital expenditure commitments contracted but not provided for  32,370 36,009
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26  SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, significant related party transactions carried 
out in the normal course of business on terms agreed between the parties are as follows:

       Group Trust
        2014 2013 2014 2013
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Manager     
Manager’s management fees     

Base fees    5,803 4,961 5,803 4,961
Performance fees   – 1,056 – 1,056
Acquisition fee relating to  purchase of an 

interest in an investment property   2,094 – – –
Divestment fee relating to sale 

of an investment property   – 82 – 82
     
Entities controlled by corporate 

shareholders of the Manager     
Debt advisory fees   184 200 – 200
Trustee fees    51 – – –
Investment management fees   15 – – –
     
The Property Manager     
Property management fees   1,637 1,338 1,637 1,338
Lease management fees   819 669 819 669
Marketing services commissions   2,950 4,508 2,950 4,508
Project management fees   2,881 1,405 2,881 1,405
     
The Trustee     
Trustee fees    223 200 223 200
     
Subsidiaries     
Distribution income   – – 746 –
Interest income    – – 557 –
Interest expense   – – 6,205 3,587
Service fee expense   – – 43 26
 

27  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital management

The Board of the Manager reviews the Group’s debt and capital management and financing policy regularly 
so as to optimise the Group’s funding structure. The Board also monitors the Group’s exposure to various 
risk elements and externally imposed requirements by closely adhering to clearly established management 
policies and procedures.

The Group is subject to the aggregate leverage limit as defined in the Property Funds Appendix of the CIS 
Code. The CIS Code stipulates that the total borrowings and deferred payments (together the “Aggregate 
Leverage”) of a property fund should not exceed 35.0% of the fund’s deposited property. The Aggregate 
Leverage of a property fund may exceed 35.0% of its deposited property (up to a maximum of 60.0%) 
only if a credit rating of the property fund from Fitch Inc., Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s is obtained and 
disclosed to the public. The property fund should continue to maintain and disclose a credit rating so long 
as its Aggregate Leverage exceeds 35.0% of its deposited property.  As at 31 March 2014, the Aggregate 
Leverage of the Group was 31.7% (2013: 34.0%).

The Group’s corporate rating with Standard and Poor’s as at the date of this report is investment grade 
BBB- and had complied with the Aggregate Leverage limit during the financial year.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.
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27  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Overview of risk management 

Exposure to credit, interest rate, liquidity and foreign currency risks arises in the normal course of the 
Group’s business. The Group has a system of controls in place to create an acceptable balance between 
the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The Manager continually monitors the 
Group’s risk management process to ensure an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved. 
Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and 
the Group’s activities.

Management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews 
the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from the failure of a lessee to settle its financial and 
contractual obligations to the Group, as and when they fall due.

Credit evaluations are performed by the Manager before lease agreements are entered into with the 
lessees. Rental deposits as a multiple of monthly rent are received either in cash or bank guarantees to 
reduce credit risk. The Manager also monitors the amount owing by the lessees on an ongoing basis.  

Cash is placed with financial institutions which are regulated by Monetary Authority of Singapore.  
Transactions involving derivative financial instruments are allowed only with counterparties who have 
sound credit ratings.

At 31 March 2014, $2,235,000 of trade receivables related to two tenants (2013: $2,814,000 of trade 
receivables related to three tenants). Except for this, concentration of credit risk relating to trade 
receivables is limited due to the Group’s many tenants and credit policy of obtaining security deposits 
from tenants for leasing the Group’s investment properties.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value of each financial asset in 
the balance sheet. 

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.  The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Manager monitors and maintains a level of cash at banks and in hand deemed adequate by 
management to finance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effect of fluctuations in cash flows.  
Typically, the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational 
expenses for a reasonable period, including the servicing of financial obligations.

The Group also monitors and observes the Property Funds Appendix issued by the MAS concerning 
limits on total borrowings.
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27  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Overview of risk management (continued)

(c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters while optimising the return.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Manager adopts a proactive interest rate management policy to manage the risk associated 
with adverse movement in interest rates on the loan facilities while also seeking to ensure that the 
Group’s cost of debt remains competitive. The policy aims to protect the Group’s earnings from 
the volatility in interest rates and provide stability to Unitholders’ returns.

As at 31 March 2014, the Group had interest rate swap contracts with total notional amounts 
of $126.8 million and AUD55.3 million (2013: $201.8 million) whereby the Group had agreed 
with counterparties to exchange at specified intervals, the difference between the floating rates 
pegged to the SOR or BBSY and fixed rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the 
agreed notional amounts. The swaps are used to manage the exposure to fluctuation in the 
variable interest rates of its floating rate interest-bearing borrowings.

Exposure to interest rate risk

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s and Trust’s interest-bearing financial 
instruments was as follows:

       Group Trust
       Nominal amount Nominal amount
        2014 2013 2014 2013
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

   
Fixed rate instruments     
Loan to a subsidiary   – – 31,844 –
Financial liabilities   (130,000) (130,000) (130,000) (130,000)
Interest rate swaps   (191,186) (201,800) (126,800) (201,800)
    (321,186) (331,800) (224,956) (331,800)
     
Variable rate instruments     
Financial liabilities   (315,732) (229,257) (186,961) (229,257)
Interest rate swaps   191,186 201,800 126,800 201,800
    (124,546) (27,457) (60,161) (27,457)

Sensitivity analysis

For the variable rate financial liabilities and the derivative financial instruments, a change of  
100 basis points (“bps”) in interest rate at the reporting date would increase or decrease the 
statement of total return of the Group and the Trust by $1,245,000 (2013: $275,000) and $602,000 
(2013: $275,000) respectively. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
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27  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Overview of risk management (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Foreign currency risk

Risk management policy

The Group has exposure to foreign currency risks arising from its interest in a joint venture in 
Australia. Transactions in relation to this investment are mainly denominated in the Australian 
dollar (AUD). 

The Manager’s strategy is to achieve a natural hedge, wherever possible through the use of 
AUD denominated borrowing to match its interest in the joint venture to mitigate the currency 
risk. As at 31 March 2014, the Group’s investment in its Australian joint venture is substantially 
hedged as approximately 95% of the interest in joint venture was funded with AUD denominated 
borrowings.

Exposure to currency risk 

The Group’s and Trust’s exposure to foreign currencies in relation to financial assets and liabilities 
as at 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013 were as follows:

        Group and Trust
          Australian Australian
          Dollar Dollar
          2014 2013
          $’000 $’000

   
Loan to a subsidiary     31,844 –
Cash at banks and in hand     698 –
Trade and other receivables     539 –
Trade and other payables     (514) –
Interest-bearing borrowings     (75,800) –
Net exposure     (43,233) –

Sensitivity analysis

A strengthening (weakening) of the Australian dollar, as indicated below, against the Singapore 
dollar at 31 March 2014 would have (decreased) increased unitholders’ funds and statement of 
total return by the amounts shown below for the Group’s and Trust’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities (excluding net assets of the foreign subsidiaries). This analysis is based on foreign 
currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be reasonably possible at the 
end of the reporting period. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest 
rates, remain constant. The analysis was not performed for 2013 as the Group’s investment in 
Australia commenced during the current financial year.

          
         Statement Unitholders’
         of total return  funds
          $’000 $’000

Group   
2014   
Australian Dollar (5% strengthening)    36 (3,790)
Australian Dollar (5% weakening)    (36) 3,790

Trust   
2014   
Australian Dollar (5% strengthening)    (2,162) –
Australian Dollar (5% weakening)    2,162 –
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27  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Classification and fair value of financial instruments 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance 
sheet, are as follows:

        Trading Other Total
       Loans and assets/ financial carrying Fair
       receivables (liabilities) liabilities amount value
      Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group      
      
2014
Loans and receivables 8 5,091 – – 5,091 5,091
Derivative financial instruments 9 – 177 – 177 177
Cash at banks and in hand  21,809 – – 21,809 21,809
     26,900 177 – 27,077 27,077
      
Derivative financial instruments 9 – (1,326) – (1,326) (1,326)
Trade and other payables 11 – – (44,686) (44,686) (44,415)
Rental deposits (non-current)  – – (5,221) (5,221) (4,847)
Interest-bearing borrowings 12 – – (442,120) (442,120) (445,896)
     – (1,326) (492,027) (493,353) (496,484)

2013
Loans and receivables 8 3,790 – – 3,790 3,790
Cash at banks and in hand  2,975 – – 2,975 2,975
     6,765 – – 6,765 6,765
      
Derivative financial instruments 9 – (3,636) – (3,636) (3,636)
Trade and other payables 11 – – (23,140) (23,140) (23,024)
Rental deposits (non-current)  – – (7,276) (7,276) (6,803)
Interest-bearing borrowings 12 – – (356,860) (356,860) (362,174)
     – (3,636) (387,276) (390,912) (395,637)

Trust      
      
2014
Loans and receivables 8 4,506 – – 4,506 4,506
Derivative financial instruments 9 – 177 – 177 177
Cash at banks and in hand  21,414 – – 21,414 21,414
     25,920 177 – 26,097 26,097
      
Derivative financial instruments 9 – (786) – (786) (786)
Trade and other payables 11 – – (43,166) (43,166) (42,895)
Rental deposits (non-current)  – – (5,221) (5,221) (4,847)
Interest-bearing borrowings 12 – – (314,336) (314,336) (318,112)
     – (786) (362,723) (363,509) (366,640)
      
2013
Loans and receivables 8 3,790 – – 3,790 3,790
Cash at banks and in hand  2,974 – – 2,974 2,974
     6,764 – – 6,764 6,764
      
Derivative financial instruments 9 – (3,636) – (3,636) (3,636)
Trade and other payables 11 – – (23,133) (23,133) (23,017)
Rental deposits (non-current)  – – (7,276) (7,276) (6,803)
Interest-bearing borrowings 12 – – (356,860) (356,860) (362,174)
     – (3,636) (387,269) (390,905) (395,630)
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27  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Estimation of fair value

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value,  
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement 
and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about 
the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

(i) Investment properties and investment properties under development 

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on valuations performed by independent 
professional valuers. The fair values take into consideration the market values of the properties, being 
the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between 
a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the 
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The specific risks inherent 
in each of the properties are taken into consideration in arriving at the property valuation. 

The fair value of the completed investment property is determined using the capitalisation of income 
approach, discounted cash flow approach and direct comparison approach (2013: capitalisation of 
income approach, discounted cash flow approach and direct comparison approach).

The capitalisation approach is an investment approach whereby the estimated gross passing income 
(on both a passing and market rent basis) has been adjusted to reflect anticipated operating costs 
to produce a net income on a fully leased basis. The adopted fully leased net income is capitalised 
over the remaining term of the lease from the valuation date at an appropriate investment yield.  
The discounted cash flow method involves the estimation and projection of a net income stream over 
a period and discounting the net income stream with an internal rate of return to arrive at the market 
value. The discounted cash flow method requires the valuer to assume a rental growth rate indicative of 
market and the selection of a target internal rate of return consistent with current market requirements.  
The direct comparison approach is a comparative analysis which considers the relativity of various 
aspects of the property including (not necessary limited to) location, tenure, size, configuration, quality 
of improvements and the date of transaction and the circumstances surrounding the sale. Transactions 
of comparable properties have been considered and capital value rates analysed. Thereafter, 
appropriate adjustments have been included and a capital value rate adopted for the property.

In determining the fair value of investment property under development, the valuers have adopted the 
residual land method whereby the total gross development costs and developer’s profit are deducted 
from the gross development value to arrive at the residual value of land. The gross development value 
is the estimated value of the property assuming satisfactory completion of the development as at the 
date of valuation.

The key assumptions include the estimation of net income based on rental assumptions which are 
considered in line with prevailing market conditions and general market practice within Singapore, a 
market-corroborated capitalisation rate and estimated development costs to be incurred.

(ii) Other non-derivative financial assets and liabilities

Other non-derivative financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at initial recognition 
and for disclosure purposes, at each annual reporting date. Fair value is calculated based on the 
present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at 
the measurement date.

The carrying amounts of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one 
year (including trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables and 
current rental and security deposits) are assumed to approximate their fair values because of the short 
period to maturity. The carrying amount of borrowings which reprice within three months are assumed 
to approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity or repricing. The fair values of 
the Notes are based on banks’ quotes. 
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27  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(iii)  Derivatives

The fair values of interest rate swaps (Level 2 fair values) are based on banks’ quotes.  These quotes 
are tested for reasonableness by discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms and 
maturity of each contract and using market interest rates for a similar instrument at the measurement 
date.  

Interest rates used in determining fair values

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, is computed from the market 
rates as follows:

        Group and Trust
          2014 2013
          % %

   
SGD financial liabilities     2.97 2.75

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financial and non-financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation method.  
The different levels have been defined as follows:

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
  
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and
  
• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data  

(unobservable inputs).

        Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group     
    
2014
Financial instruments    
Derivative financial assets   – 177 – 177
Derivative financial liabilities   – (1,326) – (1,326)
      – (1,149) – (1,149)
    
Non-financial instruments    
Investment properties   – – 1,085,500 1,085,500
Investment properties under development  – – 72,000 72,000
      – – 1,157,500 1,157,500

2013
   
Financial instruments    
Derivative financial liabilities   – (3,636) – (3,636)
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27  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

        Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
        $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trust     
    
2014
Financial instruments    
Derivative financial assets   – 177 – 177
Derivative financial liabilities   – (786) – (786)
      – (609) – (609)
    
Non-financial instruments    
Investment properties   – – 1,085,500 1,085,500
Investment properties under development  – – 72,000 72,000
      – – 1,157,500 1,157,500
    
2013
Financial instruments    
Derivative financial liabilities   – (3,636) – (3,636)

Financial liabilities not carried at fair value but for which fair values are disclosed

Non-current trade and other payables, rental deposits and fixed rates interest-bearing borrowings which 
are Level 2 financial instruments have fair values of $5.3 million, $4.8 million and $132.9 million respectively.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels as of the end of the reporting period during 
which the transfer has occurred.  There had been no transfers between the levels during the year.
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27  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Level 3 fair values

The reconciliations from the beginning balances to the ending balances for Level 3 fair value measurements 
of investment properties and investment properties under development respectively are disclosed in notes 
4 and 5.

The following table shows the key unobservable inputs used in the valuation models:

       Inter-relationship 
       between key 
       unobservable inputs  
     Key and fair value
Type    Valuation method unobservable inputs measurement

Completed   Discounted cash • Discount rate of The estimated fair value
investment properties  flows   8.00% to 8.25% increases with decreases
     • Terminal in the discount rate and
       capitalisation rate terminal capitalisation rate.
      of 6.50% to 7.25%
   
    Capitalisation • Capitalisation rate The estimated fair value
    approach  of 6.25% to 7.00% increases with a lower
       capitalisation rate.

    Direct comparison  • Average value of  The estimated fair value
    approach  $1,139 – $2,402 per increases with increases
      square metre in average value of a
       similar class of assets.
   
Investment properties  Discounted cash • Discount rate of The estimated fair value
under development flows  8.00% to 8.25%  increases with decreases
     • Terminal  in the discount rate and
      capitalisation rate  terminal capitalisation rate.
      of  6.75% to 7.30% 

    Capitalisation  • Capitalisation rate The estimated fair value
    approach  of 6.50% to 7.05% increases with a lower
       capitalisation rate.
   
    Direct comparison  • Average value of The estimated fair value
    approach   $1,936* per square increases with increases
      metre in average value of a
       similar class of assets.

*  Direct comparison method is only applicable for 20 Gul Way Phase 2E and Phase Three based on an as-if-completed basis.
 
Valuation processes applied by the Group 

The fair value of investment properties and investment properties under development is determined by 
external, independent property valuers, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and 
recent experience in the location and category of property being valued.  
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27  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Key unobservable inputs

Key unobservable inputs correspond to:

• Discount rate, based on the risk-free rate for 10 year bonds issued by the government in the relevant 
market, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect the increased risk of investing in the asset class. 

• Capitalisation rate correspond to a rate of return on investment properties based on the expected 
income that the property will generate.

• Values derived from similar class of assets from the same open markets and prices or valuations of 
comparable properties. 

28  SEGMENT REPORTING

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s geographical segments.The operations of each 
of the Group’s geographical segments are separately managed because of different economic and regulatory 
environments in which they operate in. For the purpose of making resource allocation and the assessment 
of segment performance, the Group’s CODMs have focused on its investment properties. For each of the 
reporting segments, the management reviews internal management reports on a monthly basis. This forms 
the basis of identifying the operating segments of the Group under FRS 108 Operating Segments.

Information about reportable segments

         Singapore  Australia  Total
         $’000 $’000 $’000

2014
Gross revenue     108,240 – 108,240
Property operating expenses    (36,345) – (36,345)
Net property income    71,895 – 71,895
Share of joint venture’s results    – (476) (476)
       71,895 (476) 71,419
Unallocated items:   
Foreign exchange gain      2
Interest income       81
Borrowing costs      (13,810)
Manager’s management fees      (5,803)
Other trust expenses      (1,941)
Net income       49,948
   
Non-current assets1    1,160,891 215,186 1,376,077
Other segment items:   

Joint venture     – 215,186 215,186
Depreciation     (45) – (45)
Capital expenditure2    (81,114) – (81,114)

   
1 Excluding financial instruments.
2 Capital expenditure consists of additions of plant and equipment, investment properties and investment properties under development.
 
For 31 March 2013, no geographical segment information has been prepared as all the investment properties 
of the Group were located in Singapore. 

No business segment information has been prepared as all its investment properties are used mainly for 
industrial (including warehousing and office park) purposes. The Group’s CODMs are of the view that the 
Group has only one reportable segment, which is the leasing of investment properties. 
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28  SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Major tenants

Rental income from one major tenant of the Group’s reportable segment represents approximately 
$14,355,000 (2013: $8,633,000 rental income from two major tenants) of the Group’s property rental income.

29  FINANCIAL RATIOS

        Group
          2014 2013
          % %

Expenses to weighted average net assets1   
- Expense ratio excluding performance-related fee    0.97 0.95
- Expense ratio including performance-related fee    0.97 1.12
   
Portfolio turnover rate2     – –

1 The annualised ratios are computed in accordance with the guidelines of Investment Management Association of Singapore. The expenses 
used in the computation relate to expenses of the Group, excluding property related expenses, borrowing costs, changes in fair value of 
financial derivatives and investment properties and foreign exchange gain/(losses).

2 The annualised ratio is computed based on the lesser of purchases or sales of underlying investment properties of the Group expressed as a 
percentage of weighted average net asset value.

30  SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 7 May 2014, the Manager announced a distribution of 2.51 cents per Unit, amounting to $15,591,000, in 
respect of the period from 1 January 2014 to 31 March 2014.
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Statistics of Unitholders

Statistics of Unitholders as at 10 June 2014

Issued and fully paid Units

621,156,783 Units (voting rights: 1 vote per Unit) 

There is only one class of Units in AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT.

Distribution of Unitholdings

       Number of  Number
Size of Unitholdings   Unitholders %   of Units  % 

1 - 999     1,208 18.52 342,764 0.06
1,000 - 10,000    3,463 53.11 15,335,222 2.47
10,001 - 1,000,000   1,827 28.02 79,350,636 12.77
1,000,001 and above   23 0.35 526,128,161 84.70
Total      6,521 100.00 621,156,783 100.00

Top 20 Unitholders
As listed in the Register of Unitholders 

         Number
  Name      of Units %
      
1  HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd    145,399,123 23.41
2  DBS Nominees (Private) Limited    89,073,879 14.34
3  DBSN Services Pte. Ltd.     87,314,606 14.06
4  Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd      57,653,922 9.28
5  AIMS Financial Holding Limited    41,133,509 6.62
6  BNP Paribas Securities Services Singapore Branch   32,725,907 5.27
7  Raffles Nominees (Pte) Limited        30,958,558 4.98
8  United Overseas Bank Nominees (Private) Limited   5,519,707 0.89
9  Ng Chung Ming                                4,640,000 0.75
10  DB Nominees (Singapore) Pte Ltd           4,128,986 0.66
11  Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd.      3,244,495 0.52
12  DBS Vickers Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd     3,033,521 0.49
13  BNP Paribas Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd       2,736,626 0.44
14  Bank of Singapore Nominees Pte. Ltd.      2,709,959 0.44
15  Phillip Securities Pte Ltd        2,318,677 0.37
16  CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.        2,298,500 0.37
17  UOB Kay Hian Private Limited              2,276,829 0.37
18  OCBC Securities Private Limited    1,898,015 0.31
19  ABN AMRO Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd   1,852,298 0.30
20  OCBC Nominees Singapore Private Limited   1,724,919 0.28
  Total       522,642,036 84.15
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Statistics of Unitholders

Substantial Unitholders as at 10 June 2014
As listed in the Register of Substantial Unitholders maintained by the Manager

       Number of Units
       Direct Deemed Total % of total
Name     interest interest interest issued Units

Dragon Pacific Assets Limited  71,665,601 - 71,665,601 11.54
AMP Limited1    - 57,260,019 57,260,019 9.22
AMP Group Holdings Limited1  - 57,260,019 57,260,019 9.22
AMP Holdings Limited1  - 57,260,019 57,260,019 9.22
AMP Capital Holdings Limited1  - 57,260,019 57,260,019 9.22
APG Algemene Pensioen Groep N.V.  55,613,842 - 55,613,842 8.95
Mr George Wang2   - 44,621,780 44,621,780 7.18
AIMS Capital Holdings Pty Ltd2  - 44,621,780 44,621,780 7.18
AIMS Group Holding Pty Ltd2  - 44,621,780 44,621,780 7.18
AIMS Capital Management Limited3  - 41,133,509 41,133,509 6.62
AIMS Financial Holding Limited  41,133,509 - 41,133,509 6.62
J.P. Morgan Chase & Co.4  - 42,475,171 42,475,171 6.84
JF Asset Management Limited  41,085,783 - 41,085,783 6.61
Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited  31,448,604 - 31,448,604 5.06
Mr Chan Wai Kheong5  8,133,000 22,930,197 31,063,197 5.00

Notes:
1 Deemed to have an interest in Units held by AMP Capital Investors (Luxembourg No. 4) S.A.R.L (which is held through  BNP Paribas Securities 

Services, Singapore Branch) and Units held by a fund managed by AMP Capital Investors  Limited.
2 Deemed to have an interest in Units held by AIMS Financial Holding Limited and Units held by a fund managed by AIMS Fund Management Limited.
3 Deemed to have an interest in Units held by AIMS Financial Holding Limited.
4  Deemed to have an interest in Units held by JF Asset Management Limited and other J.P. Morgan affiliates.
5 Deemed to have an interest in Units held by Splendid Asia Macro Fund. 

Unitholdings of Directors of the Manager as at 21 April 2014
As listed in the Register of Directors’ Unitholdings maintained by the Manager.

       Number of Units
       Direct Deemed Total % of total
Directors     interest interest interest issued Units

Mr George Wang1   -         44,621,780          44,621,780 7.18
Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung            158,625  - 158,625 0.03
Ms Moni XinYe An2   - 82,250 82,250 0.01
Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath              47,175  - 47,175 0.01

Notes:    
1 Deemed to have an interest in Units held by AIMS Financial Holding Limited and Units held by a fund managed by AIMS Fund Management Limited.
2 Deemed to have an interest in Units held by Aretean Pty Ltd. 

Free float

Under Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, a listed issuer must ensure that at least 10.0 per cent of 
its listed securities are at all times held by the public. Based on the information made available to the Manager 
as at 10 June 2014, approximately 83.6 per cent of the Units in AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT were held in 
the hands of the public.  Accordingly, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST had been complied with. 
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Additional Information

Interested Party Transactions

The transactions entered into with related parties during the financial year which fall under the Listing Manual of 
the SGX-ST and the Property Funds Appendix under the Code of Collective Investment Schemes are:

      Aggregate value of all 
      Interested Party Transactions 
      during the financial year 
      under review
      (excluding transactions 
      less than S$100,000)
Name of entity   $’000
  
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited
Manager’s management fees 
- Base fees                                   5,803 
- Acquisition fees  2,094
  
AIMS AMP Capital Property Management Pte. Ltd. 
- Property management fees                                  1,637 
- Lease management fees                                  819
- Marketing services commissions 2,950
- Project management fees 2,881
  
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited 
-   Trustee fees                                    223 
  
  

Please also refer to note 26 “Significant Related Party Transactions” in the Financial Statements.

Except as disclosed above,

(a)  There are no other material contracts entered into by AACI REIT and/or its subsidiaries involving the 
interests of the Chief Executive Officer, any director or controlling Unitholder, either still subsisting at the 
end of the year or entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

(b)  There were no additional interested party transactions (excluding transactions of less than $100,000 each) 
entered into up to and including 31 March 2014.
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Corporate Directory

AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT

Registered Address 
HSBC Institutional Trust Services  
(Singapore) Limited 
21 Collyer Quay 
#10-02 HSBC Building 
Singapore 049320 
  
Trustee 
HSBC Institutional Trust Services  
(Singapore) Limited 
21 Collyer Quay 
#03-01 HSBC Building 
Singapore 049320 
Telephone:  (65) 6658 6906 
Fax:   (65) 6534 5526 

Auditor
KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered  
Accountants, Singapore
16 Raffles Quay
#22-00 Hong Leong Building
Singapore 048581
Telephone:  (65) 6213 3388
Fax:   (65) 6225 0984

Partner in charge: Adrian Tan
(With effect from financial year commencing  
1 April 2012)

Unit Registrar 
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory  
Services Pte. Ltd.
50 Raffles Place 
#32-01 Singapore Land Tower 
Singapore 048623
Telephone:  (65) 6536 5355
Fax:   (65) 6536 1360

The Manager

Registered address
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT  
Management Limited
Company Registration No. 200615904N
One George Street
#23-03
Singapore 049145
Telephone:  (65) 6309 1050
Fax:   (65) 6534 3942
Website:  www.aimsampcapital.com 
Email:  investorrelations@aimsampcapital.com

Directors of the Manager
Mr George Wang (Chairman) 
Mr Tan Kai Seng
Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung 
Mr Eugene Paul Lai Chin Look
Mr Simon Laurence Vinson 
Mr Nicholas Paul McGrath 
Ms Moni XinYe An
Mr Koh Wee Lih

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
Mr Tan Kai Seng (Chairman)
Mr Norman Ip Ka Cheung 
Mr Simon Laurence Vinson

Company Secretary
Ms Yap Siew Buay Regina
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 5th Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the holders of Units of  
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (“AACI REIT”, and the holders of Units of AACI REIT, “Unitholders”) will be 
held at the Amara Singapore, Level 3, Ballroom 2, 165 Tanjong Pagar Road, Singapore 088539 on Wednesday, 
30 July 2014 at 2.00 p.m. to transact the following business:

Ordinary Business

1.  To receive and adopt the Report of HSBC Institutional Trust Services 
(Singapore) Limited, as trustee of AACI REIT (the “Trustee”), the Statement 
by AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited, as manager 
of AACI REIT (the “Manager”), the Audited Financial Statements of 
AACI REIT for the financial year ended 31 March 2014 and the Auditors’ 
Report thereon.

2.  To re-appoint KPMG LLP as Auditors of AACI REIT and to hold office 
until the conclusion of the next AGM and to authorise the Manager to 
determine their remuneration. 

Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolution, with 
or without any modifications:

3.   That authority be and is hereby given to the Manager, to 

  (a) (i) issue units in AACI REIT (“Units”) whether by way of rights,  
    bonus or  otherwise; and/or 

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, 
“Instruments”) that might or would require Units to be issued, 
including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well 
as adjustments to) securities, warrants, debentures or other 
instruments convertible into Units, 

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such 
purposes and to such persons as the Manager may in its absolute 
discretion deem fit; and

(b)  issue Units in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the 
Manager while this Resolution was in force (notwithstanding that 
the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be 
in force at the time such Units are issued),  

  provided that: 

(1)  the aggregate number of Units to be issued pursuant to this 
Resolution (including Units to be issued in pursuance of 
Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) shall not 
exceed fifty per cent. (50%) of the total number of issued Units 
(excluding treasury Units, if any) (as calculated in accordance with 
sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of Units 
to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to Unitholders (including 
Units to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted 
pursuant to this Resolution) shall not exceed twenty per cent. 
(20%) of the total number of issued Units (excluding treasury Units, 
if any) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);  

(Ordinary Resolution 1)

(Ordinary Resolution 2)

(Ordinary Resolution 3)
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

(2) subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) 
for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Units that 
may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the total number of 
issued Units (excluding treasury Units, if any) shall be based on the 
number of issued Units (excluding treasury Units, if any) at the time 
this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(a) any new Units arising from the conversion or exercise of any 
Instruments which are outstanding at the time this Resolution 
is passed; and

(b) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision  
of Units;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the 
Manager shall comply with the provisions of the Listing Manual of 
the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has 
been waived by the SGX-ST) and the trust deed constituting AACI 
REIT (as amended) (the “Trust Deed”) for the time being in force 
(unless otherwise exempted or waived by the Monetary Authority 
of Singapore); 

(4)  unless revoked or varied by the Unitholders in a general meeting, 
the authority conferred by this Resolution shall continue in force 
until (i) the conclusion of the next AGM of AACI REIT or (ii) the 
date by which the next AGM of AACI REIT is required to be held, 
whichever is earlier;

(5) where the terms of the issue of the Instruments provide for 
adjustment to the number of Instruments or Units into which the 
Instruments may be converted, in the event of rights, bonus or 
other capitalisation issues or any other events, the Manager may 
issue additional Instruments or Units notwithstanding that the 
authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in 
force at the time the Instruments or Units are issued; and

(6) the Manager and the Trustee, be and are hereby severally authorised 
to complete and do all such acts and things (including executing 
all such documents as may be required) as the Manager or, as the 
case may be, the Trustee may consider expedient or necessary or 
in the interest of AACI REIT to give effect to the authority conferred 
by this Resolution.

    (Please see Explanatory Note)

 

By Order of the Board
AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited 
(Company Registration No. 200615904N, Capital Markets Services license no.: CMS100137-2)
As Manager of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT

Koh Wee Lih
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
9 July 2014
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notes:

1. A Unitholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need 
not be a Unitholder. 

2. Where a Unitholder appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her holding 
(expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy. 

3. The proxy form must be lodged at the Manager’s appointed Unit Registrar’s office at Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at  
50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623 not later than 28 July 2014 at 2.00 p.m. being 48 hours before the time fixed 
for the AGM. 

Explanatory Note:

Resolution 3

Ordinary Resolution 3 above, if passed, will empower the Manager from the date of this AGM until (i) the 
conclusion of the next AGM of AACI REIT or (ii) the date by which the next AGM of AACI REIT is required to be 
held, or (iii) the date on which such authority is revoked or varied by Unitholders in a general meeting, whichever 
is earlier, to issue Units and to make or grant instruments (such as securities, warrants or debentures) convertible 
into Units and issue Units pursuant to such instruments, up to a number not exceeding 50 per cent of the total 
number of issued Units (excluding treasury Units, if any), of which up to 20 per cent of the total number of issued 
Units (excluding treasury Units, if any) may be issued other than on a pro rata basis to Unitholders.

For determining the aggregate number of Units that may be issued, the percentage of issued Units will be 
calculated based on the issued Units at the time Ordinary Resolution 3 above is passed, after adjusting for 
new Units arising from the conversion or exercise of any Instruments which are outstanding at the time this 
Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Units.

Fund raising by issuance of new Units may be required in instances of property acquisitions or debt repayments. 
In any event, if the approval of Unitholders is required under the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and the Trust 
Deed or any applicable laws and regulations in such instances, the Manager will then obtain the approval of 
Unitholders accordingly.

Important Notice

The value of Units and the income derived from them may fall as well as rise. Units are not obligations of, 
deposits in, or guaranteed by, the Manager, or any of its affiliates. An investment in Units is subject to investment 
risks, including the possible loss of the principal amount invested.

Investors have no right to request the Manager to redeem their Units while the Units are listed. It is intended that 
Unitholders of AACI REIT may only deal in their Units through trading on the SGX-ST. Listing of the Units on the 
SGX-ST does not guarantee a liquid market for the Units.

The past performance of AACI REIT is not necessarily indicative of the future performance of AACI REIT. 
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AIMS AMP CAPITAL INDUSTRIAL REIT
(a unit trust constituted in the Republic of Singapore 
pursuant to a trust deed dated 5 December 2006 
(as amended))

Proxy Form
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

IMPORTANT
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Units in AIMS 

AMP Capital Industrial REIT, this Annual Report is forwarded to them 
at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent FOR 
INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be 
ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or is purported to be 
used by them.

3. CPF Investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as 
observers have to submit their requests through their CPF Approved 
Nominees within the time frame specified. If they also wish to vote, 
they must submit their voting instructions to the CPF Approved 
Nominees within the time frame specified to enable them to vote on 
their behalf.

I/We________________________________________________________________(Name(s) and NRIC/Passport Number(s))

of ____________________________________________________________________________________________ (Address)

being a Unitholder/Unitholders of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT (“AACI REIT”), hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC/Passport Number
Proportion of Unitholdings

Number of Units %

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport Number
Proportion of Unitholdings

Number of Units %

or, both of whom failing, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to 
vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of AACI REIT to be held at the Amara Singapore,  
Level 3, Ballroom 2, 165 Tanjong Pagar Road, Singapore 088539 on Wednesday, 30 July 2014 at 2.00 p.m. and at 
any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolutions to be proposed at 
the Annual General Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will  
vote or abstain from voting at his/her/their discretion, as he/she/they may on any other matter arising at the  
Annual General Meeting.

No. Ordinary Resolutions Number of  
Votes For *

Number of  
Votes Against *

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1 To receive and adopt the Trustee’s Report, the Manager’s Statement, 
the Audited Financial Statements of AACI REIT for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2014 and the Auditors’ Report thereon.

2 To re-appoint KPMG LLP as Auditors and authorise the Manager to 
determine the Auditors’ remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

3 To authorise the Manager to issue Units and to make or grant 
convertible instruments.

* If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please tick (✓) within the box provided. Alternatively, please 
indicate the number of votes as appropriate.

Dated this _____________ day of __________________________ 2014

Signature(s) of Unitholder(s)/Common Seal of Corporate Unitholder

Total number of Units held

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ THE NOTES TO PROXY FORM ON THE REVERSE PAGE.



IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ THE NOTES TO PROXY FORM BELOW

Notes to Proxy Form

1.  A unitholder of AACI REIT (“Unitholder”) entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to 
appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead.  

2.  Where a Unitholder appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the 
proportion of his/her holding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

3.  A proxy need not be a Unitholder.

4.  A Unitholder should insert the total number of Units held. If the Unitholder has Units entered against his/her name 
in the Depository Register maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”), he/she should insert that 
number of Units. If the Unitholder has Units registered in his/her name in the Register of Unitholders of AACI 
REIT, he/she should insert that number of Units. If the Unitholder has Units entered against his/her name in the 
said Depository Register and registered in his/her name in the Register of Unitholders, he/she should insert the 
aggregate number of Units. If no number is inserted, this proxy form will be deemed to relate to all the Units held 
by the Unitholder.

5.  The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies (the “Proxy Form”) must be deposited at the Manager’s 
appointed Unit Registrar’s office at Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 50 Raffles Place,  
#32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623, not less than 48 hours before the time set for the  
Annual General Meeting.

6.   The Proxy Form must be executed under the hand of the appointor or of his/her attorney duly authorised in 
writing. Where the Proxy Form is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or 
under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

7.   Where the Proxy Form is signed on behalf of the appointor or of his/her attorney authorised in writing or a duly 
authorised officer, the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a notarially certified 
copy of such power or authority must (failing previous registration with the Manager) be lodged with the Proxy 
Form, failing which the Proxy Form may be treated as invalid.

8.   The Manager shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or 
where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified 
on the Proxy Form. In addition, in the case of Units entered in the Depository Register, the Manager may reject a 
Proxy Form if the Unitholder, being the appointor, is not shown to have Units entered against his/her name in the 
Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified 
by CDP to the Manager.

9.   All Unitholders will be bound by the outcome of the Annual General Meeting regardless of whether they have 
attended or voted at the Annual General Meeting.

10.  At any meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a poll. 

11.  On a poll, every Unitholder who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every Unit of which  
he/she is the Unitholder. A person entitled to more than one vote need not use all his/her votes or cast them the 
same way.





AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited
(As Manager of AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT)
Company Registration No. 200615904N

One George Street
#23-03
Singapore 049145
Telephone:  (65) 6309 1050
Fax:   (65) 6534 3942
Website:  www.aimsampcapital.com
Email:  investorrelations@aimsampcapital.com


